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Design Concept i&iHEES

This cover design is themed with “Circulation of Clean Water”. It vividly outlines
the process of Everbright Water’s water environment management solutions, in
which a green leaf in the shape of a water droplet is condensing at the end of
the waterway after going through multiple rounds of treatment. This illustrates
Everbright Water's commitment to creating a greener future by focusing on the
water environment management sector.
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CORPORATE PROFILE

LEENT

China Everbright Water Limited (“Everbright Water” or the
“Company”’, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is an
environmental protection company focusing on water environment
management. The Company is listed on the Mainboard of
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX” or the
“SGX-ST") (stock code: U9QE) with its direct controlling shareholder
being China Everbright International Limited (stock code: 00257.
HK, “Everbright International”).

The Company is principally engaged in water environment
management, sponge city construction, river-basin ecological
restoration, water supply, waste water treatment, reusable water,
waste water source heat pump, sludge treatment and disposal,
research and development of water technologies, and engineering
and construction, etc. The Company’s geographical footprint
spans across East, Central, South, North, Northeast and Northwest
China, including Beijing, Jiangsu, Shandong, Shaanxi, Henan,
Hubei, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, Liaoning and Inner
Mongolia Autonomous Region. As at 31 December 2018, the
Company invested in and operated water treatment projects with
a designed daily water treatment capacity exceeding 5 million m®.

With the experienced management team, the Company will seize
opportunities and strive to emerge as a leader in China’s water
environment management sector.
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A CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
NN\

ESE LN

MR. WANG TIANYI
ERNFE

Non-Executive Director and Chairman

FTESHRESK

Dear Valued Shareholders,

2018 represented an eventful yet challenging year. The global
market experienced an increasingly critical macro environment
and volatility, whilst the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) faced
with increasing downward pressure on its domestic economy
and a complicated external environment. Nonetheless, 2018
was a fruitful year for the significant development and reform
of the ecological and environmental protection industry, which
is a prone counter-cyclical industry. The concept of ecological
conservation, which had been included into the Constitution of
the PRC, became a national objective; the Ministry of Ecology
and Environment of the PRC was established to unify various
responsibilities in relation to ecological and environmental
protection; the National Conference on Environmental Protection
was held and it rolled out a comprehensive plan for the battle
against pollution and a series of fundamental and long-
term initiatives. Undeniably, these will accelerate the rapid
development of the ecological and environmental protection
industry. Thus, the industry is well positioned at a growth stage
and marching into a maturity stage.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT N

BEREE T

FOR THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW, THE GROUP RODE THROUGH
THE CHALLENGES AND WEATHERED THE HEADWINDS FIRMLY,
PROGRESSED STEADILY AND DELIVERED GOOD BUSINESS RESULTS.

EFEER, AEFRIUEECEE

‘o

On the other hand, with the tightening of industry regulations, the
environmental protection industry ushered in an era of stringent
standards and strong supervisions. Against the backdrop of
the PRC’s deleveraging strategy and elimination of unqualified
public-private partnership (“PPP”) projects, many small and weak
enterprises struggled with poor operating conditions and pressure
from the discharge regulations. The environmental protection
enterprises embarked on a development journey where “good
money drives out bad”.

XA, TEAREI T, BEEAREEE,

Amid the opportunities and challenges presented in the
industry environment, the Group’s development has gradually
undergone a transformation from waste water treatment into
a wider range of water business. During the year under review,
the Group pursued its corporate mission of being “Devoted to
Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful China” and continued
its stability with good progress, change and improvement. The
Group steadily promoted the healthy development of its water
environment management business, adhered to the “Technology
Leads Development” ethos and proactively expanded its core
technology industrial chain. Concurrently, the Group strengthened
its proficiency and efficiency in operations management and
enhanced its brand image.

In terms of investment and financing, the Company, during
the year under review, issued the second tranche of its RMB-
denominated corporate bonds (“Panda Bonds”) with an
aggregate principal amount of RMB800 million. The bond
issue helped the Group further optimise its financing structure
and make good use of financial leverage. In August 2018, the
Company submitted an application for the proposed dual primary
listing on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“HKExX”), with an aim of attracting different investors,
expanding shareholder base and promoting its long-term
development.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
SR

As an active participant in and contributor to the ecological and
environmental management, the Group, during the year under
review, proactively engaged in various social responsibility
activities to develop strong mutual trust and interactive relations
with its stakeholders and to work together with them towards
the continuous improvement of the ecological environment. The
Group also participated in the initiative launched by its direct
controlling shareholder Everbright International to open up its
environmental protection facilities for public visits. Furthermore,
the Group planned to open up more operating water projects to
the public in the next three years, with an aim of improving its
project operation transparency and enhancing the understanding
and support of the public on environmental protection facilities. In
2018, the Group’s project companies received a total of more than
20,000 local or overseas visitors from all walks of life. This had
further reinforced the Group’s brand value and public reputation.

For the year under review, the Group rode through the challenges
and weathered the headwinds firmly, progressed steadily and
delivered good business results. With the stable operational
performance and healthy financial position, the Company believes
in sharing its fruitful results with the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”). In addition to the distribution of the interim
dividend of SGD0.0049 per share to the Shareholders for the
financial year ended 31 December 2018 (“FY2018”), the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) recommended a final
dividend of SGD0.0050 per share to the Shareholders for FY2018
(final dividend for FY2017: SGD0.0049 per share).

Being the 70th anniversary of founding of the PRC, 2019 is a
crucial year towards winning the battle against pollution and
building a moderately prosperous society in all respects. The
Group believes that the water environment management sector
and the ecological and environmental protection industry
will continue their rapid development. Following the effective
implementation of the Water Pollution Prevention and Control
Plan (also known as the “Clean Water Action Plan”), the industrial
waste water treatment projects and the upgrading projects of
existing traditional municipal waste water treatment plants will
experience increasing growth, whilst more new water projects
will be seen in the areas of water environment management and
black-odor water body treatment. The Group will stick to the
development path towards “marketisation and professionalism”
and navigate and steer through the challenging market
landscape.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT N
BEEREE 7

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my deepest AAEREEZSETANTZMIBER. =E=SHK
appreciation to the Shareholders, the Board members and  RUUBREWSIEK E—BELSERNESESIEFHLL
our business partners for the continued trust and support.  FEEIE, TREGHTSEEISERN ( "E8
| would also like to take this opportunity to thank the management  B" ) R&AR TIAERERNIBRELISINE
team (the “Management”’) and employees for their unwavering  &&El. ANEEESESHTISEER, 5
commitment and hard work in contributing towards the growth of  KRT#F&#E, LT, BHEREHTH
the Group. The Board will give full support to the Management AN S PR SR MERL, SSHERIRER. Bl
and join hands with all staff, so as to enhance the Group’s #H%

strengths and excellence in the rapidly changing market and to

deliver value to the Shareholders and give back to the society.

MR. WANG TIANYI ERNFE
Non-Executive Director and Chairman IEHITESFHRESK
14 March 2019 —_F—hNEF=A+H

—EF—/)\FEIRS | ANNUAL REPORT 2018 07



A CEO’S STATEMENT & BUSINESS REVIEW
N REHE R SER

v
MR. AN XUESO

BENFE

Dear Valued Shareholders,

Over the past year, China’s ecological and
environmental protection industry experienced

I_l K$4 768 b i | | ion opportunities and challenges arising from favourable
. policies and stringent regulations. Supported by

: — the promulgation and implementation of various key

47 - 681Z)/ ’ | , environmental protection policies in the recent years,
China enhanced its efforts in promoting ecological and

Revenue for FY2018 environmental protection to win the battle for blue sky,

—F—/\WHFEHRA clear water and clean soil. In addition to the tightening
of regulatory enforcement, these provide clearer
. 33% directions and more stringent regulatory guidance
= i for future industry growth, ranging from the water
= Reven?ue increased by environment management sector to the ecological and
NIEDN environmental protection industry.
o)
= 27 /0 ERAERRER:
= Profit increased by
BRI NN EN—FE, BEBCRAIEF. BEE™, FEES

MRITI FEHTBEEIEH . EILFERSMERIMRIL
RIS AFEEREM £, FEERESEIEESRRR
P TIER. BK. SIERE, NEMRETEHEARE
K, AEBNMESIMRTW RIS RS 1TI, Q%)
HERARRYA RIS N E SR SHEEIES .
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CEO’S STATEMENT & BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group was devoted to
the comprehensive management of water environment,
the comprehensive utilisation of water resources and the
comprehensive protection of water ecology. By harnessing its
strengths in the areas of investment, construction, operation,
management, technology, talent and branding, the Group
achieved steady progress and maintained a good growth
momentum. During the year under review, the Group’s revenue
increased by 33% over FY2017 to HK$4.768 billion; gross profit
grew by 32% over FY2017 to HK$1.624 billion; profit increased
by 27% over FY2017 to HK$737 million; and profit attributable
to the Shareholders increased by 32% over FY2017 to HK$676
million, with earnings per share of HK$0.256. As at 31 December
2018, the gearing ratio stood at 55.8%, demonstrating the Group’s
reasonable debt level and good financial position.

With an aim of promoting its long-term development, the
Company, during the year under review, applied for a listing of
its shares on the Main Board of HKEx to achieve a dual primary
listing status in both Singapore and Hong Kong. The dual listing
process is currently underway smoothly. Separately, following the
receipt of approvals to issue Panda Bonds to qualified investors
in China and the successful issuance of first tranche of Panda
Bonds in 2017, the Company, during the year under review,
issued the second tranche of Panda Bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of RMB800 million to further broaden the
Group’s financing channels. The second tranche bond issue also
enabled the Group to explore the green bond market and gain
valuable experience.

During the year under review, whilst providing strong support
to its technological research and development (*“R&D”) and
industrial-academic research collaboration model, the Group
explored opportunities and made good progress in enhancing
its core technology industrial chain. It set up a joint-venture
company in Germany, namely E+B Umwelttechnik GmbH, with
an aim of establishing overseas business channels and enabling
its core technologies to achieve the international standards; it
jointly incorporated Hebei Xiong’an Huashen Water Engineering
Technology Limited with its partners and acquired Xuzhou
Municipal Engineering Design Institute Co., Ltd., expanding the
Company’s business chain, diversifying its business areas and
creating a new potential source of profit growth. In 2018, the
Group was granted a total of 27 patents.

ISESENEEINE B E T
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As at 31 December 2018, Everbright Water held a total number
of 111 projects, which commanded an aggregate investment of
approximately RMB18.7 billion, including: 87 municipal waste
water treatment projects, 7 industrial waste water treatment
projects, 1 leachate treatment project, 6 water environment
management projects, 3 water supply projects, 5 reusable water
projects and 2 waste water source heat pump projects. As at
31 December 2018, the Group had a total daily designed water
treatment capacity of more than 5 million m3, with its waste
water source heat pump projects providing heating and cooling
services over a service area of 295,000 m?.

In terms of market expansion, during the year under review,
Everbright Water solidified its position in existing markets by
securing 15 new projects and signing 4 supplementary agreements
for existing projects, which command a total investment of
approximately RMB3.579 billion and contribute an aggregate
designed daily water treatment capacity of 476,600 m3. These
projects include several upgrading and expansion projects and
auxiliary facilities to the Group’s existing projects, which laid a
solid foundation for water treatment services with higher standards
and efficiency in the future. In relation to project construction,
2018 marked an eventful year for the Group, with a total of 19
projects undergoing construction throughout the year. These
included 9 projects that commenced construction and 9 projects
that completed construction and commenced operations. Several
projects also received construction subsidies of more than RMB56
million in total in 2018.

70 CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED | HREYAKSZERAT]

X CEO’S STATEMENT & BUSINESS REVIEW
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CEO’S STATEMENT & BUSINESS REVIEW A%
LEHERISEER T

In terms of operations management, Everbright Water continued
enhancing the implementation of the Environmental, Safety, Health
and Social Responsibility (‘ESHS”) Management System and Risk
Management System to ensure safe and efficient construction
of its projects. In addition, the Group further promoted and
implemented its “Intelligent Water” Management System at
the project level and launched more pilot programs. Such
implementation already demonstrated preliminary results. During
the year under review, a total of 18 waste water treatment plants
of the Group received regulatory approval for tariff hike.

In 2018, despite various pressures and challenges, the Group
continued delivering good results. This was due to the strong
collaboration and diligent efforts of all the employees of the
Group. | would like to express my earnest appreciation to the
Shareholders, the Board, the Management and the staff, as well
as people from all social circles who have provided great support
to the Group. Going forward, the Group will continue making
great effort in various aspects, such as project investment,
project construction, operations management, compliance
with discharge standards, talent development, brand building,
social responsibility, among others. | believe that, by leveraging
on its many years of experience and competitive advantages
in the water industry, the Group will remain focused, seize
opportunities and make steady progress in the challenging and
opportune industry environment. The Group will further enhance
its overall strength and influence in the industry, and solidify its
advantageous position, with an aim of facilitating the continuous
improvement of the water environment and creating long-term
returns for the Shareholders and investors.

MR. AN XUESONG
Executive Director and CEO

14 March 2019
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A CORPORATE INFORMATION
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS o

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR IENITES
Mr. Wang Tianyi (Non-Executive Director and Chairman) FRN 4 (FEHfTEEHEEK)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS MiTES
Mr. An Xuesong (Executive Director and CEO) REWNSE (HfTEERESE)
Mr. Luo Junling (Executive Director and CFO) BRISKE (HITEEREEVEE)

INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS h7EER

Mr. Zhai Haitao BEERE

Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul MEIBES T

Ms. Cheng Fong Yee AR

Ms. Hao Gang BRIz
COMPANY SECRETARY YA

Ms. Peng Pei EZl ke

AUDIT COMMITTEE HitZERE

Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul (Chairman) WHIRERE (£E)
Mr. Zhai Haitao BEEkE

Ms. Cheng Fong Yee FRULLZ L

Ms. Hao Gang BRIz L
NOMINATING COMMITTEE RBERS

Mr. Zhai Haitao (Chairman) BEERE (FFE)
Mr. Wang Tianyi FRNTE

Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul MiHResTE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE ERE

Ms. Cheng Fong Yee (Chairman) MRUNLZ L (FE)
Mr. Wang Tianyi FRNFTE

Mr. Zhai Haitao Bkt

Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul MEBES T
STRATEGY COMMITTEE EERE

Mr. Wang Tianyi (Chairman) EFRNGEE (FE)
Mr. An Xuesong REMFTE

Mr. Luo Junling BRI

Ms. Hao Gang MBRIZz
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE EEERS

Mr. An Xuesong (Chairman) TENEE (FE)
Mr. Luo Junling DRILTE

Mr. Wang Yuexing FixsesE

Mr. Wang Guanping FEFRE

Mr. Zhang Guofeng SKEEISRSEAE

Mr. Sun Linbo PRI S

Mr. Niu Kesheng Yot
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REGISTERED OFFICE
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Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

SHENZHEN OFFICE

73 DAY

26/F., Block A, Oriental Xintiandi Plaza

RERYITEE KRR AE 10035

No.1003 Shennan Avenue, Futian District, Shenzhen RIFFh R 1A ARE261%
People’s Republic of China 518000 HR4%: 518000
SINGAPORE OFFICE FRNED =

9 Battery Road, MYP Centre
#20-02 Singapore 049910

FIKERERISMYPHL
#20-022 #B4R: 049910

HONG KONG OFFICE BEEDAE

Room 3601, 36/F., Far East Finance Centre EBETIATIE

16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong IR ERF(36/£3601=
BERMUDA SHARE REGISTRAR BRXARITREC

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

SINGAPORE SHARE TRANSFER AGENT RN RRIREE L LACIR

Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. REREFGRAT

50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower SINE# 508 B AE#32-01%
Singapore 048623 mR4R: 048623

AUDITOR Hitlp

Ernst & Young LLP Ernst & Young LLP

One Raffles Quay El e i Y =

North Tower, Level 18 JbEE181%

Singapore 048583 mRgm: 048583

Partner-in-charge: Mr. Alvin Phua Chun Yen
(Appointed in Financial Year 2017)

FEEKA: BREKRE
(FE—EVBEERE)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

FERT

Bank of China Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation
Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

DBS Bank Limited

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
Taipei Fubon Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.

Far Eastern International Bank

PERITRIDBIRAE]
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PEARISRITRHOBIRAE
FEIERTROBIRAE
FEIRT (F8) BRATE
ERIRT
BRKEIRITAERAR
InfeiRIT

PEREIRIRGT (M) ROBIRASE
SILEBERITERAR
ERERERIT
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CORPORATE OUTLOOK

In recent years, China’s ecological and environmental protection
industry has been gradually unleashing its potential for growth,
given the continuous roll-out of relevant policies and the
increasing demand for improvement of environment. In 2018,
China carried out a series of fundamental and long-term initiatives
relating to ecological conservation, such as: the inclusion of
the ecological conservation concept into the Constitution of the
PRC, the establishment of Ministry of Ecology and Environment
of the PRC, and the convening of the National Conference on
Environmental Protection, among others. The strategies relating
to coordinated development among regions across China were
smoothly implemented, such as the coordinated development
of the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Region, the overall planning of
the Xiong’an New Area, the development of the Yangtze River
Economic Belt, and the construction of Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area. These have positioned ecology and
environment as a key development focus. Globally, as China
further promotes its overseas development strategies like the
“Belt and Road” initiative, the concept of ecological conservation
has also been widely spread around the world. Under such top-
down design and strategic planning, China’s ecological and
environmental protection industry has embraced a series of
important changes and development opportunities.

On the other hand, with the tightening of industry regulations
and enforcement, the “strict supervision” trend has become
increasingly evident in the ecological and environmental
protection industry. Due to the tightened financing environment
for the industry resulted from the increasing economic downward
pressure, environmental protection enterprises experience severe
challenges, as many of them had stretched their balance sheet
to fund development. Pressure came from various aspects for
the industry, such as environmental management and financing
channels. However, in the long run, these challenges would
facilitate well-established enterprises to stand out among their
peers during this round of industry consolidation and adjustment,
and to gain more advantageous position for future growth.

In the meantime, the PRC government’s enhanced effort in
cleaning up the unqualified PPP projects in 2018 facilitated the
regulation and standardisation of the PPP model.
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In relation to macroeconomic and industry trends, the water
industry of China is expected to continue moving forward in the
face of both challenges and opportunities. In terms of business
development, the traditional business areas, such as municipal
waste water treatment and water supply, have become mature
after years of development and thus have relatively limited growth
space for new projects amidst the intensified market competition;
on the other hand, new business areas such as industrial waste
water treatment, integrated water environment management
and rural water environment management are expected to have
bigger growth potential. In terms of business model, water
business enterprises which have relied on asset-heavy models for
growth over the years, are proactively exploring and implementing
asset-light business models relating to technological R&D,
engineering design and management, and etc., with an aim of
boosting their capital utilisation efficiency and the overall returns.
In respect of operations management, due to the tightened
supervision and enhanced penalty measures, water business
enterprises’ operational costs have increased; as a result, the
optimisation of management structure will become a key for
the industry players to improve their operational efficiency and
ensure compliance with relevant discharge standards. Last but
not the least, from the aspect of funds for development, with the
tightening of financing environment for the industry, smooth and
diverse investment and financing channels would facilitate water
business enterprises to overcome difficulties under the chilling
capital market, and even help them grasp opportunities for new
breakthroughs.
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In the face of future challenges and opportunities, the Group will
continue focusing on the comprehensive management of water
environment, the comprehensive utilisation of water resources and
the comprehensive protection of water ecology. It will enhance its
penetration in traditional business areas and proactively explore
new business areas, to improve both the depth and breadth of
its business and to provide water environment management
solutions with higher quality. Additionally, the Group will continue
stepping up its effort in technological R&D and the industrial-
academic research collaboration model, further improve its
core technology industrial chain, and integrate its experience
and qualification in the area of engineering design, so as to
support the Group’s future growth and increase its business
growth points that are driven by asset-light business models.
In response to the tightening of relevant discharge standards
and regulatory requirements, Everbright Water will focus on
strengthening its operations management skills and improve
the level of intelligence of its management, to ensure the
compliance of discharge standards, enhance the operational
efficiency and ultimately boost the operation profit. Furthermore,
the Group will continue opening up its environmental protection
facilities for public visits, strengthening its interactions with the
local communities, enhancing transparency of its business
operations, and improving public recognition and trust of its
“Everbright Water” corporate brand. Looking forward, Everbright
Water will stay confident and forge ahead steadily, to promote
the simultaneous growth of economic, social and environmental
benefits and move towards its goal of becoming a leading player
in China’s water environment management sector.
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FY2018

—F—)\MBEE

FY2017

“E—tMBEFE

PERCENTAGE CHANGE
FY2018 VS FY2017
T )\UBEFERS

HK$’000 HK$°000 AL
FHTT BT e
T;)V\e - 4,768,318 3,591,633 33%
%?USS Profit 1,623,778 1,230,587 32%
;;g;;gb;}f vear 736,755 580,793 27%
/>
E’gz;t&/_ﬁxgg%’fble to Shareholders 676,459 513,356 309
Earnings per Share (HK$ o
’éﬁiﬁgﬁj p(%y_c) (HK$) 0.256 0.196 31%
Interim and Final Dividend per Share (SGD) o
SIRPHIRRERE () 0-0099 0.0049 102%
FINANCIAL POSITION | 433K
31 31 PERCENTAGE CHANGE
DECEMBER DECEMBER 31 DECEMBER 2018 VS
2018 2017 31 DECEMBER 2017
—8-\& —s—t5 —5—)\&F
+=B=+-8| +ZB=t-R _ +-A=t—A)i
HK$000 HK$'000 —2 CFi— Eﬂ% \El:
FHIT T
EE;’;SSGB 19,584,389 18,047,919 9%
oML
Tg;\' 1;'ab"'“es 10,920,692 9,506,114 15%
IS5 =
Net Asset Value per Share (HK$) A a0
BRAFHE (B7T) 2:98 299 0.:5%
Gearing Ratio (Total Liabilites / Total Assets) 55.8% 50.7% oot

BfRR (BRR/EE)

ppt: percentage point
Hro =
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HK$’000 | F#&7c
4,768,318 3,591,633 2,494\037
FY2018 FY2017 FY2016
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HK$'000 | F#7T

676,459 513,356 349,343
FY2018 FY2017 FY2016
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EARNINGS PER SHARE | SiEEF

HKS$ | #7t
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B \MBEE @ —m——— @ — — = 0.256

FY2017
- W
T LUREE 0.196

FY2016 =~
—EAMEEE T ————— ~—x 0.134

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE | 8i8&E~#E

HK$ | #&7t
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- N\G+—B=t—H —— ———— ——— —— 2.98
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Mr. Wang is the Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the
Company, as well as the Chairman of the Strategy Committee and
a member of the Nominating Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. He is also the Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of China Everbright International Limited.

Mr. Wang was formerly the Dean of Shandong Academy of Science
and the Deputy Mayor of Ji'nan City, Shandong Province. Mr. Wang
had been the Vice President of Yantai University, and the Dean and
Professor of the Economic Management Faculty of Yantai University,
in Shandong Province.

Mr. Wang is currently a part-time professor of Tsinghua University
and the Co-Director of the Center for Public-Private Parnership at
Tsinghua University. He is also a member of the United Nations
Economic Commission for Europe Public-Private Partnership
Business Advisory Board, a member of the China Council for
International Cooperation on Environment and Development, and
a member of China Business Research Centre Advisory Council of
the National University of Singapore.

Mr. Wang holds a Doctorate degree in Economics, a Master’'s
degree in Management and a Bachelor’s degree in Electronics from
Tsinghua University. He had pursued advanced studies at Harvard
University and University of California in the United States.
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MR. WANG TIANYI
Non-Executive Director and Chairman
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Mr. An is the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”)
of the Company, as well as the Chairman of the Management
Committee and a member of the Strategy Committee. He is also the
Deputy General Manager of China Everbright International Limited.

Mr. An has comprehensive experience and knowledge in mergers
and acquisitions, project investment and management, accounting
management and risk management. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. An worked at the Municipal General Office of Jingzhou, Hubei
Province, China Everbright Bank Ltd. and Guangdong Technology
Venture Capital Group Ltd.

Mr. An holds a Master of Business Administration degree from
Jinan University. He is a Certified Public Accountant in China and a
Certified International Internal Auditor.
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MR. AN XUESONG
Executive Director and CEO
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Mr. Luo is the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”)
of the Company. He is also a member of the Strategy Committee
and the Management Committee.

Mr. Luo has rich experience in accounting management and
operations management. Mr. Luo was formerly the Vice President
of the Company. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Luo worked with
China Construction Bank (Fujian Branch), Fuzhou Guang Min Road
and Bridge Construction Co., Ltd., and Fujian Min Xing Accounting
Firm.

Mr. Luo holds a Bachelor’s degree in International Accounting from

Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics. He is a Certified Public
Accountant and a Certified Tax Agent in China.
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MR. LUO JUNLING
Executive Director and CFO
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Mr. Zhai is the Independent Director of the Company, the Chairman
of the Nominating Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee. He is also the Independent Non-
Executive Director of China Everbright International Limited and the
President and Partner of Primavera Capital Group.

Mr. Zhai has extensive experience and knowledge in banking,
capital market and management. He was formerly the Managing
Director of Goldman Sachs Asia LLC and the Chief Representative
of Goldman Sachs Beijing Office. Prior to joining Goldman Sachs,
Mr. Zhai worked at the International Department of the People’s
Bank of China in Beijing, and was the Deputy Representative of
the People’s Bank of China Representative Office for the Americas
based in New York.

Mr. Zhai holds a Master's degree in International Affairs from
Columbia University, a Master of Business Administration degree
from New York University and a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Economics from Peking University.
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MR. ZHAI HAITAO
Independent Director
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Mr. Lim is the Independent Director of the Company. He is also the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nominating
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lim has over 25 years of banking experience with international
investment banks including Morgan Stanley, Deutsche Bank,
Salomen Smith Barney and Bankers Trust. He is currently the
Managing Director and Head of Private Equity of SBI Ven Capital
Pte. Ltd., and the Independent Director of Golden Energy and
Resources Limited (listed on SGX) and Nippecraft Limited (listed
on SGX).

Mr. Lim holds a Master of Business Administration degree in
Finance and a Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Science
from the University of Wisconsin, Madison, United States. He is also
a Chartered Financial Analyst.
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MR. LIMYU NENG PAUL
Independent Director
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Ms. Cheng is the Independent Director of the Company. She is also
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Ms. Cheng has more than 20 years of experience in the insurance
industry and is an Associate of the Australian Insurance Institute.
She has been involved in major overseas insurance projects,
particularly in the Asia Pacific region, and is actively involved in
utilising insurance as a financial tool for project development. Ms.
Cheng is currently the head of the Insurance Division of AsiaOne
Insurance Agency Pte. Ltd. in Singapore and Executive Director
(Principal Representative) of the Cambodia Branch of AsiaOne
Insurance Agency Pte. Ltd. She also headed the Business
Development Department of Aon Insurance Brokers, the biggest
broking house in Asia, and managed the insurance division of the
Singapore Technologies Group.

Ms. Cheng completed her insurance study at the Australian
Insurance Institute.
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MS. CHENG FONG YEE
Independent Director
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Ms. Hao is the Independent Director of the Company. She is also a
member of the Audit Committee and the Strategy Committee.

Ms. Hao is currently an Associate Professor at the Department
of Management Sciences, the Assistant Dean of the College
of Business, and the Co-Director of CityU-Tsinghual EMBA/
MPA (Public-Private Partnership) dual degree programme at the
College of Business, City University of Hong Kong. Prior to that,
she took a number of roles at the City University of Hong Kong,
mainly responsible for university development and international
programme, amongst others. Ms. Hao also worked in Techno-
Economic Research Institute of National Economic Commission of
the PRC and participated in a number of major national investment
and research projects in China.

Ms. Hao holds a Doctorate degree in Decision Sciences and
Operations Management from University of Pittsburgh in the United
States, a Master’s degree in Industrial Administration from Tianjin
University and a Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics from
Sichuan University.
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Independent Director
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KEY MANAGEMENT

MR. WANG YUEXING
VICE PRESIDENT

Mr. Wang is the Vice President of the Company.

Mr. Wang has rich experience in engineering construction and
operations management. Mr. Wang was formerly the Deputy
General Manager of Everbright Environmental Protection
Technology Development (Beijing) Limited and Everbright
Environmental Protection Engineering (Shenzhen) Limited, and
the Plant Manager of Ji'nan Waste Water Treatment Project
(Plant 1).

Mr. Wang holds a Master’s degree in Environmental Engineering
from Tsinghua University, a Master of Business Administration
degree from Shandong University and a Bachelor's degree in
Civil Engineering from South China University of Technology.
He also holds the titles of Certified Cost Engineer and Certified
Senior Engineer.

MR. WANG GUANPING
VICE PRESIDENT

Mr. Wang is the Vice President of the Company.

Mr. Wang has rich experience in technology management and
research and development. He was granted several invention
patents and utility patents. Mr. Wang was formerly the Assistant
Dean of Everbright Environmental Research Institute, Chief
Technology Officer of China Environmental Protection Science
and Technology Holdings Limited, Deputy Chief Engineer of
Shenzhen Liyuan Water Design and Consultant Limited and
Chief Engineer of Operation Branch of Wuhan Kaidi Water
Services Co., Ltd.

Mr. Wang holds a Doctorate degree in Environmental
Engineering from Tsinghua University, a Master’s degree in
Municipal Engineering from Tongji University and a Bachelor’s
degree in Water Supply and Sewerage Engineering from
Huazhong University of Science and Technology. He holds the
title of Certified Senior Engineer.
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MR. ZHANG GUOFENG
VICE PRESIDENT

Mr. Zhang is the Vice President of the Company.

Mr. Zhang has rich experience in project investment, operations
management and mergers and acquisitions. He was formerly the
General Manager of the Investment Development Department at
Everbright Environmental Protection (China) Limited, the Deputy
General Manager of Everbright Water (Zibo) Limited and the
Supervisor of Everbright Environmental Energy (Xintai) Ltd.

Mr. Zhang holds a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering from
Qingdao University of Science and Technology. He is a Certified
International Accountant with the China Association of Chief
Accountants, a Certified Management Accountant with the
Institute of Certified Management Accountants in the USA and a
member of the Association of International Accountants.

MR. SUN LINBO
VICE PRESIDENT

Mr. Sun is the Vice President of the Company.

Mr. Sun has rich experience in infrastructure construction and
project operations management in the environmental protection
industry. He is also the General Manager of Everbright Water
(Ji'nan) Limited.

Mr. Sun holds a Master’s degree in Environmental Engineering
from Shandong University and a Bachelor’'s degree in Hydrology
Engineering and Construction from Shandong Industrial
University. He holds the titles of Certified Cost Engineer in China
and Engineering and Technical Application Researcher.
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KEY MANAGEMENT

MR. NIU KESHENG
CEO ASSISTANT

Mr. Niu Kesheng is the CEO Assistant of the Company.

Mr. Niu has rich experience in operations management within
the environmental protection industry. He is also the General
Manager of Everbright Water (Zibo) Limited.

Mr. Niu holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering on Mechanical
Manufacturing Process and Equipment from Shandong
University of Technology. He also holds the title of Engineering
Researcher on Environmental Protection Engineering.

MS. PENG PEI
LEGAL COUNSEL AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Peng is the Legal Counsel and Company Secretary of the
Company.

Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Peng was a practising lawyer
at the Singapore office of Allen & Gledhill LLP. Her areas of
practice included mergers and acquisitions and derivatives. She
also participated, as a core member, in a major research project
of the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC on disregarding the
corporate entity to propose the relevant judicial interpretations.

Ms. Peng holds Master of Laws degrees from New York University,
National University of Singapore and Tsinghua University and a
Bachelor of Laws degree from Tianjin University. She is called
to the PRC Bar and the State Bar of California, United States.
Ms. Peng is also an associate member of Chartered Secretaries
Institute of Singapore and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators.
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT %
AR RR S

This is an abstract of Everbright Water’s Sustainability Report for FY2018. The full Sustainability Report for FY2018 is
prepared in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) Standards: Comprehensive option, the SGX Listing
Manual (Rules 711A and 711B and Practice Note 7.6 Sustainability Reporting Guide) and the Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG”) Reporting Guide published by HKEx. The Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”) of the
United Nations are fully integrated into the Company’s environmental and social management strategies to reflect its
commitment to tackling the world’s most pressing issues.

EETANAKSH_ZT—/\MEFETFELARESHRE. —F—/\URFETFELXRIRGSOTERZKE
EHRREB/NAR ( "GRI" ) FEN "£@E" BER. HRALEHRU (F711A%K, H711BFMHE7. 6N ABIESI
(IFERREREES]) ) URBRZATR (MR, HERERIREES]) RMHfek. i, FREBREETFERRE
Btx ( "SDGs" ) £HMANEIMEMMSEEKIRERE, IRRENMYSRGEIBIIERRTIRD,

The full report, in both Chinese and English languages, is available for download at the corporate website of the
Company (www.ebwater.com) and the website of SGX (www.sgx.com) in May 2019.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL POLICY

MERHSBER

The Company firmly believes that sound environmental and social
performance is a key stepping stone for its goal towards becoming
a leader in China’s water environment management industry. In
addition to proactively following the water environment policies
issued at all levels, the Company further streamlined its ESHS
Management System and Risk Management System to ensure
systematic management of environmental and social impacts.
Both management systems provide a comprehensive framework
which effectively improves the Company’s finest, standardised
and systematic management and its risk control capabilities.
The systems, coupled with the “Intelligent Water” Management
System, have enhanced the employees’ management capabilities
in day-to-day operations, and help prevent risks at source.

All of the Company’s projects have obtained or are applying for
international management standard certifications, including ISO
9001 Quality Management System, ISO 14001 Environmental
Management System, and OHSAS 18001 / ISO 45001
Occupational Health and Safety Management System. These
certifications serve as recognition of the Company’s safe and
stable operations, demonstrating its strong sense of social
responsibility.

The Company has also been actively evaluating its environmental
and social performance against internationally recognised
standards, including the World Bank Group Environmental,
Health, and Safety Guidelines and has been regularly submitting
monitoring reports to the International Finance Corporation
(“IFC”) since 2016.

PN {*ﬁ{LE’JHiﬁﬁDTiA%IE%HE‘UJEP
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BUILDING SUSTAINABLE CITIES

iR nISEERTt

The Company contributes to the development of sustainable
cities and communities in China by providing a series of water
environment management services. Its waste water treatment,
water supply, reusable water, and sludge treatment projects
substantially minimise the environmental impact arising from
waste water discharge. Furthermore, its water environment
management projects, at a macro-level, improve the cities’
flood prevention ability in the face of climate change. Moreover,
the Company’s core business of sponge city construction
substantially improves infrastructure of cities and promotes the
integrated policies towards resource efficiency and resilience to
water-related disasters.
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BUILDING SUSTAINABLE CITIES (CONT’D) EigniSEEst (£8)

The stable and efficient operation of the Company’s projectsis AN BB FRITI SR zEBE @ T
attributable to the “Technology Leads Development” ethos and "RHEEIMAR" BERES 5 R ST EE
advanced research and development capabilities. During the 71, FEIFEER, AN T RN
year under review, the Company acquired Xuzhou Municipal &R ERAT, EBFFEHBTIEZITEE
Engineering Design Institute Co., Ltd. to further boost its  FHEEF I HEEINTTEE,

capabilities in municipal engineering design and complete its

full-service business chain.

CLEAN WATER
AND SANITATION

WHAT IS A SPONGE CITY?

1 2igRinm?
INDUSTRY. INNOVATION

AND INFRASTRUCTURE
A “Sponge City” aims to improve a city’s ability in absorption, infiltration,
retention and release of rainwater through systems which effectively
control surface runoff and relieve pressure on urban river channels.

"R SRS RIS ARG A R SRR TR RS RIZKAY
R4, ESHIERERES.

SUSTAINABLE CITIES
AND COMMUNITIES

The Company applies the “Sponge City” concept in practice through

its Zhenjiang Sponge City Construction PPP Project, which integrates

a series of water storage tanks, rainwater pump stations, rainwater

drainage networks, waste water treatment facilities, as well as ecological

restoration works etc. The project will improve Zhenjiang City’s ability in A —
n

flood prevention, water pollution control, and rainwater reuse. E

AT "BEET HSETELSSRHEIRPPPIIB(ELT, BE
—RIFASE. FKREY, FKEMDESKMEREURESRETES. 13 GLIMATE
ACTION
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

IR

The Company’s innovative business model allows it to stand
on the frontline to safeguard people’s health and well-being by
addressing the pressing water quality and sanitation problems
in China. The Company’s comprehensive management systems
enable effective prevention of hazardous materials from polluting
the water body and land ecosystem, and at the same time improve
water-use efficiency.

WASTE WATER AND WASTE MANAGEMENT

The Company ensures that the effluents discharged from its
waste water treatment plants strictly comply with the Discharge
Standard of Pollutants for Municipal Waste Water Treatment
Plant (GB18918-2002) or other requirements as approved by the
government. During the year under review, the Company treated
approximately 1,271,248,000 m® of waste water, and reduced
approximately 356,461.52 tonnes of chemical oxygen demand
("COD") discharge.

The Company has been striving to reduce fresh water demand
by recycling water resources. Its reusable water projects further
purify effluent from its waste water treatment plants, and turn it
into reusable water for power plants or general industrial use in
accordance with Reuse of Urban Recycling Water — Water Quality
Standard for Industrial Uses (GB/T19923-2005) or the equivalent.
During the year under review, the Company’'s reusable water
projects produced approximately 16,299,000 m? of reusable water.

SLUDGE MANAGEMENT

Besides treating the sludge generated from its waste water
treatment projects in accordance with the applicable national
standards such as the Discharge Standard of Pollutants for
Municipal Waste Water Treatment Plant (GB18918-2002), the
Company also complies with IFC’s General Environmental, Health
and Safety Guidelines and Environmental, Health, and Safety
Guidelines for Water and Sanitation to reduce the environmental
impact during sludge disposal process. To enhance resource
utilisation efficiency, majority of its treated sludge is being recycled
as raw materials for compost production. For the non-recyclable
sludge which needs to be disposed of at landfills, it will undergo
dewatering process before disposal, so as to reduce the burden
of dumpsites. In 2018, 89.42% of the total sludge generated from

our projects was recycled.

GOOD HEALTH
AND WELL-BEING

CLEAN WATER LIFE

AND SANITATION

4

34 CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED | FENAKEZERAT

BELOW WATER

AABCFHEIER FEES L IEFERK
REFMBAERR, HubfERP AREEEL
NREI%. AATDLENEBRREbER
TEEMEIIKAFIME_ EESHISR, BERR
FHREKEES.

BKREYETE

V. \jﬁﬁf%ﬁﬁﬁlwklﬁrﬂﬁﬂﬂki’] F

HEISKOE ISRYHERIRE) (GB18918-

2002) = ESRBUAER IHLERNEMER, FaE

FEER, AATHALIELA1,271,248,0003275

KigK, BRI T K24356,461.52M0H9(4%F
FEE ( "COD" ) HHK.

RAB—BEENTEABFIRKER, LUK
BOKFER., AAENFKERARER—EAE
HiS/KAL B ROHK, BRKE/RE (Hh
SIKEBEFBAIAKKEY (GB/T19923-
2005) BiEIFNE, FIF-ERIBA/KEIHAR
IE—R TR, FTRREEAR, &2
BIRYHK BRI R HET7£916,299,0003275
KA,

TGiREHE
PRIZER (RIS 7KL ISR AR )
(GB18918-2002) FHXERIFAELIFFIK
SEEIME RSN, RAATRERIFC
8 (BRRE. @ERENZ2ER) & (K51
ERR. BERSREER) KRPFETREY
MBRISOE. NIRFREFIBANE, KEBDE
LIEE’JEIE%&IEIH&Z*UFWJE/‘LYEHEE’JE*#O ES
FRERMIRIRRTISTE, NSKhKGEEL
B, DPREEHERRGRE, £=F—/\F,
HH89.42% THE TR SRR AEEF .

LIFE
ON LAND

1o




1403 ".1 Wkl ﬂ.r'u.'h‘ Fj.l.d 1-

OUR PEOPLE

FEAIRRT

TALENT DEVELOPMENT

To seize opportunities within the industry and strive to emerge
as a leader in China’s water environment management sector,
the Company places great attention on talent development
and employee welfare. The Company’s people-oriented human
resource strategy and transparent talent development framework
provide itwith a guidance in offering diverse employee development
programmes such as apprenticeship and collaboration with
academic institutions.

The key components of the Company’s employee development
programmes during the year under review included:

e Comprehensive appraisal system: The internal assessment
mechanism closely monitored employees’ career development
by setting accountable goals along with on-going evaluation.
The system also helped cultivate outstanding employees who
embraced the core values of the Company.

e Tiered talent development strategy: The Company
established a talent pool which recognised high performing
talents and offered them with internal promotion opportunities.

e Apprenticeship programme: Since its first launch in
2017 at our Zhangqgiu Waste Water Treatment Project, the
apprenticeship programme has been effectively supporting
the inheritance of professional knowledge by transferring
valuable skills from skilled-workers to new hires, as well as
helping the fresh blood establish practical career goals.

e Tailored training programmes: A wide range of training
programmes were designed based on the position, skills
and management requirement of each staff. Apart from the
traditional training courses, the Company also provided external
training opportunities such as overseas exchange programmes
and industrial exchanges under the training programmes, and
continued to arrange its management personnel and technical
leaders to attend the CEO Course and the Engineering Master
Programme at Tsinghua University.

During the year under review, the average number of training hours
per employee of the Company was 168.42.

The Company’s employment policies also ensure that its human
resources management structure, including compensation,
training opportunity and career prospect, is not gender biased,
in order to achieve gender equality. As most of the Company’s
projects are located in suburb areas, their operations can create
job opportunities in the remote area to foster local economic
development.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

Health and safety is the backbone supporting the Company’s
sustained delivery of excellent water environment management
projects. The Company’s well-established ESHS Management
System continues to guide the supervision of potential safety
issues. The Company established ESHS management teams at
every project company to monitor risks in the project life cycle.
The Company also extends the ESHS Management System to
its supply chain to monitor the health and safety performance of
its key suppliers.

During the year under review, the Company’s key health and
safety measures also included:

e Standardised training and guidelines: Standardised
trainings were offered to increase the awareness of all
employees on safe production. The trainings covered topics
such as emergency response planning, operational hazards,
first aid, health and safety regulations, etc., and were carried
out in forms of seminars, forums, knowledge competitions
and drills. The Company also provided safe production
guidelines and high-quality safety equipment to minimise the
safety hazards in the daily activities of its employees.

e Employee protection programmes: The Company
protected its employees’ health by providing annual medical
check-ups and occupational disease surveillance. Moreover,
the Company set up an Employee Safeguard and Safety
Fund, which can be disbursed upon application to provide
support to employees who suffer from accidents or diseases,
relieving financial burden of their families.

With all these efforts, the injury rate of the Company’s employees
was kept at 0.05 during the year under review.”

GOOD HEALTH
AND WELL-BEING

GENDER
EQUALITY

4
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PHILANTHROPY YA
The Company has been actively devoted to, and supporting AN EHRYIBANZIFERTISE58MAEE
its employees to participate in, charitable activities to fulfil its  #f, KEIIETSE(E,

corporate social responsibility.

REDUCING INEQUALITIES

The Company consistently devotes resources to empowering and
promoting the intergration of social, economic and environmental
benefits to prevent unfair treatment due to age, sex, disability, etc.
During the year under review, the Company’'s Suzhou Wuzhong
Chengnan Waste Water Treatment Project Company continued
to participate in the “Walking Gesang Flower” walkathon, raising
funds for the Gesang Flower Western Development Camp Project
to support students living in underprivileged areas in Western
China. Besides donations, the Company’s employees also
demonstrated the corporate culture by voluntarily cleaning up the
streets along the route, which was highly acknowledged by the
organising committee and other participants.

During the International Woman’s Day on 8" March 2018, the
Company’s Nanning Shuitang River Integrated Restoration PPP
Project invited all female employees to a vacation trip at Qingxiu
Mountain Scenic Area to express the respect and gratitude to its
female workers. On the other hand, the Company’s Zibo Waste
Water Treatment Project Company sent a performance group to a
nursing home in Taihe Town of Zichuan District, donated clothes
and performed a Chinese opera to spread warmth and blessings
to the elderly. Through the donations, visits and community
services, the Company hopes to reduce inequalities regarding
access to health, education and other basic rights.

ENVIRONMENTAL EDUCATION

The Company accords high priority in the public environmental
education, aiming to popularise environmental protection
knowledge at all age. Its project companies located in different
provinces participated in various international environmental
technology events such as the World Water Day, World Environment
Day and National Science Popularisation Day. Together with
the local government agencies and social organisations, the
Company launched a series of charitable campaigns focusing
on environmental protection during the World Environment
Day, including hosting of the “Drawing Lucid Water and Lush
Mountains with a Childlike Heart” painting competition, which
aimed at enhancing the environmental awareness of the children
and local communities.

HOTFE

RABHFEIRNERLMBHATE 1R, 25
MR m IR, EAIFAEFR. 5.
EREERRZEARR., TRIMFEEAN, &
NERIHM R PR KEET E A B4 RS
5 "TERBRE" AmESEY, HERT
FEERRRET B EEPR EXAIFES
. BRTHEFIN, AAANRIEBREET
NRNEE. WENMERRT ATRNMK, B
BENTSHEMS SEIBEIAA.

AR TKIE LGS RBIGTEPPPIIE R
2 "=Z/)\" BEfFEETRREFRZRTES
FUNSXFEETZIR, TORAALENT
YIRTHEEMXE. 570, EEEKkeE
BB ATNE EHEARE) | XKTERE
B, MEANBEBRUFEMI—EBRAXWL
KX, /EMIXLEENGE. A8/ E
BEER. WOMHEXRSS, B AERE
RN ESEAMFIAFERL.

HFRHE

AATHFEENLARBIAMREE, UTEFR
BEERMRIIRACHE. FRIUTEIED
M E ARUARFE NS5 T ZHERERIR
REEGED, W HAKET . HARE
A" # "£ERER" F. ARFE "HER
BH" SHEMBATEMTSBREREERT
—RIIMRAEBRN A EEES, HPE
& "BUBKENS, Z2EEVLIMR" SH
tbE, EEEERDF) LERMSERIMRE

1H

7/ \o

F—/\FEIRES | ANNUAL REPORT 2018 3‘




XA SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
N OSSR IR

PHILANTHROPY (CONT’D)

KLaiED) (88)

ENVIRONMENTAL EDUCATION (CONT’D)

Additionally, in response to the “I am the Enabler for a Beautiful
China” initiative of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the
PRC, the Company encourages its employees to actively adopt
an environmental-friendly lifestyle, such as promoting paperless
working environment and bringing their own shopping bags, to
integrate individual efforts into a momentum that strives for a
change.

To align with Everbright International’s open day initiative,
most of the Company’s project companies have formulated
policies to voluntarily open up the facilities for public’s scrutiny.
For instance, the Ji'nan Waste Water Treatment Project, which
is a National Science Popularisation Education Base and
Environmental Education Base, has officially declared each
Friday as a open day, and provides free and professional talks to
the public. Through various interactive channels, the Company
hopes to educate the next generation to actively undertake the
responsibility of environmental protection. Over 20,000 visitors
visited the Company’s environmental protection facilities during
the year under review.
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AND PRODUCTION
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance to ensure investor confidence in the
Company as a trusted business enterprise. The Board and
the Management will continue to uphold good corporate
governance practices to enhance long-term value and returns for
shareholders and protect shareholders’ interests.

This report outlines the Company’s corporate governance
practices for FY2018 with specific reference made to the
principles and guidelines of the Code of Corporate Governance
2012 (the “Code”), which forms part of the continuing obligations
of the Listing Rules of the SGX.

The Board sits at the top of the Company’s governance
framework. To execute its responsibilities, the Board delegates
specific functions to various sub-committees, namely, the
Nominating Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit
Committee, the Strategy Committee and the Management
Committee. These sub-committees function within written terms
of reference and operating procedures, which are reviewed
on a regular basis. Each of these sub-committees (“Board
Committees”) reports its activities regularly to the Board.

(A) BOARD MATTERS
The Board’s conduct of its affairs

The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of
the Company. Its key responsibilities include providing leadership
and supervision to the Management of the Group with a view to
protecting shareholders’ interests and enhancing long-term
shareholders’ value.

The Board’s principal functions include the following:

(1) providing entrepreneurial leadership, setting strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the necessary financial and
human resources are in place for the Group to meet its
objectives;

(2) reviewing and approving corporate strategies, financial
objectives and direction of the Group;

(3) establishing a prudent and effective control system to
assess and manage risks, including safeguarding of

shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets;

(4)  establishing goals for the Management and monitoring the
achievement of these goals;

(5) ensuring the Management’s leadership of high quality,
effectiveness and integrity;

(6) reviewing the Management’s performance;
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(7)  approving annual budgets and investment and divestment
proposals;

(8) reviewing the internal controls, risk management, financial
performance and reporting compliance;

(9) identifying the key stakeholder group and recognising that
their perceptions affect the Company’s reputation;

setting the Group’s value and standards (including ethical
standards), and ensuring that obligations to shareholders
and other stakeholders are understood and met;

considering the sustainability issues, such as environmental,
health, safety and social factors, as part of its strategic
formulation; and

(12) assuming responsibility for corporate governance.

All Directors exercise due diligence and independent judgment,

and are obliged to act in good faith and consider at all times the
interest of the Company.

The Board meets regularly, at least on a quarterly basis.
Ad-hoc meetings are held at such times, as and when required, to
address any specific significant matters that may arise. Notices of
Board meetings, together with detailed meeting materials for each
agenda (including board papers and explanatory or background
information), are generally sent to the Board one week earlier to
ensure that the Directors have sufficient preparation time for the
meetings. During the Board meetings, the relevant Management
personnel may be invited to make presentation and answer the
Directors’ queries on the relevant agenda, and the Directors
are free to discuss and openly challenge the views presented
by the Management and other Directors. The Chairman of the
Board ensures that each agenda is allocated sufficient time for
discussion and each Director is given sufficient opportunity to
express his/her opinions. Where necessary, the Company also
engages external consultants to provide professional opinions on
specific projects or corporate exercises to facilitate the Board’s
decision-making process. The Board’s decision-making process
is an objective one. In FY2018, the Board held 7 meetings in total.
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The number of meetings and the Directors’ attendance at the
meetings of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nominating Committee, held during FY2018,
are as follows:

nainiBiks

EF—/\MBFES, FARNEFNESES.
HIIERS. FMERSMESZREMZWR

HFEERLHEEIN TRA:

Board Audit Remuneration Nominating
552 HItERS FHERS RERERS
Directors/ Board Members Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended
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Mr. Wang Tianyi" FRNEHED 7 7 N.A. N.A. 2 0 3 3
Mr. An Xuesong TENGE 7 7 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.
Mr. Luo Junling® DRIRTE? 7 40 NA. NA. NA. NA. N.A. N.A.
Mr. Zhai Haitao isypjvad 7 7 4 4 2 2 3 3
Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul  #iaE5E4E 7 7 4 4 2 2 3 3
Ms. Cheng Fong Yee  BRUNZt 7 7 4 4 2 2 NA. N.A.
Ms. Hao Gang® TR @ 7 50 4 24 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.
Mr. Cai Shuguang® BB 7 36 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.
Ms. Xu Nailing® R LO 7 36 N.A. NA. N.A. N.A. NA. NA.
Notes: Bt
N.A. — Not a Member of the Board Committee NA. - FEZE IERIAILR
™ Mr. Wang Tianyi was appointed as a member of the Remuneration " FXNEEEH —F—/\FARF+HEHREEN

Committee with effect from 10 May 2018. Following such appointment,
no Remuneration Committee meeting was held in FY2018.

@ Mr. Luo Junling was appointed as Executive Director of the Company
with effect from 10 May 2018. Following such appointment, 4 Board
meetings were held in FY2018.

© Ms. Hao Gang was appointed as Independent Director of the Company
with effect from 16 March 2018. Following such appointment, 5 Board
meetings were held in FY2018.

“ Ms. Hao Gang was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee
of the Company with effect from 10 May 2018. Following such
appointment, 2 Audit Committee meetings were held in FY2018.

© Mr. Cai Shuguang resigned as Executive Director of the Company with
effect from 10 May 2018.
© Ms. Xu Nailing resigned as Executive Director of the Company with

effect from 10 May 2018.

In lieu of physical meetings, written resolutions were also
circulated for approval by members of the Board. The Company’s
Bye-laws also provide for meetings by way of telephone,
electronic or other communication facilities.

The Board approves a document, known as the Board Authority
Matrix, with guidelines setting forth the matters reserved for the
Board’s decision and clear directions to the Management on
matters that must be approved by the Board. The Board Authority
Matrix is reviewed by the Board at least once a year and revised
accordingly when necessary. The matters reserved for the Board’s
decision include but are not limited to change in share capital,
acquisitions and disposals of assets with value exceeding certain
threshold, venturing into non-core business, setting up of joint
venture, corporate or financial restructuring, obtaining borrowings
exceeding certain threshold, appointment of key management
personnel, decision on major legal actions, share issuance
and dividends, financial results, annual budget and corporate
strategies. The Board will provide directions to the management
teams of the Group’s business divisions through presentations at
Board and Board Committee meetings.

AL FHIFTNERHIER. EEWETE,
—F— )\ FERBETNERERIK,

@ FBRIEELE —F—/\FLFHEWRETN
ARFHIRITEE., BEWEEE, —F—/|
WREFEREFF TIIREFR DN,

@ LT EH —F—/\F=F -+ NHEWRETSN
ALFHIBIEE, BRWEFRE, —F—/|
FYRFEREIT T LREFERIN,

@ L TEH —F—/\FLF+EHERETE
HERSHIER, BREETE, —F—/\
HFEHETF TRREITEREEN,

@ FIB AL —F—/\FAF+HEFEARL

BT TER.
© BBRLTH = F—/\FAA+HEFERL
EHIHTES.

EFEStBURSEES K BEANAEAERD
HABRIZEANESTESN. REREHH
ETEFSWALIEE. BHENEEMET
BB,

EEWET RN "ESSTIRER" /Y
X, HPFBETREERRRERESERR
R XS T T EER—NAWRIES], BB
WTYMLESMEREFTE LIREFSFMN. E5
SELBFRUEENRBRHTHT, F
L EIMRNZERMMHIER., RBLEFIR
RNBMEEERRT: RALE., BIRER
RIS WEEbE. AR O SSIE, 1%
MAEREI, EIEEER. RGEIRER
FRELRY. ZERREEAR. WEAERHE
RORR. RITROIRERE. USSR FE
MEMEIAES, ERcBIEERSSN
EERRENZERRENEAFRHENSES
RERARSSER JEEFBARITAE.

—F—)\SFEIRE | ANNUAL REPORT 2018 41

AL
R
R



SSSS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

rainiEiRs |

The current members of the Board are familiar with the Group’s
business operations and corporate governance practices. In
particular, a majority of the Directors (including a majority of
Independent Directors) have more than eight years’ experience
serving as an executive officer or a director of a company in the
environmental protection industry. The Nominating Committee
(“NC”) ensures that new Board appointees are provided with
trainings and information to familiarise themselves with the
Group’s business, strategic goals and directions and corporate
governance practices.

Upon the appointment of a new Director, the Company will
provide a formal letter to the Director, setting out his/her duties
and obligations. Such Directors are given appropriate briefings
when they are first appointed to the Board. Appropriate
orientations are conducted for all new Directors appointed to
the Board to ensure that they are familiar with the Company’s
business, operations, governance practice and regulatory
requirements. The Company Secretary or the external lawyers
also provide trainings to the new Directors on his/her duties and
responsibilities as a Director and the ongoing obligations of the
Company as an SGX-listed company.

The Company provides ongoing education on Board procedures,
corporate governance practices and industry developments to
all Directors. The Company also invite external experts (such as
auditors, lawyers, sustainability consultants, technical experts or
other professionals) to provide regular trainings to the Directors
and the Management on legal, financial, technical and business
topics, depending on the Company’s development needs. The
Management further provides regular updates on changes in
the relevant laws, regulations and changing commercial risks
to enable the Directors to make well-informed decisions and to
ensure that the Directors are competent in carrying out their
respective roles and responsibilities. At the same time, the
Directors are encouraged to keep themselves abreast of the latest
developments relevant to the business of the Group.

Besides that, the Directors have the opportunity to visit the
Group’s operational facilities and meet with the Management to
gain a better understanding of the Group’s business operations.

Board Composition and Balance

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, with a majority
being Independent Directors. The Directors of the Company as at
the date of this Annual Report are:

(i Mr. Wang Tianyi (Non-Executive Director & Chairman of Board);
(ii) Mr. An Xuesong (Executive Director & CEO);

(iii Mr. Luo Junling (Executive Director & CFO);

(iv)  Mr. Zhai Haitao (Independent Director);
(

(

(

=

v Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul (Independent Director);
vi)  Ms. Cheng Fong Yee (Independent Director); and
i

vii)  Ms. Hao Gang (Independent Director).
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The independence of each Director is assessed and reviewed
annually by the NC. The NC adopts the Code’s definition of
an independent director in its review. The Board and the NC
consider an independent director as one who has no relationship
with the Group, its related companies, its 10% shareholders
or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to
interfere, with the exercise of the director’'s independent business
judgment with a view to the best interest of the Company and the
Group’s affairs.

Each Independent Director is required to complete a
Director’'s Independence Checklist annually to confirm his/her
independence based on the guidelines as set out in the Code.
For FY2018, the NC has determined that all the Independent
Directors are independent. In particular, Mr. Zhai Haitao is also
an independent director of the Company’s controlling shareholder
Everbright International, but he is not involved in the daily
management and operation of Everbright International. The NC
determined that Mr. Zhai Haitao is independent in character and
judgment and his role as independent director of Everbright
International will not affect his judgment as Independent Director
of the Company. Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul and Ms. Cheng Fong
Yee were appointed as Independent Directors of the Company
in July 2007. Since then, the Company experienced changes in
controlling shareholders and the management teams twice. The
current controlling shareholder, Everbright International, only
gained control of the Company in December 2014 and the current
management team and executive officers joined the Company
following that change. Thus, although Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul
and Ms. Cheng Fong Yee served the Board beyond nine years
from the date of their appointment, both the NC and the Board
held the view that they remain independent in both character
and judgement. In addition, Ms. Hao Gang, who was appointed
in March 2018, has no relationship with the Company, its related
corporations, its controlling shareholders or its officers that
could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere with the
exercise of her independent business judgement. Therefore, the
NC considered Ms. Hao Gang to be independent. The Board will
undertake more rigorous review annually on the independence of
any Director who has served the Board beyond nine years, and
in doing so, the Board will also take into account the need for
progressive refreshing of the Board. The Board has determined
that it is of an appropriate size to facilitate effective decision-
making, and to meet the objective of having a balance of skills
and experiences, taking into account the size and scope of the
Company’s operations.
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The current Board comprises business leaders, industry experts,
professionals and academia experts, with industry, accounting,
financial, business, management and academic backgrounds.
A majority of the Directors (including a majority of Independent
Directors) have more than eight years’ experience serving as an
executive officer or a director of a company in the environmental
protection industry. This composition and diversity of the Board
enables the Management to benefit from a diverse and objective
external perspective, on issues raised before the Board. The
Board reviews its composition, expertise and experience annually
to determine if the Directors, as a group, provide an appropriate
balance and diversity of skills. Each Director has been appointed
based on the strength of his/her caliber, expertise, experience
and his/her potential contribution to the Group and its businesses.
Profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 20 to 26 of this
Annual Report.

The Board is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate
affairs independently from the Management. No individual
or group of individuals is allowed to dominate the Board’s
decision-making. Currently, a majority of the Board members are
Independent Directors. The Board is thus of the view that there
is sufficiently strong independent element on the Board to enable
independent exercise of objective judgment on corporate affairs
of the Group, taking into account factors such as the size and
scope of the affairs and operations of the Group.

Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Directors)
play an important role in the Board’s decision-making process.
They constructively challenge and assist to develop proposals
on strategy, and review the performance of the Management in
meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting
of performance. In particular, the Chairman ensures that each
of the Independent Directors is given sufficient time to express
his/her opinions during the Board meetings. The Independent
Directors meet at least once a year without the presence of the
Management.

Chairman and CEO

The Board recognises the Code’s recommendation that the
Chairman and the CEO should be separate persons to ensure
that there is an appropriate balance of power and authority within
the Company.

The Non-Executive Chairman of the Company is Mr. Wang
Tianyi and the CEO is Mr. An Xuesong. The Chairman bears the
responsibility for the effective conduct of the Board whilst the
CEO bears the executive responsibility for the operations of the
Group’s business. The Chairman and the CEO are not related to
each other.
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The Chairman is responsible for exercising control over the quality
and timeliness of the flow of information between the Management
and the Board and ensuring compliance with the Group’s
guidelines on corporate governance. The Chairman ensures that
Board meetings are held regularly in accordance with the agreed
schedule of meetings and sets the agenda of the Board meetings.

The Chairman also builds constructive relations within the Board
and between the Board and the Management, and facilitates
the effective participation of Non-Executive Directors (including
Independent Directors) by promoting a culture of openness and
debate of the Board. The Chairman further ensures effective
communication with shareholders and promotes high standards of
corporate governance.

The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Group and chairs the Management Committee. The CEO works
with the Board for strategic planning, business development and
charting the growth of the Group.

The Board is of the view that there are sufficient safeguards and
checks to ensure that the process of decision-making by the
Board is independent and based on collective decisions without
any individual exercising any considerable concentration of power
or influence.

Furthermore, the Audit Committee (“AC”), the Remuneration
Committee (“RC”) and the NC are chaired by Independent
Directors, and a majority of the Board currently consist of
Independent Directors. The AC comprises only Independent
Directors and the majority of the NC and the RC members are
also Independent Directors. The Company currently has no
Lead Independent Director. Considering the Company’s current
business operations and Board size of seven members with a
majority being Independent Directors, the Company is of the
view that the appointment of a Lead Independent Director for the
year under review is not necessary. Nevertheless, the Board will
annually examine the need for such appointment.

Board Membership
The NC comprises:
(i) Mr. Zhai Haitao (NC Chairman & Independent Director):

(ii) Mr. Wang Tianyi (Non-Executive Director & Chairman of
Board); and

(i) Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul (Independent Director).

Majority of the NC, including the NC Chairman are Independent
Directors.
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The key terms of references of the NC are as follows:

(1) establishing procedures and making recommendations to
the Board on all Board appointments and re-nominations
with regards to each Director's contribution and
performance, his/her attendance at meetings of the Board
or the Board Committees (where applicable), participation,
candour and any special contributions;

(2) reviewing and determining annually whether a Director is
independent, bearing in mind the considerations set out in
the Code;

(3)  deciding whether or not each Director is able to and
has adequately carried out his/her duties as a Director
of the Company, taking into consideration the Director’s
number of listed company board representations and other
principal commitments;

(4)  developing a process for evaluation of the performance
of the Board as a whole, the Board Committees and the
Directors; and

(5) reviewing training and professional
programmes for the Board.

development

Where a vacancy arises under any circumstances, or where it
is considered that the Board would benefit from the services
of a new Director with particular skills, the NC, in consultation
with the Board, determines the selection criteria and selects
candidates with the appropriate expertise and experience for
the position. Besides the qualification and experience of each
candidate, the NC takes into consideration the candidate’s
ability to increase the effectiveness and the diversity of
the Board and to add value to the Company’'s business
in line with its strategic objectives. Before appointment of
any new Director, the NC conducts an interview with the
candidate and holds a meeting to discuss the candidacy
(and the independence, where applicable) of the candidate.
If appropriate, the NC makes recommendation to the Board
on the proposed appointment. The Board will then review and
discuss the candidacy of the candidate, and if appropriate,
approve the appointment of the new Director. The Company
makes immediate announcement on any new appointment of
Directors on the SGXNET.

In considering the re-appointment of a Director, the NC evaluates
such Director’'s contribution and performance, such as his/her
attendance at meetings of the Board or the Board Committees
(where applicable), participation, candour and any special
contributions. Upon the NC's recommendation, the Board
will review and approve the re-nomination of a Director for
re-appointment for the shareholders’ approval at annual general
meetings (“AGMs”).
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All Directors (including the Chairman of the Board and the CEO)
are subject to the provisions of the Company’s Bye-laws whereby:

(a) each Director shall retire at least once every three years
and shall be eligible for re-election. No Director is subject
to retirement pursuant to the Company’s Bye-law 86(1) at
the forthcoming AGM; and

(b) any Directors appointed by the Board shall retire at the
next AGM of the Company and shall be eligible for re-
election. Mr. Luo Junling is subject to retirement pursuant
to the Company’s Bye-law 85(6) at the forthcoming AGM.
After considering Mr. Luo Junling’s experience and
qualifications as well as his contributions to the Company
since his appointment as a Director, the NC and the Board
recommended that Mr. Luo Junling be nominated for
re-election as a Director at the forthcoming AGM. Mr. Luo
Junling also expressed his willingness to be re-elected.
The profile of Mr. Luo Junling is set out on page 22 of this
Annual Report. Further information relating to him is set out
below.

During the past 10 years, Mr. Luo Junling assumed various
positions within the Group or Everbright International, including:
CFO or Vice President of the Company, General Manager of
Everbright Environmental Water Management Centre under
Everbright Environmental Protection (China) Limited, General
Manager or Financial Controller of Everbright Water (Jiangyin)
Limited, and Financial Controller of China Everbright Water
Investments Limited. He does not have any relationship (including
immediate family relationships) with any existing Director, existing
executive officer, the Company and/or substantial shareholder
of the Company or of any of its principal subsidiaries. Neither
does he have any conflict of interest (including any competing
business) with the Company. Mr. Luo Junling is currently a
director of 45 subsidiaries and 1 associated company within
the Group. He does not have any other principal commitments
(including directorship) outside the Group. Prior to his
appointment as a Director of the Company, he had no experience
as a director of an issuer listed on any stock exchange (including
the SGX). Prior to his appointment as a Director, he received
relevant trainings on the roles and responsibilities of a director of
a listed company on the SGX, and submitted an undertaking to
the Company under Rule 720(1) of the SGX Listing Manual.

The NC conducts an annual review of the Directors’
independence. The NC is of the view that Mr. Zhai Haitao, Mr.
Lim Yu Neng Paul, Ms. Cheng Fong Yee and Ms. Hao Gang are
independent and that, no individual or small group of individuals
dominates the Board’s decision-making process.
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All Directors are required to declare their board representations.
When a Director has multiple board representations, the NC
will consider whether the Director is able to adequately carry
out his/ her duties as a Director of the Company, taking into
consideration the Director’s number of listed company board
representations, the efforts and time required for his/her other
board representations and his/her other principal commitments.

The NC has reviewed and is satisfied that all Directors, who sit
on multiple boards, have been able to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company to adequately discharge
their duties as Directors of the Company, notwithstanding their
multiple board appointments. The NC did not recommend setting
of limit as to the number of listed board representations that every
Director can hold, as the time and efforts required for each board
representation may vary, depending on the type of directorship
(executive or non-executive). The Board will determine the
maximum number of listed company board representations which
any Director may hold as and when required.

There is no Alternate Director on the Board.
The dates of initial appointment, last re-election/re-appointment

and other listed company board representations of each of the
Directors are set out below:

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
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PEEENFHREEREMARDESISAERE
. WR—EBEFESRAFNESFER, 7
BERBRESSEEEM EHASTEESER
HURE. At EmARIREERMRFEEN
R RIFNRS D LAR Mt/ R E £ RIR S RIAEZ
EXETHBROBITRFAETATESNR

R

ZHR, REZRNN, ESRAFDEFE
RNEERESHSHR, WREHANTINESR
BAEBRIMEMIENLAR S EITHESRRE. |
TR EHARHEERERRTH AR EMRE
FBREERESEAAIMR (ITEERT)
MBERAR, BEit, BEERESFARENNES
ERTEEM EHATEELERMEREL
R, EFSTHHUEENEESEETEEN
EHATEERHE LR,

ERESTIRBIRIESR.

BIMESSHPIRISE. E—RE0%/BEEELL
RABEEfh EHATSESRRSAIFBNT:

Director Position Country of | Date of Initial | Date of Last | Membership Directorship/
£ it Principal Appointment | Re-Election | of Board Chairmanship
/(Age) (£E8) Residence | #IXEE(EEHE | E—RiEE Committee both present and
FERGEE =)0 EHAEIER | those held over the
SRR preceding three
years in other listed
company
Balflpi=FEEFESE/E
SR EH AT
Mr. Wang Tianyi | Non-Executive | Hong Kong | 12 Dec 2014 | 25 Apr 2017 | SC Chairman Present:
FRN5eE Director and SAR, China | —&—N&F —E—tF RC Member China Everbright
/(56) Chairman FEES +=B+=H WEZ+HH | NC Member International Limited
ETES BIEERSER | (isted on HKEX)
HEFK FHERSER | 5.
REZREER | EHAEFERAT
(EEBERAT L)
Over the preceding 3
years: None
BI=EAUEER: &
Mr. An Xuesong | Executive Hong Kong | 12 Dec 2014 | 25 Apr 2017 | MC Chairman | None
TEMWTE Director and | SAR, China | ZF—PU&E —Z—t%F | SC Member %
/(48) CEO HEES +ZB+ZH | BBZ+hH | EEZREERE
PITESS® HEEREER
B
Mr. Luo Junling | Executive China 10 May 2018 | None SC Member None
DRIRTE Director and | HE —F)\&F % MC Member | &
/(45) CFO HA+H HEERSER
PITESS® EERREER
BREVEE
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Director Position Country of | Date of Initial | Date of Last | Membership Directorship/
55 i~ Principal Appointment | Re-Election | of Board Chairmanship
/(Age) (£#R) Residence | #XES{EEHE | E—X&EE | Committee both present and
FEREE S): EFEREIZR | those held over the
SRR preceding three
years in other listed
company
BEfR=FEEES/E
SiRAYER EHAT)
Mr. Zhai Haitao Independent | Hong Kong | 14 Aug 2015 | 25 Apr 2018 | NC Chairman Present:
sy e Director SAR, China | ZZ—hfF —Z—/)\&F | AC Member China Everbright
/(50) MI7EE FEEE J\B+IH MB—+HH | RC Member International Limited
RBERSFE | (listed on HKEX)
HHERSER | gyt
FMEREER | hEAERERAR
(EEBERAT L)
Over the preceding 3
years: None
BI=FAYFER: %
Mr. Lim Yu Neng | Independent | Singapore | 31 July 2007 | 25 Apr 2018 | AC Chairman Present:
Paul Director N “FEtHF —F—)\&F NC Member 1. Golden Energy and
MiEReRE WTEE tB=1+—H | MA=+HH | RC Member Resources Limited
/(56) HIIRRSTE (listed on SGX)
REERSER | 2. Nippecraft Limited
FERESER (listed on SGX)
IUE:
1. Golden Energy and
Resources Limited
(TE3ERT L)
2. Nippecraft Limited
(Feshaehr L)
Over the preceding 3
years: None
BI=EAYTER: &
Ms. Cheng Fong | Independent | Singapore | 31 July 2007 | 25 Apr 2018 | RC Chairman None
Yee Director i “EELEF “EF)\F AC Member %I
FBRULZZE JB7ER tB=+—H | MAZ+hAH | HiHNERSER
/(62) HITERSER
Ms. Hao Gang Independent | Hong Kong | 16 March 2018 | 25 Apr 2018 | AC Member None
il g Director SAR, China | —&—/\F “F-)\F SC Member %
/(60) W7ES HEEE =R+7"H MB—+hH | HIEREER
HEEREER
Board Performance EERA9FT
The Board and the NC have adopted a formal process for the EEATHERERESFBAERNEFFKIHMEES

evaluation of the performance of the Board as a whole, the Board
Committees and the contribution by each individual Director
to the effectiveness of the Board. Following the end of each
financial year, each of the Directors is requested to complete a
Board Evaluation Questionnaire and a Director Self-Appraisal
Form. Each of the NC members is also requested to complete a
Board Committee Appraisal Form. The performance criteria for
the Board as a whole include, amongst others, the Company’s
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financial performance for that financial year, an evaluation of
the size and composition of the Board, the Board’s access
to information, accountability, Board procedures and Board
performance in relation to discharging its principal responsibilities
in terms of the financial indicators as set out in the Code. The
assessment criteria for an individual Director include, amongst
others, attendance, adequacy in meeting preparation, generation
of constructive ideas, leadership, keeping abreast of industry
developments, and contribution in specific areas. The evaluation
criteria for the Board Committees include, amongst others,
committee composition, the contribution in assisting the Board
for better decision-making, sufficiency of expertise of Board
members, Committee chairman’s performance in discharging
responsibility, quality of Board Committee’s communication with
the Board. To facilitate the candour in providing feedback by the
Directors in the appraisal process, all completed appraisal forms
are sent to the Company Secretary directly for summarisation,
and then the appraisal summaries (on a no-name basis) and
findings are circulated to the NC for analysis and discussion
during the NC meeting. The NC will then report its findings and
recommendations to the Board for discussion with a view to
enhancing the effectiveness of the Board. The Board discusses
and determines the areas for improvement and enhancement of
the Board’s effectiveness as well as its implementation.

Following the review, the NC assessed the Board’s performance
as a whole, the Board Committees’ performance and the
contribution by individual Directors in FY2018, and is of the view
that the Board’s performance as a whole, the Board Committees’
performance and the contribution by individual Directors are
satisfactory.

No external facilitator was used in FY2018.

Access to Information

To enable the Board to function effectively and to fulfill its
responsibilities, the Management strives to provide the Board
members with adequate information for Board meetings and
update the Board on an ongoing basis.

The Board is generally furnished with detailed Board papers
(including related materials, background or explanatory
information of each agenda) one week prior to any Board
meeting to enable the Directors to sufficiently prepare for
the meetings. The Directors will also request for additional
information or clarification from the Management, if necessary,
before or during the meetings. The Board is also informed of
any significant developments or events relating to the Company
timely. All disclosure documents issued by the Company (such
as announcements, press releases, analyst briefing presentation
slides, reports) are provided to the Board before or upon such
release. Forecasts and internal financial statements are also
provided to the Board and any material variance between the
projections and actual results are disclosed and explained to the
Board.
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The Directors are given separate and independent access
to the Management to address any enquiries and also have
separate and independent access to the Company Secretary.
The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and Board
Committee meetings and ensures that they are conducted
in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company and that
the applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject
to approval of the Board. The Company Secretary, under the
direction of the Chairman of the Board, ensures good information
flows within the Board and the Board Committees and between
the Management and Non-Executive Directors. The Company
Secretary also advises the Board on all governance matters,
facilitates orientation to the new Directors, arranges for trainings
and professional development of Board members, as required.
The current Company Secretary is also the Group’s Legal
Counsel, who is a licensed lawyer and a member of Chartered
Secretaries Institute of Singapore.

When necessary, the Directors can seek independent professional
advice, concerning any aspect of the Group’s operations or
undertakings in order to fulfill their roles and responsibilities as
Directors, at the Company’s expense.

(B) REMUNERATION MATTERS
Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

The RC comprises:

[ Ms. Cheng Fong Yee (RC Chairman & Independent Director);
i) Mr. Wang Tianyi (Non-Executive Director & Chairman of Board);
i

(
(
(iii) Mr. Zhai Haitao (Independent Director); and
(

iv)  Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul (Independent Director).
The key terms of references of the RC are as follows:

(1) recommending to the Board, in consultation with the
Chairman of the Board, for endorsement, a remuneration
policy framework and guidelines for remuneration of the
Directors and key management personnel of the Group;

(2) recommending remuneration packages for the Directors
and the key management personnel (including but not
limited to, Directors’ and key management personnel’s
fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses and benefits-in-kind);

(3) reviewing the obligations of the Group arising in the event
of termination of the service contracts of the Directors and

key management personnel; and

(4)  administering the share incentive plans of the Group, if any.

nainEilks
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The RC is responsible for ensuring that a formal and transparent
procedure is in place for developing an appropriate executive
remuneration policy and a competitive framework for determining
the remuneration packages of Directors and key management
personnel. The RC recommends for the Board’s endorsement, a
framework of remuneration, including but not limited to, Director’s
fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits-in-kind
for the Directors and key management personnel. No Director
is involved in any decision-making relating to his/her own
compensation.

The Company engaged Aon Hewitt Singapore Pte Ltd (“Aon
Hewitt”), a third-party remuneration consultant, in January 2018
to benchmark the remuneration of the Company’s Executive
Directors, Non-Executive Directors and the key management
personnel against the industry peers in Singapore and Hong
Kong. There is no relationship between the Company and Aon
Hewitt that will affect the independence and objectivity of Aon
Hewitt. The RC made recommendations on the Company’s
remuneration framework and remuneration packages for Directors
and key management personnel, taking into account Aon Hewitt’s
findings.

The RC reviews the Company’s obligations arising in the event
of termination of Executive Directors and key management
personnel’s contracts of services to ensure that such contracts of
service contain fair and reasonable termination clause.

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Under the framework developed by the RC, the RC uses the
following factors to determine the Directors’ remuneration:

(1)  qualifications and experience of the Directors required by
the Company;

(2)  for Independent Directors, the general level of fees earned
by each Director in his/her professional capacity or billed
by professionals in their industry;

(3) time spent in preparing for meetings and actual
attendance;

(4)  indirect costs and expenses incurred by the Directors;

(5) such remuneration as may be considered fair and
reasonable, having regard to the nature and size of the
business of the Company;

(6) level of remuneration which is directly linked to the extent
of involvement and participation in and contribution to the
business of the Company;

(7)  the level of commitment and the ability to devote sufficient
time and attention to the business of the Company; and

(8) where special circumstances justify, the payment of
additional remuneration.
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Annual reviews are carried out by the RC to ensure that key
management personnel are appropriately rewarded, giving due
regard to the financial health and business needs of the Group
without being excessive and thereby maximise shareholders’
value. The Group’s remuneration framework, remuneration
packages and bonus distribution plans for the Directors and key
management personnel in each year are reviewed and discussed
by the RC, which comprises three Independent Directors and
one Non-Executive Chairman, before submitting to the Board for
endorsement.

The Executive Directors have entered into service agreements
with the Company. Their compensation consists of basic salary,
fixed allowance and performance-linked bonus. The bonus of
the Executive Directors and the key management personnel are
dependent on the Group’s performance and such individual's
performance and contribution to the Company in that year. In
particular, the Company sets up a bonus pool and an objective
bonus determination mechanism for the Executive Directors and
the key management personnel at the beginning of each financial
year, which is reviewed and approved by the RC as delegated
by the Board. To incentise the Executive Directors and the key
management personnel to successfully manage the Company,
the performance-linked bonus makes up a substantial portion
of their total remuneration in a financial year. The amount of the
performance-linked bonus for each Executive Director and key
management personnel is linked to the achievement of certain
key financial indicators of the Company in that financial year and
the annual appraisal result of him/her.

The Group’s remuneration policy is to provide compensation
packages appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors
and the key management personnel.

The Independent Directors receive directors’ fees according to
their level of contributions and other factors such as effort and
time spent for serving on the Board and the Board Committees,
as well as the responsibilities and obligations of the Directors. The
Company recognises the need to pay competitive fees to attract,
motivate and retain the Directors without being excessive to the
extent that their independence might be compromised.

Directors’ fees are recommended by the Board for approval by
the shareholders at the AGMs of the Company.
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Disclosure on Remuneration

A breakdown of the remuneration of the Directors and the key
management personnel (who are not Directors) for FY2018 is set

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
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FHEMATHEE

ESNXBEEAR CREEES) £2=FN\
WA RIS ENBALER AT

out below.

a) The level and mix of each Director’s remuneration is as  a) EBREEEHBCEFIESNT:
follows:

Remuneration Band and Directors’ Salary Bonus Benefits Total

Name of Director Fee% % % in kind % %

FIREHE R = BEAR% TH%  R8% TWEN%  Bit%

SGD500,000 to below SGD750,000

500,0008F10487TE 750, 0005 IR TIL T

Mr. An Xuesong TENTE - 40 50 10 100

SGD250,000 to below SGD500,000

250, 0008514575 E 500,000 TIL T

Mr. Luo Junling® BRIEFEM - 34 57 9 100

Below SGD250,000

250,000FII8%TTIA T

Mr. Wang Tianyi FRNSEE — - - 100 100

Mr. Cai Shuguang® B E - - - 100 100

Ms. Xu Nailing® FIbiss sl - - - 100 100

Mr. Zhai Haitao Bt 83 - - 17 100

Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul MERESEE 86 — — 14 100

Ms. Cheng Fong Yee ABRUYLZ L 86 - - 14 100

Ms. Hao Gang BRIzt 90 - - 10 100

(1)

2

)

Mr. Luo Junling was appointed as a Director of the Company with
effect from 10 May 2018. Prior to that, he was the CFO of the Company,
which was a key management personnel position, in FY2018. The
above summarised remuneration information of Mr. Luo Junling took
into account all his remuneration received from the Company for his
capacity as a Director and a key management personnel in FY2018.

During FY2018, in addition to his executive directorship with the
Company, Mr. Cai Shuguang also assumed other executive position
with Everbright International, the Company's controlling shareholder. The
remuneration of Mr. Cai Shuguang which he received from Everbright
International during FY2018 already reflected his effort and time
spent on the Company’s affairs and his contributions to the Company.
Therefore, during FY2018, Mr. Cai Shuguang only received allowances
from the Company for his attendance at the Board meetings, the
amount of which was minimum. Mr. Cai Shuguang already resigned as a
Director of the Company with effect from 10 May 2018.

During FY2018, in addition to her executive directorship with the
Company, Ms. Xu Nailing also assumed other executive position with
Everbright International, the Company’s controlling shareholder. The
remuneration of Ms. Xu Nailing which she received from Everbright
International during FY2018 already reflected her effort and time
spent on the Company's affairs and her contributions to the Company.
Therefore, during FY2018, Ms. Xu Nailing only received allowances from
the Company for her attendance at the Board meetings, the amount of
which was minimum. Ms. Xu Nailing already resigned as a Director of
the Company with effect from 10 May 2018.
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The Board believes that it is not in the best interest of the
Company to fully disclose precise remuneration given the highly
competitive industry conditions for the environmental water
sectors, particularly in China. The disclosure of the Directors’
and the key management personnel’s remuneration based on the
remuneration bands set out in this report is appropriate.

b) The level and mix of each key management personnel’s
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(who is not a Director) remuneration in bands is as follows: FEHEEWT:
Benefits

Remuneration Band and Name of Salary Bonus in kind Total
Key Management Personnel % % % %
B IXREEA RIS TI&E% RE% EYEF% 2it%
Below SGD500,000
500,0008 00 TTIA T
Mr. Yu Yiping™" S—oeag0) 43 42 15 100
Mr. Tao Junjie® PR AR T 71 - 29 100
Mr. Wang Yuexing FiRE 40 50 10 100
Mr. Wang Guanping FaFRE 39 50 11 100
Mr. Zhang Guofeng SKEISESTAE 36 49 15 100
Mr. Sun Linbo PRI S 36 56 8 100
Mr. Niu Kesheng St 40 45 15 100
Ms. Peng Pei EZisoamn 50 45 5 100

% Mr. Yu Yiping resigned as Vice President and a member of the
Management Committee of the Company with effect from 1 April 2019,
as he reached the retirement age.

@ Mr. Tao Junjie resigned as Vice President and a member of the
Management Committee of the Company with effect from 10 May
2018 to focus on the other business of Everbright International, the
Company’s controlling shareholder. Therefore, he did not receive any
bonus from the Company in FY2018.

The aggregate amount of the total remuneration paid to the
key management personnel is SGD2,376,000 (including the
remuneration which Mr. Luo Junling received from the Company
during FY2018 for his capacity as a key management personnel).

There are no employees of the Group who are immediate
family members of a Director and whose remuneration exceeds
SGD50,000 during FY2018.

The China Everbright Water Limited Employee Share Option
Scheme (the “Scheme”) was approved by shareholders at the
Company’s special general meeting (*“SGM”) held on 27 October
2011. The Group has granted options to the Directors and the
key executives under the Scheme on 15 November 2013 and the
options granted have been fully exercised by the employees and
the Directors of the Company.

The Scheme has been terminated with effect from 4 December
2018.
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As at 4 December 2018, being the termination date, there was no
outstanding share option granted under the Scheme, which had
not been exercised.

(C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Accountability

The Board’s primary role is to protect and enhance long-term
value and returns for shareholders. In the discharge of its duties
to shareholders, the Board, when reporting the Group’s financial
performance via SGXNET announcements and the Annual Report,
has a responsibility to present a fair assessment of the Group’s
financial performance, position and prospects. The Management
currently provides the Board with detailed management accounts
of the Group’s performance, position and prospects on a
quarterly basis and/or when requested. Such reports provide
key business indicators and major issues relevant to the Group’s
performance, position and prospects. Directors have access to
the Management at all times.

In line with the Listing Rules of the SGX, the Board provides a
negative assurance statement to the shareholders in its quarterly
financial statements announcements, confirming to the best of its
knowledge that nothing had come to the attention of the Board
which might render the financial statements false or misleading in
any material aspect.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Group’s internal controls and management systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance
to the integrity and reliability of the financial information and
to safeguard and maintain the accountability of the assets.
While no cost-effective internal control system can provide
absolute assurance against loss or misstatement, the AC, with
the participation of the Board, has reviewed the adequacy of
the Group’s internal controls and systems to ensure that they
are designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are
safeguarded, operational controls are in place, business risks
are suitably managed, proper accounting records are maintained
and the integrity of financial information used for business and
publication is preserved.

The internal auditors conduct annual review of the effectiveness of
the Group’s key internal controls including financial, operational,
compliance, information technology and sustainability risks
management. The external auditors during the conduct of
their normal audit procedures may also report on matters
relating to internal control. Any material non-compliance and
recommendation for improvements are reported to the AC. The
AC also reviews and continues to monitor the effectiveness of the
actions taken by the Management on the recommendations made
by the internal and external auditors in this respect.
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Based on the work performed by the internal and external
auditors, the AC reviews the findings from the internal and
external auditors on the Group’s internal controls and the
Management’s responses to the auditors’ recommendations for
improvement to the Group’s internal controls and discussions
with the auditors and Management. The Company may, from
time to time, appoint external advisers to facilitate the Company
to assess and identify the key risks and the related key controls
established by the Company. The first engagement of such
external adviser was for the financial year ended 31 December
2015, during which such external adviser. had determined that
the Group’s internal controls were adequate and effective enough
in mitigating key risks of the Group. In April 2018, the Group
engaged another external consulting firm as its independent
internal control consultant to conduct a review of the internal
control measures relating to its business operations with a
view to identifying irregularities and furnishing internal control
recommendations on remedial actions in order to enhance its
internal control system generally. Based on the reviews and
findings of such internal control consultant, the Directors are of
the view that the Group’s internal controls remain adequate and
effective enough in mitigating key risks of the Group. The AC will
review the needs for the engagement of such external adviser in
reviewing the Group’s internal control system on an annual basis,
and if needed, will make such recommendation to the Board.

In addition, the Company have implemented two major
management systems to address risks in different aspects of the
Company, namely the Risk Management System and the ESHS
Management System. The Risk Management System provides the
procedures for risk identification and assessment, risk register
compilation, risk tactics development, risk event management,
risk event reporting, and the review and audit of such system.
The Company updates its risk register on a quarterly basis. Any
material findings on the risk management will be escalated to
the AC and the Board. The ESHS Management System provides
a series of standard operating procedures to address the
environmental, safety, health and social responsibility risks.

The Board has received assurance from the CEO and the CFO
that the financial records of the Company have been properly
maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the Company’s operations and finances; and regarding the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The risk management is subject to the AC and no other dedicated
committee at the Board level is set up. Nonetheless, a Risk
Assessment Committee is set up by the Company to assist the
Management Committee in making decisions on new investment
projects. In relation to the investment project which is subject to
the Board’s approval, the Risk Assessment Committee’s findings
and recommendations will also be submitted to the Board for
consideration. More details about the Risk Assessment Committee
are set out in paragraphs below in this Corporate Governance
Report under sub-section “Internal Management”.
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The Company’s Legal and Risk Management Department is
responsible for summarising the risk management results of each
department and regional management centre and assessing
the potential material risks confronting the Group according
to the risk management program of the Group, formulating and
implementing the risk management plan for the next year. The
Legal and Risk Management Department is also responsible for
maintaining and updating the Company’s register of risks.

The Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is satisfied with the
adequacy of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems in addressing financial, operational, compliance and
information technology controls and sustainability risks as at
31 December 2018 and that Management has taken efforts to
minimise the risk of recurrence of such lapses.

Audit Committee
The AC comprises:

(i) Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul (AC Chairman & Independent
Director);

(ii) Mr. Zhai Haitao (Independent Director);

(i) Ms. Cheng Fong Yee (Independent Director); and

(iv)  Ms. Hao Gang (Independent Director)

The Board considers Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul, who is a Chartered
Financial Analyst and has extensive and practical financial
management knowledge and experience, well qualified to chair
the AC.

Majority of the AC members have an accounting or finance
background. The members of the AC, collectively, have recent
and relevant accounting or related financial management
expertise or experience to discharge the AC’s responsibilities.

The AC has explicit authority to investigate any matter within its
terms of reference. It has full access to, and the co-operation
of the Management and full discretion to invite any Director or
any key executive to attend its meetings. The AC has adequate
resources, including access to external auditors, to enable it to
discharge its responsibilities properly.

The AC met four times in FY2018 and the relevant Directors and
Management members were invited to attend the meetings.
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The functions of the AC include:

(1)

(9)

reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and
judgements so as to ensure the integrity of the financial
statements of the Group and any announcements relating
to the Group’s financial performance;

reviewing and reporting to the Board the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, comprising
financial, operational, compliance and information
technology controls, including procedures for entering
into hedging transactions (such review can be carried out
internally or by third parties);

reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit
function;

reviewing the scope and results of the external audit, and
the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

making recommendations to the Board on the proposals
to the shareholders on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditors, and approving the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors;

reviewing any interested person transactions as defined in
the SGX Listing Rules;

reviewing potential conflicts of interest, if any, including
reviewing and considering transactions in which there
may be potential conflicts of interests between the Group
and interested persons and recommending whether
those who are in a position of conflict should abstain
from participating in any discussions or deliberations of
the Board or voting on resolutions of the Board of the
shareholders in relation to such transactions as well as
to ensure that proper measures to mitigate such conflicts
of interest have been put in place;

reviewing the rectification measures and internal control
measures relating to regulatory issues involving the Group’s
licences, permits or certificates etc;

reviewing the investments in our customers, suppliers
and competitors made by the Directors, controlling
shareholders and their respective associates who are
involved in management of the Group or have shareholding
interests in similar or related business of the Group and
making assessments on whether there are any potential
conflicts of interests and ensuring that proper measures to
mitigate such conflicts of interests have been put in place;
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(10) reviewing the statements to be included in the annual
report concerning the adequacy of internal controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls,
and risk management systems;

(11) monitoring the implementation of outstanding internal
control recommendations and/or observations highlighted
by the external auditors in the course of their audit of the
statutory financial statements;

(12) reviewing whistle-blowing investigations within the Group
and ensuring appropriate follow-up action, if required;

(13) planning and overseeing the implementation of the
measures in respect of the legal representatives of the PRC
subsidiaries;

(14) undertaking such other reviews and projects as may
be requested by the Board, and report to the Board its
findings from time to time on matters arising and requiring
the attention of the AC; and

(15) generally undertaking such other functions and duties as
may be required by statutes or the SGX Listing Rules, or
by such amendments as may be made thereto from time to
time on a quarterly basis.

The AC meets with the internal auditors and external auditors
separately, at least once a year, without the presence of the
Management to review any matter that might be raised.

The AC and the external auditors have discussed the significant
issues in financial reporting throughout the year at the AC
meetings. As set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 75 to 82, the following significant issues were discussed
with the management and the external auditors and were
reviewed by the AC:
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Significant issues
BEAXEIR

How the issue was addressed by the AC
HIIEREERXER LAIRRG E

Service concession arrangements
and revenue recognition

IRSBFHFIZ HERMINIA

The key area reviewed by the AC on revenue recognition was the
service concession arrangements of water treatment plants under IFRIC
12. The AC received confirmation from the Management that consistent
accounting policy was applied throughout the year for recognising
revenue under IFRIC 12. The AC assessed the competency, capability
and objectivity of the Group’s independent financial model consultant. The
AC also considered the approach, methodology and key assumptions
applied to the financial model for the determination of the fair value of
construction services. The AC is satisfied with the appropriateness of the
methodology applied and the reasonableness of the key assumptions
used.
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Recoverability of trade receivables
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The AC and the Board receive regular updates from the Management
on the ageing analysis of trade receivables, the progress of trade
receivables collection and repayment schedule discussions with
customers in the year. The AC is satisfied with the attention and effort
taken by the Management on the receivables collection. Besides taking
into account the opinion and findings from the Management and the
external auditors, the AC also considered and reviewed the methodology
used in the estimation of impairment loss of trade receivables and the
appropriateness, completeness and reasonableness of the factors used
in the estimation based on their knowledge of the business of the Group,
the industry, and the current and future economic environment.
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The AC is satisfied that provision for impairment loss of trade receivables
as at 31 December 2018 was adequate.
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Impairment assessment of goodwill

BER{E

The AC considered the approach and methodology applied by the
Management on both the assessment for impairment indicators and the
impairment assessment of goodwill. In addition to considering opinion
and findings from the Management and the external auditors, the AC also
reviewed the approach used in the valuation and the reasonableness of
key assumptions used in the cash flows forecast, including future revenue
growth rate, operating margin, terminal growth rate and discount rate

based on their knowledge of the business of the Group and the industry.
B ERSE R T EE R ERERUSAEERENS R BN EREE.
BRERT EEEMIMERITITNENMARIN, FHERRSIEREENAER
RAITIN ST AR A IS REUPERNEERIREER
SRR, EEAER, KIS KERR IR SEEH TR,

The AC is satisfied with the appropriateness of the methodology applied
and the reasonableness of the key assumptions used.

HIRRESWATRAGIEZ S EEERMEFHERRIR A EEER T #E.

Following the review and discussions, the AC recommended to
the Board to approve the full year financial statements for FY2018.

During the financial year under review, the AC has reviewed and
noted that there were no non-audit services provided to the Group
by the external auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, and thus is satisfied
that the independence and objectivity of the external auditor
will not be prejudiced. The AC is pleased to recommend their
re-appointment.

The fees paid or payable to the external auditor is set out on page
155 of this Annual Report.

The AC is satisfied that the Company has complied with Rules
712, 715 and 716 of the SGX Listing Rules in relation to the
appointment of its external auditors for FY2018 and in making the
above-mentioned appointment recommendation.

The Company has put in place a whistle-blowing policy (the
“Policy”) to provide an avenue to all Directors and employees to
report any concern or complaint regarding financial reporting and
questionable accounting practices; criminal offences, unlawful
and/or unethical acts, fraud, corruption, bribery and blackmail;
failure to comply with legal or regulatory obligations and
concealment of any of the abovementioned issues.

During the financial year, there was no whistle-blowing report
received by the AC regarding the above-mentioned concerns.

An e-mail address and a special telephone number are set up
to allow whistle-blowers to contact the AC Chairman directly. All
concerns or irregularities raised will be treated with confidence
and every effort will be made to ensure that confidentiality is
maintained throughout the process.
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The AC is guided by the terms of reference which stipulate its
principal functions.

The AC meets regularly with the Management and the external
auditors to review auditing and risk management matters
and discuss accounting implication of any major transactions
including significant financial reporting issues. It also reviews the
internal audit functions to ensure the adequacy and an effective
system of control is maintained in the Group.

On a quarterly basis, the AC also reviews the interested person
transactions and the financial results announcements before their
submission to the Board for approval.

The AC is well informed by the Management and the external
auditors of change to accounting standards, the SGX Listing
Rules and other regulations which could have an impact on the
Group’s business and financial statements.

No former partners or director of the Company’s existing audit
firm is a member of the AC.

Internal Audit

The objective of the internal audit function is to provide an
independent review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
controls and provide reasonable assurance to the AC and the
Management that the Group’s risk management, controls and
governance processes are adequate and effective.

The AC approves the recruitment, removal, evaluation of the
internal auditors.

The Company has an Internal Audit Department (“lIA”) to
strengthen the internal audit function and promote sound risk
management, including financial, operational, compliance,
information technology controls, sustainability and good corporate
governance.

The IA reports primarily to the AC Chairman and has full
access to the documents, records, properties and personnel of
the Company and of the Group. The IA reports to the AC on a
quarterly basis regarding the progress and major findings of
the internal audit process. The AC reviews at least annually the
adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function of the
Company and ensures that the Company’s internal audit team
is formed by the sufficient number of personnel with relevant
qualifications and experience.

The Board recognises that it is responsible for maintaining a
system of internal control to safeguard shareholders’ investments
and the Group’s businesses and assets, while the Management is
responsible for establishing and implementing the internal control
procedures in a timely and appropriate manner.
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IA's main scope of work covers the review and evaluation
of processes and areas of concerns identified. |IA assists
Management in enhancing existing risk management initiatives
and carry out regular independent monitoring of key controls and
procedures. The findings and recommendations in relation to
the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and process
improvements will be presented to the AC and the Management.

The AC is satisfied that the internal audit function has adequate
resources to perform its functions effectively.

Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses
noted during reviews are reported together with recommended
corrective actions to the AC on a regular basis. In particular,
the Company had certain outstanding licenses and/or permits
in relation to its business and operations as at November 2014
(“Licenses and/or Permits”) as disclosed in the Company’s
circular dated 12 November 2014. The IA followed up on the
status and noted that the Company had obtained most of
such Licenses and/or Permits in the financial years ended
31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017 and had disclosed such
progress in the relevant annual reports. The Company did not
have any further update in FY2018.

The results of the internal audit findings are also shared with the
external auditors to assist them in their audit planning and also for
them to perform further checks on the weak areas identified.

(D) STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT
The Strategy Committee (“SC”) comprises:

(i) Mr. Wang Tianyi (SC Chairman, Non-Executive Director &
Chairman of Board);

(ii) Mr. An Xuesong (Executive Director & CEO);

(i) Mr. Luo Junling (Executive Director & CFO); and

(iv)  Ms. Hao Gang (Independent Director).

The SC is primarily responsible for assisting the Board in
providing strategic direction to the Company and overseeing
the strategic planning of the Company and the implementation
of such strategies; reviewing the medium-term and long-
term strategic objectives proposed by the Management and
overseeing Management’'s performance in relation to such
strategies; considering sustainability issues in formulating
strategies and overseeing the monitoring and management of the
environmental, social and governance factors that are material to
the business of the Company.
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The SC was established in May 2018, with the main objective
to assist the Board in oversight responsibilities relating to the
planning and implementation of the Company’s development
strategies. It currently comprises Non-Executive, Executive
and Independent Directors. The SC will hold meetings as and
when necessary. During its meetings, the SC may invite the key
management personnel to join and discuss on the Company’s
strategies and development directions. The SC will then report its
recommendations on the Company’s development strategies to
the Board for discussion and approval.

(E) INTERNAL MANAGEMENT
The Management Committee (“MC”) comprises:
(i) Mr. An Xuesong (MC Chairman, Executive Director & CEO);

(ii) Mr. Luo Junling (Executive Director & CFO);

(i) Mr. Wang Yuexing (Vice President);

(iv)  Mr. Wang Guanping (Vice President);

(v Mr. Zhang Guofeng (Vice President);

(vi)  Mr. Sun Linbo (Vice President); and

(vii)  Mr. Niu Kesheng (CEO Assistant).

The MC is responsible for the management of daily business
operations, formulating and implementing annual work tasks
and medium-term development plans for the Group. The MC is
the decision-making authority for the day-to-day operations,
management and personnel matters.

The MC holds meetings on a regular and ad hoc basis. It
holds meetings at least once a month and has a weekly
communication mechanism. The MC reviews and discusses, the
Group’s investment proposals on new projects, appointment and
removal of key executives at headquarter departments, regional
management centres and project companies, performance
appraisals, status of financial budget execution and the major
works done and progress of the headquarter departments and
regional management centres, etc.

To assist the MC in decision-making process, the Company
also established a Risk Assessment Committee (“RAC”) and an
Engineering and Technology Committee (“ETC”) to assess the
risks and make recommendations in undertaking new investment
projects and construction works. Any new investment project,
before submitted to the MC for consideration, will be reviewed
by the RAC and the ETC respectively. The MC will then take into
account the findings and recommendations made by the RAC
and ETC. In relation to investment project with investment amount
exceeding certain threshold, Board’s approval will be sought
before the definitive agreement is executed.
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In relation to each meeting held by the MC, minutes duly signed
by its chairman (being the CEQO) will be retained by the Company
as records.

(F) COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholder Rights

To facilitate shareholders’ ownership rights, the Company ensures
that all material information is disclosed on a comprehensive,
accurate and timely basis via SGXNET, especially information
pertaining to the Group’s business development and financial
performance which could have a material impact on the share
price of the Company, so as to enable shareholders to make
informed decisions in respect of their investment in the Company.
To ensure a timely and equal disclosure to all its shareholders,
the Company also uploads all its press releases, analyst briefing
presentations and other disclosure documents which includes
material information on the SGXNET.

The Management supports the Code’s principle to encourage
shareholder participation. Shareholders are encouraged to
attend the shareholders’ meetings to ensure a high level of
accountability and to stay informed of the Company’s strategy
and goals. Notices are despatched to shareholders, published
in the Business Times as well as uploaded onto the SGXNET.
The Company also prepares and uploads the Management's
presentation slides to be used at the general meetings in
advance. The Board welcomes questions from shareholders
who have an opportunity to raise issues either informally or
formally before or at the shareholders’ meeting. To facilitate
the shareholders’ communication with the Directors and the
Management of the Company, a question and answer session is
held at all the general meetings before voting is carried out.

The Company conducts poll voting for all resolutions to be
passed in its general meetings. The rules, including voting
procedures, will be explained by the scrutineers in the
forthcoming AGM. If any shareholder is unable to attend general
meetings, the Company’s Bye-laws allow each shareholder
to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote at all general
meetings on his/her behalf. Meeting minutes are prepared for all
the general meetings (including the details of the question and
answer sessions therein) and are properly maintained as the
Company’s records.

In line with continuous disclosure obligations of the Company, and
pursuant to the SGX Listing Rules and the Bermuda Companies
Act, the Board ensures that shareholders are fully informed of
all major developments that impact the Group on a timely and
equally basis.
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Information is disseminated to the shareholders on a timely basis
through:

[ SGXNET announcements;
i) press releases;
i

(
(
(ii results briefing and analyst briefing presentations;
(
(

=

iv)  Annual Reports; and
v)  Company’s website at www.ebwater.com,
shareholders can access information on the Group.

at which

The Company does not practise selective disclosure of material
information. All materials on the quarterly and full year results
briefing for media and analysts are available on the SGXNET and
the Company’s website — www.ebwater.com.

All Directors are encouraged to attend the Company’s general
meetings. In the AGM for FY2017, all Directors (including the
Chairman of the Board and the CEO) and the CFO attended the
meeting to answer the questions from the shareholders. At the
forthcoming AGM, most Directors (including the Chairman of
the Board, the CEO, the CFO and the chairman of each Board
Committee) will also be available to answer questions relating
to the Company’s performance and development as well as
work of the Board Committees. The external auditor and the
Legal Counsel and Company Secretary will also be present to
assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries from the
shareholders.

Our Management acknowledges that effective communication
with investors is of paramount importance to the Group. In order
to reinforce mutual understanding between shareholders and the
Company, we have established and maintained a number of ways
to strengthen our communication with investors.

Measures that the Company has taken are as follows:

(a)  making notifications on SGXNET about the dates on which
the Company’s quarterly and full year financial statements
are released, around two weeks prior to such release;

(b)  organising quarterly analyst briefings to explain our latest
published financial information as well as to provide our
business update when necessary;

(c) attending meetings or telephone conferences requested
by investors, shareholders or analysts on an ongoing basis
throughout the year to assist them in understanding the
latest updates relating to the Company;

(d) organising road shows for our investors or potential
investors. This may be done solely by ourselves or
coordinated with investment banks;

(e) organising site visits by investors or potential investors to
our projects; and
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(f) ensuring important information of the Group will be
announced in a timely manner without delay.

The Company’s investor relations officer can also be reached via
ir@ebater.com to answer any questions which the investors may
raise relating to the Company’s business.

The Group does not have a policy on payment of dividends at
present. However, the Company declared and distributed interim
dividend for FY2018 of SGDO0.0049 per share, and the Board
has recommended a distribution of a final dividend for FY2018
of SGD0.0050 per share subject to shareholders’ approval. The
shareholders may elect to receive dividends in the form of scrip
in lieu of cash for the final dividend for FY2018. Details of such
dividend payments will be disclosed via SGXNET when available.

(G) CONDUCT OF SHAREHOLDERS MEETINGS

Shareholders are informed of shareholders’ meetings through
notices contained in annual reports or circulars sent to all
shareholders. These notices are also published in the Business
Times and posted onto the SGXNET. The Company also prepares
and uploads the Management’s presentation slides to be used at
the general meetings in advance.

If shareholders are unable to attend the meetings, the Bye-laws
allow a shareholder of the Company to appoint not more than two
proxies to attend and vote on his/her behalf.

Resolutions at general meetings are on each substantially
separate issue. All the resolutions at the general meetings are
single item resolutions.

All Directors (including the Chairman of the Board, the CEO, the
CFO and the respective chairman of the Board Committees) are
in attendance at the Company’s AGM to address shareholders’
questions relating to the Company’s development and the work of
the Board Committees.

The Company’s external auditors and the Legal Counsel and
Company Secretary are also invited to attend the AGM and
are available to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant
queries by the shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit
and the preparation and content of the auditors’ report.

The Board views the AGMs as the principal forum for dialogue
with shareholders, being an opportunity for shareholders to raise
issues pertaining to the resolutions tabled for approval and/
or ask the Directors or the Management questions regarding
the Company and its operations. Minutes are prepared for all
the general meetings (including the details of the question
and answer sessions therein) and properly maintained as the
Company’s records.
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To have greater transparency in the voting process, with effect
from the 2014 AGM, the Company has conducted the voting of
all its resolutions by poll at all its general meetings. The detailed
voting results of each of the resolutions tabled are announced
immediately at the meeting. The total numbers of votes cast for or
against the resolutions are also announced after the meeting via
SGXNET.

(H) DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

In line with Rule 1207(19) of the SGX Listing Rules, the Group
prohibits its Directors and employees from trading in the
Company’s securities on short-term considerations. In addition,
the Group prohibits its Directors and employees from dealing in
the Company’s securities during the periods commencing two
weeks before the announcement of the Group’s first three quarters
results and one month before the announcement of the Group’s
full year results and ending on the date of the announcement of
such results; and when they are in possession of price-sensitive
and confidential information relating to the Group. The Company
issues quarterly reminders to its Directors and employees
regarding their obligations to observe the relevant laws in dealing
in the Company’s securities.

In addition, Directors, employees and connected persons are
expected to observe insider trading laws at all times even when
dealing in securities within the permitted trading period.

(U] MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There are no material contracts of the Group involving the
interests of any Director or controlling shareholder subsisting at
the end of FY2018, or entered into since the end of the previous
financial year.

) INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company has established procedures to ensure that
all transactions with interested persons are conducted on
arm’s length basis and not prejudicial to the interests of the
shareholders. In particular, the Company generally requires
obtaining of at least two other quotations from unrelated
counterparties for similar services or products and will only enter
into transactions with an interested person if the terms are no less
favourable than those offered by the unrelated counterparties. In
relation to an interested person transaction (“IPT”) with value in
excess of SGD100,000, the entry into such transaction will also
be subject to review and approval by the CFO, the CEO, the Audit
Committee or the Board, depending on the contract value of such
transaction. The AC also reviews the summary of the IPTs on a
quarterly basis.
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The Group obtained a general mandate (“IPT Mandate”) from
shareholders for IPTs during its AGM held on 25 April 2018
pursuant to Rule 920 of the SGX-ST Listing Rules. The aggregate
value of the IPTs in excess of SGD100,000 during FY2018 are set
out as follows:

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
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Name of interested person

KEXA LB

Aggregate value of all IPTs during
FY2018 (excluding transactions
less than SGD100,000 and
transactions conducted under the
IPT Mandate)

=T /)\MBFEAXRRKALZZHRT

Aggregate value of all IPTs
conducted under the IPT Mandate
(excluding transactions less than
SGD100,000)

RIEXERA TR ZIBIFREHITAIKERA
ITRZHRITEH (£8P F 100,000

FHEARKBAGREEIRAT]

&8 (2FHWLPF100,0003F00ETCHARIE | FIONBETTROIZZRERIP)

KIXA LB TRIZZZBRIM)
China Everbright International HK$3,906,414 HK$68,573,715
Limited (equivalent to SGD672,303) (equivalent to SGD11,801,689)
FEDEAERERAT) 3,906,414357T 68,573,71585T

(Z5E672,3035I04%7T) (%&11,801,689FM4IT)
Everbright Securities Company Nil HK$6,350,728
Limited 7 (equivalent to SGD1,092,974)
KRUESRHBIRAE] 6,350,728 7T
(281,092,974 MK TT)

Sun Life Everbright Life Nil HK$1,462,572
Insurance Co., Ltd 7 (equivalent to SGD251,712)

1,462,57237T
(5{8251,71 28008 T)
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We are pleased to submit this Annual Report to the members of
the Company together with the audited financial statements for
the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

In our opinion:

(a)  the financial statements are drawn up so as to present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2018
and the financial performance, changes in equity and
cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards; and

(b)  at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds
to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as
and when they fall due.

Directors
The Directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Wang Tianyi

An Xuesong

Luo Junling

Zhai Haitao

Lim Yu Neng Paul
Cheng Fong Yee
Hao Gang

Directors’ interests

According to the register of Directors’ shareholdings, none of the
Directors holding office at the end of the financial year had any
interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related
corporations, except as follows:
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Holdings registered Directors are deemed
in the name of Directors to have an interest
LATEEZ N Eio ZhEi ERIEM BB ZEN
As at As at
As at 31/12/2018 As at 31/12/2018
Name of Director and 11/2018 #HE—F—/)\ 1/1/2018 #HE—F—/)\
corporation in which B INEZERHE #="%F-)\ Ft+RBA=t+ 8BETFT-)/\ SF+"A=1+
interests are held RABEIR £—H—H —A —H—H —A
The Company ¥ /N
Ordinary shares el
Lim Yu Neng Paul MiERE - - 1,608,909 1,608,909
Cheng Fong Yee FBRUKL 622,266 622,266 - -
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
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Directors’ interests (cont’d)

None of the Directors who held office at the end of the financial
year had interests in share options, warrants or debentures of the
Company or of related corporations, either at the beginning or at
the end of the financial year.

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests
in the Company between the end of the financial year and
21 January 2019.

Share options
Employee share option scheme

On 27 October 2011, the Company established an employee
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) that entitles key
management personnel and controlling shareholders to purchase
shares in the Company at an exercise price determined by the
committee established to administer the Scheme. The Scheme
was terminated during the year ended 31 December 2018.

There were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries
under options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries as at
the end of the financial year.

The options granted by the Company do not entitle the holders of
the options, by virtue of such holding, to any rights to participate
in any share issue of any other company.

Warrants

As at the end of the financial year, there were no warrants issued
by the Company to take up any unissued shares of the Company.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this statement
are as follows:

Lim Yu Neng Paul ~ (Chairman)
Zhai Haitao (Member)
Cheng Fong Yee (Member)
Hao Gang (Member)

All members of the Audit Committee are independent and non-
executive directors. The Audit Committee carried out its functions
as required by the SGX-ST Listing Manual and the Code of
Corporate Governance.
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Audit Committee (cont’d)

Based on the internal control established and maintained by
the Group, the work performed by the internal and external
auditors (to the extent as required by them to form an opinion
on the financial statements), and the reviews conducted by the
Management, the Board, with the concurrence of the Audit
Committee, is of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls
addressing financial, operational and compliance risks were
adequate as at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

The Audit Committee has held four meetings since the last
directors’ statement. In performing its functions, the Audit
Committee met with the Company’s external and internal auditors
to discuss the scope of their work, the results of their examination
and evaluation of the Company’s internal accounting control
system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:

° assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the
internal and external auditors;

° quarterly financial information and annual financial
statements of the Group and the Company prior to their
submission to the Directors of the Company for adoption;
and

° interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of
the SGX-ST Listing Manual).

The Audit Committee has full access to the Management and
is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions.
It has full authority and the discretion to invite any Director or
executive officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also
recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews
the level of audit and non-audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor and has recommended to the
Board that the auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, be nominated for re-
appointment as auditor of the Company at the forthcoming AGM
of the Company.
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Auditor i

The auditor, Ernst & Young LLP has expressed its willingness to  ®itlfiErnst & Young LLPERREEESHEX
accept re—appointment as auditor. ISR LTI,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, KEESFS

Wang Tianyi FXX

Non-Executive Director and Chairman IFITESFHFESK

An Xuesong REN

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer HUTESFRER

14 March 2019 “F-NEF=A1IH
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To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
HPEHEAKSBIRLEIRER

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of China Everbright
Water Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position of the Group and the statement of financial
position of the Company as at 31 December 2018, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of the Group and the statement of financial position
of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) so as to
present fairly, in all material respects the consolidated financial
position of the Group and the financial position of the Company
as at 31 December 2018 and of the consolidated financial
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated
cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting
Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed
in the context of the audit of the financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters (cont’d)

We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
HPEHEAKSBIRLEIRER

KEHITEIR (£2)

BNELEITT ARG "SI E#kE
HITHIZE HOEANRE, SESXEXRE
HITEIERAIRE. BN, Bl I(F
BTN AR SRR ERBIRXL T
RIS ER. BIPUTHIMEFNER, 8
BN NIRRT ST TRIRER, AW
RRBINEREITRRA T E,

matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the

accompanying financial statements.

The key audit matter
KiEHITEIR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

FAIRYEE T NI ERIZ SRR

IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Arrangements
(“IFRIC 12”) and Revenue Recognition
EliFfMSIREMSBEEERRITRE12S - RSIHTFNE
HERRUINGRIA

The Group enters into service concession
arrangements with municipals in the People’s
Republic of China to build and/or operate water/waste
water treatment plants. The Group recognises the
consideration for the construction services as financial
assets and/or intangible assets for service concession
arrangements within the scope of IFRIC 12. As the
related amounts are material and the application of
IFRIC 12 requires significant management judgement,
we identified this as a key audit matter.

RER ST BRER RS /KGR NEIER/HIEEIT
RESFITFNEHE, REANEERUSREIEEZRRIERE
F 125 EENNRSFITEETHFRIZIERS XN HHIA
NEMER/BTHET. BTFSERUSREEEER
SERE12SHEXRNPUANRZ-NEMEABETEEER
EHEAHMT, FIMSZETUATEAREH TSI,

The Group applies IFRIC 12 in its recognition of
revenue from service concession arrangements, which
includes revenue relating to construction services,
operation income and finance income. Disclosure of
the revenue is included in notes 2.4, 3 and 5 to the
financial statements.

REFAXRBERVSREERZERIERFE12SHIASIR
SEPNZHFR RN, BERERSEA. EERAN
TSI, WINRIIEESIREM S5 RARMIE2.4, BEE3FOR
xS,

We assessed the appropriateness of the Group’s
revenue recognition policies, evaluated the Group’s
process in assessing the applicability of IFRIC 12 and
also reviewed the associated agreements to assess
whether these agreements are appropriately identified
as service concession arrangements to be within the
scope of IFRIC 12.
BANHMEREEANANFABCRAGES M, T SRERFT
EfRVSREEREZERSIEEF 12SERAUNRER, HE
ZHERMNY, LUHMEIZS MRS WIS SAE BT ERR
WEIREEEZRRIETESE 1 2S5 BRI NAIRSFRTINEHE,

We considered the competence, capability and
objectivity of the independent consultant and
surveyors engaged by management. We reviewed the
progress reports for projects under construction and
the reasonableness of the revenue recognised over
time.

BAVE BT IIE =TS AR R IR ATIRR M, BT
BEDFNENE. o, BAIESERTEEMBNTIHER
&, LARBER A AR AR SR,
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To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
HPEHEAKSBIRLEIRER

Key audit matters (cont’d)

The key audit matter (cont’d)
KHEEITEIR (48)

SRS LTRSS

KEHITEIR (£2)

How the matter was addressed in our audit (cont’d)

ARV IH NI RIZ RN (4E)

IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Arrangements
(“IFRIC 12”) and Revenue Recognition (cont’d)
EliFMSIREMSBIEEERRITRE12S - RSIHTFNE
HERMINTRIA (48)

Construction service revenue is measured based
on the Group’s estimation of the fair value of
construction services and the percentage of
construction completed during the year. Significant
judgement is required in determining the fair value
of the construction services and involves estimation
of the total construction costs and the margin for
each contract. The Group engaged an independent
financial modeling consultant to assist in the estimation
of the fair value of the construction services. The
percentage of construction completed during the year
is estimated based on the survey of work performed
by independent surveyors with relevant qualifications
and industry experience. Judgement is required in
estimating the percentage of construction completed.

BRI T RIER ERGITRIZIERS A RINMER
FRETITENESUHTE. BERERSOQNERT
EEEREHEXRAN, SEMYEIERNSEERAH
FiE. REFREIRMSEEMAD I ETHRERSHA
ME. TR AR LEEKIEREEEXERMTIZIH
B RENFIHERS R, HEETRAEER
FURT.

We reviewed management’s computation of amortised
cost of financial receivables/contract assets and
intangible assets and allocation of consideration
between financial receivables/contract assets and
intangible assets and the related revenue recognised
during the year and tested key estimates including
discount rates used by management by comparing
to the relevant market interest rates to identify any
inappropriate estimates.

BMNEZ T EEENSRMNKIKR/ &SRB =ML &~
RIPEERATTE. SRNKIKR/ ER& ST &I
MO ELARIBXRAMINGSA, M EEEFHNEEMLT,

BEREEEERITINRSHZFIERETIR, WAEE
EftitEEaEEE.

We engaged our internal specialists to review the
valuation methodology and the reasonableness of
certain key assumptions such as the margin used
and the industry comparable companies in the
determination of the fair value of the construction
services in the financial model.

HAISE T LR NEBE ZOHMEETT i ZRIE S LU ASERIE
BRIR (ANERRFESRMIHGEIEIRS 2 et EREERY
WARRILEAT) HSEEHITER.

We also considered the adequacy of the disclosures
related to service concession arrangements in the
financial statements.

HA NG 7 REREM SRR SRS HME XK E
ROES AT D .
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Key audit matters (cont’d)

The key audit matter (cont’d)
KHEEITEIR (48)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
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To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
HPEHEAKSBIRLEIRER

KEHITER (£2)

How the matter was addressed in our audit (cont’d)

ARV IH NI RIZ RN (4E)

Recoverability of trade receivables

B MEERATU T

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had trade
receivables amounting to HK$721,281,000, net
of expected credit losses (“ECL”) allowance of
HK$49,888,000. The Group determines impairment
losses by making debtor-specific assessment of ECL
for credit impaired debtors and has established a
provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment for the remaining group of debtors.
HEF-/\FT+A=1T—H, 2EANKKRRER
79721,281,000/7T, SHRTEMERSHR ( "REIEES
]R" ) 1Kt549,888,000/87T. SREFREEIHMES AR
HAEMIRKITHERIT BT E R SIR. REFACEVETR
SENSEERSRICRAVREEME, THERSAREFE
BRI REM T LR,

The estimation of impairment loss of trade receivables
is based on the evaluation of collectability and
ageing analysis of trade receivables as well as
expectation of forward-looking factors. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, taking into
consideration the current creditworthiness and the
past collection history of each debtor. Accordingly, we
identified this as a key audit matter. Disclosures of the
trade receivables are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 22
to the financial statements.

RIS RK R ARIEXS [ AT . RIUIERIKES 54
AR RIBEME ERATTUHA S A i, RN IR &
KaWEEme, SEHMEERRS AN EMEREULE
MRS ANUERM RS, FERERTFINT, FEFEI)S%
BIVAEARBERITSERN. NMKKRAIEXMLEESRGE
WEIREMGE2.4, BHE3RMHE22,

We obtained an understanding of management’s
processes relating to the monitoring of trade
receivables.

BT R T B RN KERAIER AR,

In assessing the adequacy of the ECL allowance,
we reviewed the ageing analysis of the debtors to
identify potential collectability issues, reviewed data
used in management’s assessment of default rates
and assessed the reasonableness of management’s
assumptions used in establishing the forward-
looking adjustments. In addition, we discussed
with management about the status of significant
overdue individual debtors’ balance, management’s
consideration of the debtors’ specific profiles and
risks, reviewed settlement history and assessed
management’s assumptions used to determine
the ECL allowance. We also requested direct
confirmations and considered receipts subsequent to
the year end.
THETHERSIRERRY, BIIEX T RKIKERAIMKES,
LURBIBENERHEEE,; FS% T EBEERUITEEE
FAGEUE, AL EEEERIREMRFREENETARIR
NEEY, B, BRIESEEE, MEIRNEREIIRIN
KRR ER, EEEIHZIRS ARABIRAXEAIE RS,
BTIHe, BAIEERTWREIWNGESE, ML TEER
RTHRERERSRIREIIRIR. FAIEZERWIKFRIIIE
RIERERIER, FeE T ERFKAIIER.

We further considered the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures regarding the estimation uncertainty
involved in determining the ECL allowance.

B —2 TS T REE U E R SRR T EHRY ST
NMEEMEZEARERESRS.
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To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
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Key audit matters (cont’d)

The key audit matter (cont’d)
KHEEITEIR (48)
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KEHEITER (£2)

How the matter was addressed in our audit (cont’d)

ARV IH NI RIZ RN (4E)

Impairment assessment of goodwill

P E R E R

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets requires goodwill to be
tested annually for impairment or more frequently
when there is an indication that the cash—generating
unit (“CGU”) may be impaired. This assessment
requires the exercise of significant judgement about
the future market conditions, including future cash
flows to be generated from the continuing use of
the water/waste water treatment plants over the
service concession period. The determination of
the recoverable amount requires judgement in both
identification and valuation of the relevant CGU.
Accordingly, we identified this as a key audit matter.
The Group determined that the water environment
management segment was accounted for as a
collective CGU for the purpose of impairment testing.
The impairment assessment was determined using a
value—in-use model based on the discounted cash
flows projection. Assumptions such as estimated
key financial data, the growth rate and discount rate
used to determine the discounted cash flows required
significant judgements by the Group. As at 31

December 2018, the goodwill carried in the Group’s
financial statements amounted to HK$1,242,713,000.
Disclosures of goodwill are included in notes 2.4, 3
and 17 to the financial statements.

"EfrRitENSE36S - ZmE ERNEEGFHITR
B, EETRKRPRS~HET ( "MEFHPET" )
BIREH IR N B SR EHA TR B, IZUHERII R
kIR EHEAFNT, SEERSEITHIRSKAE
FrFEErIAR kI EnE. JRSHNEEFTENIEH
BTTANRBI R fREIELFIET, B, FITEZETUAERX
BEHEITEN, SEESEESRENESHEBTT - KMNRER
BIRESER, BATRENR. BENRTERLTIIMER
EREMNERNEREEE. BERINESRERREN
BRig, WMEITROXEVSEEE, BREMTNES, 9%
REREHEXHE, #E—F—/\F+"B=+—H, &
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We reviewed the appropriateness of the Group’s
determination of the CGU.

AWML T RERAEER S HRATRIE S,

We assessed the appropriateness of the discount rate
used by assessing the cost of capital of the Company
and comparable organisations in the industry,
and where relevant, using our internal valuation
specialists to independently develop expectations for
the discount rate, and comparing the independent
expectations to those used by management.

BA G T RN L AR S A AL SRR
ERRFTIR, FHTKASMGEESITIERETURZ
AR ER S SRR E R IERE T,

We reviewed the cash flow forecasts by comparing
them to recent and past performance, taking into
consideration the approach used in the valuation
and the reasonableness of key assumption used in
the cash flows forecast, including growth rate and
discount rate. We also assessed the adequacy of
the disclosures made in the financial statements on
the impairment assessment, specifically on the key
assumptions that have the most significant effect on
the determination of the recoverable amount of the
goodwill.

BB FREFAMERIIGIGEERN, ST FERNR
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Other information

The other information consists of the information included in
the annual report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for other
information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial
statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance
that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use
or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that
they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true
and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of
assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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To the Members of China Everbright Water Limited
HPEHEAKSBIRLEIRER

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

° Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal controls.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

JRZERLTIRE

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements (cont’d)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
controls that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Alvin Phua Chun Yen.

Ernst & Young LLP

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
Singapore

14 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 2 AL\ S
BE—E\F+—A=t—AttouEEE | e EENER
Notes 2018 2017
BiiE —T-I/\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&rT Tt
REVENUE L' 9N 5 4,768,318 3,591,633
Direct costs and operating expenses EERAREEFX (3,144,540)  (2,361,046)
Gross profit EF 1,623,778 1,230,587
Other income and gains, net HABMN R FET 6 140,583 129,809
Administrative and other operating TEREMEE
expenses 2= (439,564) (287,021)
Finance income [N 7 17,918 12,463
Finance costs W55 7 (291,398) (241,391)
Share of profits of associates R SERE N SR 422 158
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FRHRIERT 8 1,051,739 844,605
Income tax FriS# 11 (314,984) (263,812)
PROFIT FORTHE YEAR FEERN 736,755 580,793
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hit i
Other comprehensive income that HISH T seE D X E R
may be reclassified to profit or loss FE e mERES:
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation MESIMNVSRSCRER
of foreign operations (67,407) (4,002)
Other comprehensive income not HEEASEHHD EE R
to be reclassified to profit or loss FE e mERES:
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation REANTUFIREERE
of the Company’s financial AL ZERT
statements into the presentation
currency (441,728) 591,893
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREFEEHMSE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME Wres
TAX OF NIL (509,135) 587,891
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEELEEET
FOR THE YEAR 227,620 1,168,684

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

= A\ =& For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
s = Eﬁqﬁﬁﬁ AL Ve Rl b el
Notes 2018 2017
FiiE —F-)\F —F—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
Figc T8I
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO: MGEF:
Equity holders of the Company ARBRIR 676,459 513,356
Non-controlling interests AN 60,296 67,437
736,755 580,793
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME R 2 miiEs
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 25m:
Equity holders of the Company ¥ /NCT 195,887 1,070,925
Non-controlling interests [ 31,733 97,759
227,620 1,168,684
EARNINGS PER SHARE b VNG| vl =
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 27
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13
- Basic and diluted - EANEE HK25.6 cents HK19.6 cents
25.678l 19.67851l

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I

BE_F—/\F+A=1+T—HLHMBFE

RalF IR

The Group
FEH
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
Notes 2018 2017
FiiE —B-)I\&E —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r FB7T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IEREEF~
Property, plant and equipment k., TERIgE 14 144,779 146,064
Prepaid land lease payments TS - HEFE SRR 15 5,372 5,974
150,151 152,038
Intangible assets TH&r 16 1,536,169 1,489,718
Goodwill BE 17 1,242,713 1,259,922
Interests in associates BEAENG 18 3,011 1,445
Trade and other receivables IHIMEER B2 ELAR R IR T 22 159,259 10,515
Service concession financial SRS ERGEXEN
receivables/contract assets SRR/ S REFE 20 11,727,822 10,313,724
Total non-current assets BRI 5N 14,819,125 13,227,362
CURRENT ASSETS bt <
Inventories FE5 21 40,436 14,342
Trade and other receivables RITHTR N EL At R SR 22 1,025,044 805,859
Service concession financial SRS ER R
receivables/contract assets ERINWEI/ B REEF 20 1,424,161 1,200,539
Fixed deposits with maturity FIEAEHA="BLA LB
period over three months e 23 547,050 630,403
Cash and cash equivalents MERMESEHNYD 24 1,728,573 2,169,414
Total current assets TRENEF= S8R 4,765,264 4,820,557
CURRENT LIABILITIES ek
Trade and other payables NIAT MR S AR FRIT 25 1,895,095 1,553,565
Borrowings i e/ 26 2,160,400 1,908,722
Tax payable IVZRETAN 45,083 49,951
Total current liabilities TRENRIREER 4,100,578 3,507,238
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEERE 664,686 1,313,319
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT < Y- R )
LIABILITIES faf& 15,483,811 14,540,681

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

JEI RTHECR R I F 79 AR S AR H I AR

—F—)\SFEIRE | ANNUAL REPORT 2018 85

SN
aNys
aa



A CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
~~ FINANCIAL POSITION

= AHAAZN ] For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
é, Y = )I]7_]‘ 73 '{klﬁi% | HE—T—/)\E+_A=+—HHVEEE
The Group
F: 3-S5
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
Notes 2018 2017
BiiE —E-)\&F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&rT Tt
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREhfa R
Borrowings 5K 26 5,440,376 4,728,030
Deferred tax liabilities BFERT ISR 28 1,379,738 1,270,846
Total non-current liabilities ERBENRIREET 6,820,114 5,998,876
NET ASSETS BEsE 8,663,697 8,541,805
EQUITY W
Equity attributable to equity ARFIRFRIS
holders of the Company 3%+
Share capital 552N 29 2,676,062 2,625,642
Reserves fiEs 30 5,307,128 5,231,541
7,983,190 7,857,183
Non-controlling interests JEEpRINES 680,507 684,622
TOTAL EQUITY 2 8,663,697 8,541,805

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 AXN
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE I Jﬂ\j’ %)Iklﬁi%

K

The Company
b /N
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
Notes 2018 2017
FitiE —S-)\&F —F—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi&r FE7T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IERNEF~
Property, plant and equipment k., TERIgE 14 18 26
Interests in subsidiaries RN 19 10,741,587 11,700,251
Total non-current assets IERENEF BN 10,741,605 11,700,277
CURRENT ASSETS mENEF=
Other receivables NIRER ELA R ERIT 22 3,663,426 1,834,010
Cash and cash equivalents MERIMESENY 24 31,661 27,783
Total current assets RENEAF SR 3,695,087 1,861,793
CURRENT LIABILITIES moniafE
Trade and other payables R KFR R B At R FRIa 25 102,001 155,531
Borrowings _R 26 1,053,319 1,356,402
Total current liabilities TRENRREER 1,155,320 1,511,933
NET CURRENT ASSETS maNErEHME 2,539,767 349,860
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT <l Y- )
LIABILITIES faf& 13,281,372 12,050,137
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERSRR
Borrowings i eI 26 3,511,586 2,077,690
NET ASSETS BEaE 9,769,786 9,972,447
EQUITY 5%
Share capital (57N 29 2,676,062 2,625,642
Reserves fiEs 30 7,093,724 7,346,805
TOTAL EQUITY Sl 9,769,786 9,972,447

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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A CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
~~ CHANGES IN EQUITY
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A I E= For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
=72 Y f)nué JILER I BE_T—/)\E+_-B=1+—HIHMBEE

/N
/N
NN

Year ended 31 December

#=1+"RA=1t—HLEE

Notes 2018 2017
FfiE —F-)\&F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi& T8I
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING SERDMERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax PRECEIERF) 1,051,739 844,605
Adjustments for: SR
Depreciation of property, plant i, RIS
and equipment il 16,736 14,613
Amortisation of prepaid land TS - HEFE SRR
lease payments bR 357 347
Amortisation of intangible assets TR A= 72,349 80,119
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEML. TERIEEZ
plant and equipment SR/ () 445 (23)
Net finance costs 455 %8 Pl 18 273,480 228,928
Share of profits of associates R SRS A BT (422) (158)
Provison for impairment of trade N FRR B R &
receivables 16,664 -
Fair value gains, net: adjustment NRMBEREDEE: AN
of contingent consideration RIBGRIR SAMETEEE
receivable (3,428) -
Effect on foreign exchange rates ICERTERRIRN
changes 45,559 16,842
Operating cash flows before EEEsTURNEENERE
working capital changes 1,473,479 1,185,273
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =8 dgm /e (27,907) 861
Increase in service concession SRSIRFEERIEXEN
financial receivables/contract assets SRR/ S REFIGIN (2,233,287)  (1,915,443)
Increase in trade and other receivables  RIUIMGR Rz ELfth MR ITIE N (421,441) (173,252)
Increase in trade and other payables AR R EL At RS R AN 341,840 712,157
Cash used in operations ZEFNANILE (867,316) (190,404)
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) EffPEARKIE
income tax paid ( "RE" ) S (148,331) (73,856)
Net cash flows used in operating FEFENFEIANMERE
activities HEn (1,015,647) (264,260)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS %

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 = AL Ay — 1
HE—F—/\F+ - B=1+—HINURFE I é/T - fmélﬁiﬁ

Year ended 31 December

#=1+"RA=1t—HLEE

Notes 2018 2017
FfiE —F-)\&F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi& T8I
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEDMERE
ACTIVITIES
Payment made for acquisition of KIS B AERIAER, 10k
subsidiaries, net of cash acquired FriSil& 31 (51,494) -
Capital contribution to an associate E—EEREATER 18 (1,168) -
Interest received 2UFIR 17,918 12,463
Purchases of items of property, Wk, ER
plant and equipment and RE
prepayment of land leases (11,176) (9,741)
Proceeds from sale of property, HEYL, " BRIEE
plant and equipment FFriSFRIL 89 581
Payment for additions of intangible INBIHATT
assets (NEN (181,134) (221,411)
Increase in amounts due from an 07 =1):5 =N EENIT
associate 1=hn (4,551) -
Decrease/(increase) in fixed FEAR A=BLALERR
deposits with maturity period EFA NSRS R/
over three months and restricted (3E00)
balances in financial institutions 177,975 (172,755)
Net cash flows used in investing BN ANMERE
activities RER (53,541) (390,863)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING FESEMERE
ACTIVITIES
Expenses from issue of shares RS RITHX 29 (348) (168)
Proceeds from issue of corporate RITAEREFEFIT,
bonds, net of related expenses paid HBRIBXEIFSZ 944,251 1,144,831
New bank and other loans R 2,418,142 1,959,205
Repayment of bank and other loans IR ETTR (2,229,213)  (1,592,312)
Interest paid EfFIR (268,257) (198,753)
Decrease in amounts due to fellow IVZRIEERIEYN=IENY
subsidiaries > - (154,928)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due NI AR EHEAR AN BRI
to intermediate holding companies &0/ (Ri>) 4 (79,034)
Increase in pledged bank deposits BRI TN (22,669) -
Dividends paid to shareholders I FERNBREZRE (31,687) (12,348)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

I E= I For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

RTAN
A = A7
AoILEIE BE—T—)\F+-B=+—A M

Year ended 31 December

#=1+"RA=1t—HLEE

Notes 2018 2017
FihiE —F-)\&F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi& T8I
Dividends paid to non-controlling I FHEATIBEIRIRERZ
shareholders of subsidiaries ’RE (28,609) -
Contributions from non-controlling — B EA TR R
shareholders of subsidiaries TR 192 214,798
Net cash flows from financing ARSI ERE
activities S 781,806 1,281,291
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN MEFMEE MY (BY) /
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EmnsE (287,382) 626,168
Cash and cash equivalents at FZRERNEF
beginning of year my 2,074,414 1,359,401
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations ICRT RIS,
on cash and cash equivalents, net FER (80,161) 88,845
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZMERME
AT END OF YEAR ZinY 1,706,871 2,074,414
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF MERMEFNIER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS St
Cash and cah equivalents as stated FLREMFIRRERR
in the consolidated statements of MERMEsESR
financial position 24 1,728,573 2,169,414
Less: Pledged bank deposits R CHERERITER 24 (21,702) -
Less: Restricted balances in financial W TR IRE
institutions ghg 24 - (95,000)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated FHENEREFRFIKD
in the consolidated statements of NERMEEFND
cash flows 1,706,871 2,074,414

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda and is listed on the Mainboard of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The registered
address of the Company is Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place
of business is located at 26th Floor, Block A, Oriental
Xintiandi Plaza, No. 1003 Shennan Avenue, Futian District,
Shenzhen, PRC 518000.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company’s subsidiaries are primarily involved in the
water environment management business in the PRC.

The immediate holding company of the Company is
China Everbright Water Holdings Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).
In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding entity
of the Company is China Investment Corporation, an entity
established in the PRC.

As at the date of this report, the Company had direct and
indirect interests in the following subsidiaries, all of which
are private limited liability companies (or, if incorporated/
registered outside Hong Kong, have substantially similar
characteristics to a private company incorporated in Hong
Kong), the particulars of which are set out below:

355 1RERBTIE

*FEH

AABATFERXTFMAEZHERAT
HFFHIMRIESRBRERATER
. RATREMbLEAClarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, BermudaBEFEEELAF
ERYIHEEXREAIE10035R AR
M IHARE26/E (BR4R: 518000) .

FRENERWSHIRERR. FREH
MERAREESRPENMEEEISS,

RABRFEERRBATEIKKS
ERARAE (—ETRELERRFS
( "REHREES" ) EMAIERA
8)) . EFIAN, FRENREERLK
AHERFZERFELE, HATHER
S Z SRR,

FTAKREEE, AATDETUTHEAR
BEEENEENTD, ZFHBELATEE
FEBREERT (EETEBRINE
ML EIC, WEASEARSE ST
BAHRAERTIEE) . HiFRINT:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (cont’d)

Notes:

(1)

@)

3

)

®)

All significant subsidiaries are audited by member firm of Ernst
& Young Global in China for group consolidation purpose.
For this purpose, a subsidiary or an associated company is
considered significant, as defined under the Listing Manual
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, if its
net tangible assets represent 20% or more of the Group’s
consolidated net tangible assets, or if its pre—tax profits account
for 20% or more of the Group’s consolidated pre-tax profits. For
the avoidance of doubt, the Group did not have any associated
company which was considered significant for the year ended
31 December 2018.

The Company is committed to contributing 79.6474% of EB
Water Nanning’s registered capital. The remaining 20.3526%
registered capital is contributed by three PRC joint venture
partners. Except for one of the PRC joint venture partners, who
is committed to contributing 0.0097% of registered capital and
shall not be entitled to the net profit of EB Water Nanning, the
Company and other two PRC joint venture partners share the
net profit of EB Water Nanning on the basis of their respective
proportions of registered capital contribution.

EW (Qingdao) Holdings, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the foreign joint venture partner of EB Water
Qingdao, is committed to contributing 60% of EB Water
Qingdao’s registered capital. The remaining 40% registered
capital is contributed by a PRC joint venture partner. EW
(Qingdao) Holdings is fully entitled to the net profit of EB Water
Qingdao for the first 14 years of the joint venture period. From
the 15th year of the joint venture period onwards, the net profit
of EB Water Qingdao is to be shared by EW (Qingdao) Holdings
and the PRC joint venture partner on a 98:2 basis.

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the local government authorities in the
PRC (the “Grantors”). Pursuant to the service concession
arrangements, the Group was granted rights to construct,
operate and maintain waste water treatment related projects
in the PRC for a period of 20 to 32 years. The Group has the
obligation to maintain and restore the waste water treatment
related projects in good condition. The service fees are based
on the extent of services rendered and are subject to approvals
from the relevant local government authorities. Upon expiry
of the concession periods, the waste water treatment related
projects and facilities will be transferred to the local government
authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach of
the terms of the agreements.

Operating rights of the waste water treatment related projects
are recognised as intangible assets.

These subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the service
concession arrangements, the Group has to design, construct
and/or upgrade, operate and maintain waste water treatment
related projects in the PRC for a period of 10 to 32 years. The
Group has the obligation to maintain the waste water treatment
related projects in good condition. The Grantors guarantee the
Group will receive minimum annual payments in connection
with the arrangements. Upon expiry of the concession periods,
the waste water treatment related projects and facilities will be
transferred to the local government authorities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WSHRME |

1

2.1

2.2

CORPORATE INFORMATION (cont’d)

Notes: (cont'd)

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. The standard rights of the Grantors to terminate the
agreements include the failure of the Group to construct,
upgrade or operate the waste water treatment related projects
and in the event of a material breach of the terms of the
agreements. The standard rights of the Group to terminate
the agreements include failure to receive payments for waste
water treatment service from the Grantors and in the event of a
material breach of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in
constructing or upgrading the waste water treatment related
projects is recognised as “Service concession financial
receivables/contract assets” in the statements of financial
position.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

All intra-group transactions and balances have been
eliminated on consolidation.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”), which comprise all standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”). Except for IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments, all IFRSs effective for the accounting period
commencing from 1 January 2018, together with the
relevant transitional provisions, have been consistently
applied by the Group in the preparation of the financial
statements throughout the financial periods.

The Group has applied IFRS 9, effective for the periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Group has
not restated financial information from 1 January 2017 to
31 December 2017 for financial instruments in the scope
of IFRS 9. The financial information from 1 January 2017
to 31 December 2017 is reported under International
Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement and is not comparable to
the information presented for 2018. The Group has applied
IFRS 15 in the preparation of the financial statements with
a date of initial application of 1 January 2017. The Group
has adopted IFRS 15 using the full retrospective method of
adoption.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
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2.2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d)

The principal effects of adopting these new IFRSs are as
follows:

(a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 brings together all phases of the financial
instruments project to replace IAS 39 and all
previous versions of IFRS 9. Differences arising
from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been recognised
directly in retained earnings as of 1 January 2018.

Changes to classification and measurement

To determine their classification and measurement
category, IFRS 9 requires all financial assets, except
equity instruments and derivatives, to be assessed
based on a combination of the entity’s business
model for managing the assets and the instruments’
contractual cash flow characteristics.

The IAS 39 measurement categories of financial
assets (fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"),
available for sale (*AFS”), held-to-maturity, loans
and receivables, and amortised cost) have been

replaced by:
° Debt instruments at amortised cost
° Debt instruments at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), with
gains or losses recycled to profit or loss on
derecognition

° Equity instruments at FVOCI, with no
recycling of gains or losses to profit or loss on
derecognition

° Financial assets at FVPL

The accounting for financial liabilities remains largely
the same as it was under IAS 39, except for the
treatment of gains or losses arising from an entity’s
own credit risk relating to liabilities designated
at FVPL. Such movements are presented in
other comprehensive income with no subsequent
reclassification to profit or loss.

The Group’s classification of its financial assets and
liabilities is explained in note 2.4.
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2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d)

(a)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Changes to the impairment calculation

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed
the Group’s accounting for impairment losses for
financial assets by replacing IAS 39's incurred
loss approach with a forward-looking expected
credit loss approach. IFRS 9 requires the Group
to record an allowance for ECLs for all loans and
other debt financial assets not held at FVPL. The
ECL allowance is based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted
at an approximation to the asset’s original effective
interest rate (“EIR”).

Details of the Group’s impairment method are
disclosed in note 2.4.
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2.2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
HE"F—/\F+B=1T—HLNUKFE

fmHIEE (£E)
(@) HERUSREEVNEIS2HMTE

BitE 2 T
KPNEFR SRS ENEISED
BIREMTHAERSIREZDERS
ENEIISH~ESRE, B
WA LT ARERANEMEI~S
RAENSITHMEAR. BEfR4S
REENFEISEKRAEAMFIF
BAMMETNREFEN SRR
AR EMRS EMET-ICRIERE
BSitkE. THERSIRKET
ETiRESEZPNERIESRE
EAXREFRTEAKENFrEIIERE
ZENETITTE. HE, EZ5EE
PR ( "SERRFIE" )
ITLERGER,

REFAMETTERFBETHIE2.4



2.2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d)

(a)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Changes to the impairment calculation (cont’d)

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under

IAS 39 and the balances reported under IFRS 9 as
at 1 January 2018 is as follows:

(a)

EfRMSREENEISEH TR

(%)

355 1RERBTIE

22 fmHEE (%)

HETEZTE (47)
F2018F181H, RIEERFRSITHENSE
39SHIKEBE SRIEERM SR S ENEE
ISFMRGERZ BRI T :

IAS 39 measurement

IFRS 9 measurement

EfF&itENSE395 EffSRE ENEIS
itE it=
ECL
Notes Category = Amount FRERA(SEY Amount Category
fitiE E] &8 SR ko401 £
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi&r Fi&rx Fi&rx
Financial assets TENRZKIHER
included in trade and pra=tiiviveN
other receivables mNEE~ () L&R! 544,121 (35,669) 508,452 AC?
Fixed deposits with HHEAI=AB
maturity period over A ETEERFR
three months L&R 630,403 - 630,403 AC
Cash and cash Nernes
equivalents Il L&R 2,169,414 - 2,169,414 AC
3,343,938 (35,669) 3,308,269
Other assets Hthiar=
Property, plant and W, TER
equipment 8% 146,064 - 146,064
Prepaid land lease T LtFEE
payments ENI 5,974 - 5,974
Intangible assets T &rE 1,489,718 - 1,489,718
Goodwill BE 1,259,922 - 1,259,922
Service concession SkEFEsE
financial Receivables/ EP S
contract assets MBS
‘e 11,514,263 - 11,514,263
Interest in associates BREATNG 1,445 - 1,445
Other assets included T ARIKIMIER
in trade and other =V ENI
receivables HEfREE ™= 272,253 - 272,253
Inventories 7% 14,342 - 14,342
14,703,981 - 14,703,981
Total assets BEERE 18,047,919 (35,669) 18,012,250
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d)

(a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Changes to the impairment calculation (cont’d)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

22 fmHEE (%)

(a)

IAS 39 measurement

EfRMSREENEISEH TR
(8)

IFRS 9 measurement

EfF&iHENSE39S EfFsSiR S ENSE9
itE SitE
ECL
Notes Category Amount FRHAS 6 Amount Category
BftiE -] E £ 0] SR 8| £S5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
Figr Fi#r Fi&x
Financial liabilities SEMAE
Financial liabilities TR ER AC 1,493,486 - 1,493,486 AC
included in trade HfthR{IFR
and other payables IMER &
Borrowings e AC 6,631,752 - 6,631,752 AC
8,125,238 - 8,125,238
Other liabilities Hitntalg
Other liabilities included T ARNATIGR R 60,079 - 60,079
in trade and other HfthR{R
payables ARt R
Tax payables MNATFRIR 49,951 - 49,951
Deferred tax liabilities IRIEFRIN AR 1,270,846 - 1,270,846
1,380,876 - 1,380,876
Total liabilities TRiREER 9,506,114 - 9,506,114

! L&R: Loans and receivables
2 AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised
cost

The impact of the Group’s retained earnings due
to the remeasurement of financial instruments as at
1 January 2018, the Group’s date of initial
application of IFRS 9, is as follows:

T L&R: SEURAER
P AC: mEEMATRISRA
PSR

AERATF2018F 181 BV B
EfRMSIREENFEISEHITE
SR T ENAERFREBRHMFN
T

Retained earnings

RERA
Note HK$’000
BiiE Fi&rx
At 1 January 2018 (originally stated)  F2018F181H (#IRE5) 2,559,424
Remeasurement upon initial ¥R R ERR SRS EN S
application of IFRS 9 ISEEMITE (i) (35,669)
At 1 January 2018 (restated) F2018F181H (KRFH) 2,523,755
Note: BiE:

(i) As at 1 January 2018, the Group has recorded ECL
allowance under IFRS 9 of HK$35,669,000.
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2.2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d)

(b)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15, issued in May 2014, established a new
five-step model to account for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15
provide a more structured approach for measuring
and recognising revenue. The standard also
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation
of total revenue, information about performance
obligations, changes in contract asset and
liability account balances between periods and
key judgements and estimates. The standard
has superseded all previous revenue recognition
requirements under IFRSs. In April 2016, the IASB
issued amendments to IFRS 15 to address the
implementation issues on identifying performance
obligations, application guidance on principal
versus agent and licences of intellectual property,
and transition. The amendments are also intended
to help ensure a more consistent application when
entities adopt IFRS 15 and decrease the cost and
complexity of applying the standard.

The Group has applied IFRS 15 using the full
retrospective method of adoption. The Group
has elected to apply the practical expedient for
completed contracts and has not restated amounts
for contracts completed before 1 January 2017.

The accounting policy for the Group’s main types
of revenue is presented in note 2.4 which has
been updated to reflect the application of IFRS
15.  The Group’s service concession financial
receivables, representing contract assets under
IFRS 15, have been separately disclosed in the
consolidated statements of financial position in the
financial statements. More extensive disclosure on
the Group’s revenue transactions and additional
disclosures for the contract assets and information
about performance obligations related to service
concession arrangements have been made in the
financial statements upon the application of IFRS 15.

2.2

355 1RERBTIE

fmHIEE (£E)
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@ NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

. . .
MSIRRINE | mlee
2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d) 2.2 HHEE (5)
(o)  IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (b) ERVSIRESENEISEEAS
(cont'd) Az (4R)
All customer contracts in force throughout the FEIRERPEFEENNERES
financial periods have been reviewed and assessed EE/ERE&REE, NEERUS
and it was determined that the application of IFRS REENE155EEEAFHERIT
15 had no significant impact on the recognition and NIBIAR I EFEE RN,
measurement of revenue.
Apart from the above, the application of IFRS 15 has LA ERTA, NABERUSIRS &
had no significant impact on the financial position NEE 155 FH RN ARERARIM S IR
and/or financial performance of the Group. N /BRI A B SN,
The financial statements have been prepared under W EIRERTHEAE AR RmE, TMERA
the historical cost convention, except for contingent SN ETERIRIBIEA N BRI
consideration receivable which has been measured at fair
value.
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL 2.3 giifpEEkEERSIRES EN
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised AEREATUEIREFN BT EMG
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in (BEFRERFIT RRETERSIRSG
this financial statements. M :
Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business®
EfRUSIREENE3S (BITA) VbERIENS
Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’
EfRUSIREENEIS (EITA) HBEGIMEZIERIR ST
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
EfR SRS ENE10S RERFRSTHEN S Associate or Joint Venture?
285 (f&21A) REESHBE 2\ Ga SRRl Z [ E 5 & &
IFRS 16 Leases’
ERUSIREENE16S FHE
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
EfRSIREENSE17S =
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material®
EfrsitENE 1S Kk ERSTHENESS BEAMZEN?
(IBITA)
Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement’
EfFRsITENSE195 (1B1TA) ItEET. BliRetEE
Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures'
EfraitENE285 ((BITA) FEEL TR E BRI 2
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’
EfRUSIREEEERRIEREE23S HTiS RN EZ T e
Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23’
20155FZ201 75 FHIFERGH ERSREENFE3S. EMSREENFETTS. Eirsit

JERE 128 REfFRIHENFE23S (155T4)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (cont’d)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

5 Effective for business combination for which the acquisition

date is on or after 1 January 2020 and to asset acquisition that
occurs on or after the beginning of that period.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised IFRSs upon initial
application but is not yet in a position to state whether they
would have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
performance and financial position. Further information
about those IFRSs that are expected to be applicable to
the Group is as follows:

IFRS 16, issued in January 2016, replaces IAS 17 Leases,
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC-
27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease. The standards sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise
assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard
includes two elective recognition exemptions for leases —
leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the
commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise
a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability)
and an asset representing the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset).
The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition
of investment property in IAS 40, or relates to a class of
property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently
increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and
reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required
to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease
liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use
asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the
lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such
as change in the lease term and change in future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate
used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally
recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor
accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from the accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify all leases using the same classification principle
as in IAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases
and finance leases. IFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors
to make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (cont’d)

Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a
full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The
Group will adopt IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The Group
is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 upon adoption
and is considering whether it will choose to take advantage
of the practical expedients available and which transition
approach and reliefs will be adopted.

As set out in note 34 to the financial statements, the
Group’s total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 were approximately HK$10,678,000
and HK$17,966,000, respectively. The directors of the
Company do not expect the adoption of IFRS 16 as
compared with the current accounting policy would result
in a significant impact on the Group’s results but it is
expected that a certain portion of these lease commitments
will be required to be recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Investment in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of an associate is included
in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s investment in the associate, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates is included as part of the Group’s investment in
associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Business combinations and goodwill (cont’d)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Service concession arrangements
The Group has entered into a number of service
concession arrangements with the Grantors.

Under these service concession arrangements:

° the Grantors control or regulate the services the
Group must provide with the infrastructure, to whom
it must provide them, and at what price; and

° the Grantors control, through ownership, beneficial
entitlement or otherwise, any significant residual
interest in the infrastructure at the end of the term
of the arrangement, or the infrastructure is used
for its entire useful life under the arrangements, or
both the Group’s practical ability to sell or pledge
the infrastructure is restricted and continuing right
of use of the infrastructure is given to the Grantors
throughout the period of the arrangements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Service concession arrangements (cont'd)

The Group’s infrastructure includes leasehold land,
buildings, plant and machinery that are acquired from the
Grantors and/or are derecognised by the Group when
the directors of the Company consider that the significant
risks and rewards of these assets have been passed to the
Grantors.

Consideration given by the grantor

A financial asset (receivable under service concession
arrangement) is recognised to the extent that the Group
has an unconditional right to receive cash or another
financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor for the
construction services rendered and/or the consideration
paid and payable by the Group for the right to manage
and operate the infrastructure for public service. The
Group has an unconditional right to receive cash if the
grantor contractually guarantees to pay the Group (a)
specified or determinable amounts or (b) the shortfall, if
any, between amounts received from users of the public
service and specified or determinable amounts, even if
the payment is contingent on the Group ensuring that the
infrastructure meets specified requirements. The financial
asset (receivable under service concession arrangement)
is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out for
“Financial assets and liabilities” below.

An intangible asset (concession right) is recognised
to the extent that the Group receives a right to charge
users of the public service. The intangible asset
(operating concession) is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment loss.
Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over the
operation phase of the concession periods.

If the Group is paid for the construction services partly by
a financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, then
each component of the consideration is accounted for
separately and is recognised initially at the fair value of the
consideration.

Construction of service concession related infrastructure
Revenue relating to construction services is accounted for

in accordance with the policy for “Revenue recognition”
below.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Service concession arrangements (cont’'d)

Operating services

Revenue relating to operating services is accounted for
in accordance with the policy for “Revenue recognition”
below.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its contingent consideration
receivable at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Fair value measurement (cont’'d)

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, construction contract assets and financial
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’'s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)
(if)
(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or
is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 4%

Plant and machinery 10% to 20%
Leasehold improvements, furniture 20% to 25%
and fixtures

Motor vehicles and office equipment 20% to 25%
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

The following intangible assets are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their estimated useful lives
are as follows:

Concession rights
Patents and trademarks

20 to 32 years
10 to 20 years

Computer software 5 years
Backlog contracts 3 years
Customer relationships 5 years

The useful life of the patents and trademarks of the Group
is determined based on the shorter of their statutory validity
periods and the expected benefit periods.

The useful life of the customer relationships of the Group
is determined based on the expected benefit periods with
reference to the historical customer attrition rate.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the intangible
assets is derecognised is the difference between the net
sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
intangible asset.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new water
environment technologies is capitalised and deferred only
when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility
of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate
future economic benefits, the availability of resources to
complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Water environment
technologies development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to profit or
loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Financial instruments — initial recognition
Date of recognition

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Initial measurement of financial instruments

The classification of financial instruments at initial
recognition depends on their contractual terms and
the business model for managing the instruments, as
described in the accounting policy for “Financial assets
and liabilities”. Financial instruments are initially measured
at their fair value, except in the case of financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at FVPL, transaction costs
are added to, or subtracted from, this amount. Trade
receivables are measured at the transaction price. When
the fair value of financial instruments at initial recognition
differs from the transaction price, the Group accounts for
the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below.

Day 1 profit or loss

When the transaction price of the instrument differs from
the fair value at origination and the fair value is based on
valuation technique using only inputs observable in market
transaction, the Group recognises the difference between
the transaction price and fair value in net trading income.
In those cases where fair value is based on models
for which some of the inputs are not observable, the
difference between the transaction price and the fair value
is deferred and is only recognised in profit or loss when
the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is
derecognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Financial instruments — initial recognition (cont’'d)
Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities

From 1 January 2018, the Group has classified all of its
financial assets based on the business model for managing
the assets and the assets’ contractual terms, measured at
amortised cost, as explained in the policy “Financial assets
and liabilities”.

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, as
explained in the accounting policy “Financial assets and
liabilities”.

Financial assets and liabilities
Loans and receivables, financial investments at amortised
cost

Before 1 January 2018, loans and receivables, included
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market, other
than those:

° That the Group intended to sell immediately or in the
near term
° That the Group, upon initial recognition, designated

as FVPL or as available-for-sale

° For which the Group may not recover substantially
all of its initial investments, other than because
of credit deterioration, which were designated as
available-for-sale.

From 1 January 2018, the Group only measures loans and
receivables and financial investments at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding.

355 1RERBTIE

24 FASIUTHEERBE (&)

SMTE—BEHA (58
SEEF R B

o "EREFRAR NSTTBERITA,
H2018F1R1HE, AEFAREERR
FRFANSEA R A GRFERD L
EMERA T ER S B e R,

o EREFRAR NSTTBERITA,
SRR GREMHERAT R,

SRR GG
EEENRIYIIRER. ARSI IRA =
RE

F2018F 18 18RI, MUK
EEEEESIREMRESTEHTIEX
HIZRIN ZATESRET, BAEHE:

o REABTHISZBISTEARLE
&

o RERATHIREARHEE R R
IMETT N REE A A EE

o RERATRETT E IR B AER DY)
BIRE (RERBITETAIER
EERRIN) MM EAATHIHE
&

H2018F181HEE, LA TRIEM4S
SRIERY, RERUNTE TR SEIKER.
AT KR S BRR A -

o ESRMBFE—MEEEAPEE,
SEFEERETLREERIE

i
o B HNERFASEEEEN

BRI A S RIS AR
( "BRZAFER" ) NUER

il

—F—)\SFEIRE | ANNUAL REPORT 2018 131

SN
N
o



A
NN\
A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WSRRAGE | e

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)
Loans and receivables, financial investments at amortised
cost (cont'd)

The details of these conditions are outlined below.
(a) Business model assessment

The Group determines its business model at the
level that best reflects how it manages groups of
financial assets to achieve its business objective.

The Group’s business model is not assessed on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level
of aggregated portfolios and is based on observable
factors such as:

° How the performance of the business model
and the financial assets held within that
business model are evaluated and reported to
the entity’s key management personnel

° The risks that affect the performance of the
business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and, in particular,
the way those risks are managed

° How managers of the business are
compensated (for example, whether the
compensation is based on the fair value of the
assets managed or on the contractual cash
flows collected)

° The expected frequency, value and timing
of sales are also important aspects of the
Group’s assessment

The business model assessment is based on
reasonably expected scenarios without taking
‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios into account.
If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in
a way that is different from the Group’s original
expectations, the Group does not change the
classification of the remaining financial assets
held in that business model, but incorporates such
information when assessing newly originated or
newly purchased financial assets going forward.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)
Loans and receivables, financial investments at amortised
cost (cont’d)

(b)  The SPPI assessment

As a second step of its classification process, the
Group assesses the contractual terms of financial to
identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined
as the fair value of the financial asset at initial
recognition and may change over the life of the
financial asset (for example, if there are repayments
of principal or amortisation of the premium/discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a
lending arrangement are typically the consideration
for the time value of money and credit risk. To make
the SPPI assessment, the Group applies judgement
and considers relevant factors such as the currency
in which the financial asset is denominated, and the
period for which the interest rate is set.

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more
than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic
lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases,
the financial asset is required to be measured at
FVPL.

Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with
all three of the following characteristics:

° Its value changes in response to the change in a
specified interest rate, financial instrument price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of
prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other
variable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial
variable, it is not specific to a party to the contract
(i.e., the ‘underlying’)

° It requires no initial net investment or an initial
net investment that is smaller than that would be
required for other types of contracts expected to
have a similar response to changes in market factors

° It is settled at a future date
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)
Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss
(cont'd)

Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as
assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities
when their fair value is negative. Changes in fair value
of derivatives are included in net trading income unless
hedge accounting is applied.

Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid
instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract
with the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined
instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative.
A derivative that is attached to a financial instrument, but is
contractually transferable independently of that instrument,
or has a different counterparty from that instrument, is
not an embedded derivative, but a separate financial
instrument.

Under IAS 39, derivatives embedded in financial assets,
liabilities and non-financial host contracts, were treated
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if they
met the definition of a derivative (as defined above), their
economic characteristics and risks were not closely related
to those of the host contract, and the host contract was
not itself held for trading or designated at FVPL. The
embedded derivatives separated from the host were
carried at fair value in the trading portfolio with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

From 1 January 2018, with the introduction of IFRS 9, the
Group accounts in this way for derivatives embedded in
financial liabilities contracts. Financial assets are classified
based on the business model and SPPI| assessments as
outlined above.

Debt issued and other borrowed funds

After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowed
funds are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on issue funds, and costs that are an
integral part of the EIR. A compound financial instrument
which contains both a liability and an equity component is
separated at the issue date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

From 1 January 2018, the Group does not reclassify its
financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition,
apart from the exceptional circumstances in which the
Group acquires, disposes of, or terminates a business line.
Financial liabilities are never reclassified. The Group did
not reclassify any of its financial assets or liabilities in 2017.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
(a) Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)
(b)  Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability.
The difference between the carrying value of the
original financial liability and the consideration paid
is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets (Policy applicable from
1 January 2018)

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the
Group’s accounting for impairment losses for financial
assets by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a
forward-looking ECL approach.

IFRS 9 requires the Group to record an allowance for ECLs
for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at
FVPL.

The ECL allowance is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the
asset’s original EIR.

For service concession financial receivables and trade
receivables, the Group has applied the standard’s
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime expected credit losses. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Other receivables are assessed for impairment based on
12-month expected credit losses: 12-month ECLs are the
portion of lifetime ECLs that result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date (or a
shorter period if the expected life of the asset is less than
12 months). However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will
be based on the lifetime ECL.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Policy applicable from
1 January 2018) (cont'd)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

The adoption of the ECL requirements of IFRS 9 resulted
in increases in impairment allowances for the Group’s
debt financial assets. The increase in allowance resulted
in an adjustment to the Group’s retained earnings as at
1 January 2018.

Impairment of financial assets (Policy applicable before
1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Policy applicable before
1 January 2018) (cont'd)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (cont’d)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original EIR (i.e., the EIR
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all
collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories, mainly comprise raw materials and
consumables used in the repairs and maintenance of the
waste water treatment plants, are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the
first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal. When inventories
are consumed, the carrying amount of those inventories is
recognised as an expense in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances,

short-term deposits and short-term balances in financial
institutions with maturities of three months or less from the
date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in
the management of its short-term commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, restricted bank balances are excluded whilst bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are included
in cash and cash equivalents.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Income tax (cont’d)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Income tax (cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income tax levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to profit or loss
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises
revenue when it transfers control over a product or service
to a customer.

The Group has satisfied a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria
is met:

(a) The customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Revenue recognition (cont'd)
Revenue from contracts with customers (cont’d)

(b) The Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced

(c)  The Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternate use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date

If none of the above conditions are met, the Group
recognises revenue at the point in time at which the
performance obligation is satisfied.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the
asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation, by reference to the surveyors’ assessment of
work performed and the costs incurred up to the end of
reporting period as a percentage of total estimated costs
for each contract.

When the Group provides more than one service in a
service concession arrangement, the transaction price will
be allocated to each performance obligation by reference
to their relative stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-
alone selling prices are not directly observable, they
are estimated based on expected cost plus a margin or
adjusted market assessment approach, depending on the
availability of observable information.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a
financing component if it is significant.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Revenue recognition (cont'd)
Construction service revenue

The Group’s performance in respect of construction
services creates or enhances an asset or work in progress
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced, thus the Group satisfies a performance
obligation and recognises revenue from construction
service over time, by reference to completion of the
specific transaction assessed on the basis of the surveyors’
assessment of work performed and the costs incurred up
to the end of the reporting period as a percentage of total
estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue from the construction services under a service
concession agreement is estimated on a cost-plus
basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of gross
margin at the date of the agreement applicable to similar
construction services rendered.

Operation revenue

The Group recognises revenue from environmental water
project operation services when the related services are
rendered. The operation revenue from reusable water
supply service is recognised at a point in time when the
Group has delivered water to the customer; the customer
has accepted the water; the Group has the present right
to payment and the collection of the consideration is
probable. The other operation revenue from service
concession arrangements is recognised over the period
of time that the services are rendered and the benefits are
received and consumed simultaneously by the customers.

Finance and interest income

Finance and interest income is recognised on an accrual
basis using the EIR method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer
and assumes performance obligations to transfer goods
or provide services to the customer. The combination of
those rights and performance obligations gives rise to a
net asset or a net liability depending on the relationship
between the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. The contract is an asset and recognised
as contract assets if the measure of the remaining rights
exceeds the measure of the remaining performance
obligation. Conversely, the contract is a liability and
recognised as contract liabilities if the measure of the
remaining performance obligations exceeds the measure of
the remaining rights.

The Group recognises the incremental costs of obtaining a
contract with a customer within contract assets if the Group
expects to recover those costs.

Other employee benefits - pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme,
except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions,
which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully,
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,

construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is RMB. This
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s presentation currency. The
Company has used Hong Kong dollars as its presentation
currency to be consistent with that of China Everbright
Water Holdings Limited, the immediate holding company
of the Company. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Foreign currencies (cont'd)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge
of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These
are recognised in other comprehensive income until the
net investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative
amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and
credits attributable to exchange differences on those
monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive
income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of the Company, certain overseas
subsidiaries and an associate are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of
comprehensive income are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(cont’d)

Foreign currencies (cont'd)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of the Company, certain overseas
subsidiaries and an associate are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these
entities which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,

management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”),
Transfer-Operate-Transfer (“TOT”) and Build-Operate-Own
("BOO”) arrangements in respect of its environmental water
projects.

The Group has concluded that all the BOT and TOT
arrangements and certain BOO arrangements are
service concession arrangements under IFRIC 12 Service
Concession Arrangements, because the local government
controls and regulates the services that the Group must
provide with the infrastructure at a pre-determined service
charge. In respect of BOT and TOT arrangements, upon
expiry of concession right agreements, the infrastructure
has to be transferred to the local government at nil
consideration. Infrastructure for BOO arrangements is used
in the service concession arrangements for its entire or
substantially entire useful life.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (cont’d)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Financial receivables and/or intangible assets under IFRIC
12 Service Concession Arrangements

The Group recognises the consideration received or
receivable in exchange for the construction services as
a financial receivable and/or an intangible asset under a
service concession arrangement. However, if the Group
is paid for the construction services partly by a financial
asset and partly by an intangible asset, it is necessary to
account separately for each component of the operator’s
consideration. The consideration received or receivable
for both components shall be recognised initially at the fair
value.

The segregation of the consideration for a service
concession arrangement between the financial asset
component and the intangible asset component, if any,
requires the Group to make an estimate of a number
of factors, which include, inter alia, fair value of the
construction services, expected future water treatment
volume of the relevant water treatment plant over its
service concession period, future guaranteed receipts
and unguaranteed receipts, and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. These estimates, including revenue
recognition under the financial asset and intangible asset
components are determined by the Group’s management
based on their experience and assessment on current
and future market conditions. The carrying amounts of
the intangible assets (“concession rights”) and service
concession financial receivables at the end of reporting
period are disclosed in notes 16 and 20, respectively.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than interests in
subsidiaries and goodwill

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting
date. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (cont’d)

Estimation uncertainty (cont’d)
Impairment of non-financial assets other than interests in
subsidiaries and goodwill (cont'd)

Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets (other than goodwill) are disclosed in
notes 14 and 16.

Impairment of loans and receivables/financial assets at
amortised cost

Before 1 January 2018, the Group assesses at each
reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that
a financial asset is impaired. To determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers
factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant
financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant
delay in payments. Where there is objective evidence of
impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are
estimated based on historical loss experience for assets
with similar credit risk characteristics.

From 1 January 2018, the impairment loss in respect of
service concession financial receivables, trade and other
receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and ageing analysis of service concession
financial receivables, trade and other receivables and
on management’s judgement. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation
of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each debtor. If the
financial conditions of debtors of the Group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their abilities to
make payments, additional allowances may be required.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s loans and
receivables/financial assets at amortised cost are disclosed
in notes 20, 22, 23 and 24.

3.

355 1RERBTIE

EXSITABRGT ()

FRET (BB LTEREESL)
B (5)

A ERMMEERAEF KB EE
B TR REF AT, TE
KiEFEGEMIRTEZEFNEREZI
B, k. TERIZEURTIE™ (R
EESN) ZMKEERE T 145216,

BRI BB AN LT BRI 2 B
HTEIE

F2018F 1810/, AEATEREH
ML ESFEEAEMHER SRR
FFHNEE. AEEESFERENET
HE, NEREERS AL
EXSE AV BEME AR X B R
REER. HEEWMIERERHIRE,
AEIERENSINBIRIERES
UMK E RIS ESIRE R,
it.

H2018F 1818, BxAERASKRS
L ENEXS RN ISGERI, LA
T Rz ELfth R IR AR E S HRE T
SRSSFFEENERNSRB TR,
AR WS MR B Bt R R IR =T W =0 14
BRIk otz iHMEREREZ FIl. FiF
HZE N BRI R BB R AT B
KEFIH, SESESABINGEERT
FNFICR. HAERERS ANMESKR
EMEISREZIFREENRT, NEE(E
HEMEE.

REAERR MWK IR A T &
AUSRIE T RIMKENEREE TRTIE20. 22,
23}:24,

—F—)\SFEIRE | ANNUAL REPORT 2018 149

SN
aNys
aa



AW AN
/N
AN

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (cont’d)

Estimation uncertainty (cont’d)
Impairment of interests in subsidiaries

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the interests in
subsidiaries are impaired. To determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment, the Company
considers factors such as the industry performance,
technology changes, operational and financing cash flows.
Management will also consider the financial condition and
business prospects of the interest.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the
amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated
based on the forecasted performance of the subsidiary.
The carrying amounts of the Company’s interests in
subsidiaries at the reporting date are disclosed in note 19.

Revenue recognition for construction work

The Group recognises contract revenue over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation at the reporting date. The
progress is measured based on the Group’s effort or
inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation,
by reference to the surveyors’ assessment of work
performed and the costs incurred up to the end of the
reporting period as a percentage of total estimated costs
for each performance obligation in the contract. Significant
assumptions are required to estimate the recoverable
variation works that will affect the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation.
The Group reviews and revises the estimates in each
construction contract as the contract progresses.

Impairment losses for goodwill

As explained in the accounting policy set out in note 2.4
for “Business combinations and goodwill”, goodwill is
allocated to a cash-generating unit or to a group of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination for the purpose of impairment
assessment, which requires significant judgement. The
Group determined that the group of cash-generating units
to which goodwill was allocated reflected the lowest level
at which goodwill was monitored for internal reporting and
was not larger than an operating segment in accordance
with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (cont’d)

Estimation uncertainty (cont’d)
Impairment losses for gooawill (cont'd)

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This involves an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at the
reporting date is disclosed in note 17.

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group
carefully evaluates the tax implications of transactions and
tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislation. Where the final tax
outcome is different from the amounts that were initially
recognised, such differences will impact the income and
other taxes and deferred tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal
reports about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the Group’s executive committee and the
Company’s board of directors for the purpose of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

The Group operates in a single business segment which
is the water environment management business in the
PRC. Segment results, assets and liabilities include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can
be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items
comprise mainly corporate assets and expense, interest-
bearing borrowings and related expenses and income
and deferred taxes. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable operating
segment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AZ N For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
)ﬂ\j 73 ?E% Bﬂ-ljz I HE_T—)\E+_B=1+—HIHNVBEE
4.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d) 4. BESSREIE (4)

Business segment

There is only one operating segment as the Group’s
operations relate to water environment management for the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017:

° Water environment management - Engagement
in sponge city construction, river-basin ecological
restoration, waste water treatment, water supply,
reusable water, waste water source heat pump,
sludge treatment and disposal, research and
development of water environment technologies and
engineering construction.

Geographical information
All of the Group’s revenues are derived from the Group’s
operations in the PRC. All non-current assets are located in

the PRC.

Major customers

ArS553ER

HZE12831H1E892018FEEF 20174
B, AEFANIES S RMERERRE

—MRTFRERIEESEB:

° KRB REBE—NEBEETE
B, REAESEE. S, #
K. HKEIA, EKERE. 5
SRR, INMERAHRESF A
MITERR.

i

REFARFFBRATIRBE AEANFE
5. FEIERME TR ERA.
FEER

Year ended 31 December
BE+"BA=1+—HLEE

2018 2017

—FT-)\&F “EF—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

Fi&r Tt

Customer 1** =R 1,585,196 N/A*
Customer 2** =R N/A* 450,922
Customer 3** =ZR3" 490,005 N/A*

The corresponding revenues from these customers are not
disclosed as the revenue individually did not account for 10% or
more of the Group’s revenue.

> The customers are local government authorities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

355 1RERBTIE

REVENUE 0N
Year ended 31 December
BE+"B=1—HILEE
2018 2017
-0\ TtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Figr FETT
Revenue: I :
Construction service revenue from IREFFRETHR RS
service concession arrangements RSEZWN 2,709,369 2,111,292
Finance income from service IREFTFRETHRNS
concession arrangements YN 720,714 601,204
Operation income from service REERFRETHNIEE
concession arrangements PN 1,208,567 849,813
Operation income from reusable KN RS FBIEES
water supply services W 29,104 28,613
Construction contract revenue BIEARERRARS
and technical services income IYON 100,564 711
4,768,318 3,591,633
Timing of revenue recognition: U\ BFEIA RS E :
At a point in time FhSE= 29,104 28,613
Over time MEERT RS 4,018,500 2,961,816
4,047,604 2,990,429
Finance income from service IREFFTFRETHRNS
concession arrangements IYON 720,714 601,204
4,768,318 3,591,633

The aggregated revenue from construction services,
finance income and operation income derived from
the local government authorities in the PRC amounted
to HK$4,597,023,000 and HK$3,531,522,000 for the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from these

customers are set out in note 39.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WSHRME |

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

6.  EMIANRMESHE

Year ended 31 December

#=1+"RA=1t—HILLFE

2018 2017

-0\ T—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

Fi&r Tt

Government grants* BURF#MER* 23,857 11,422

Value-added tax (“VAT”) refunds** BER ( IBER ) B 98,609 114,049
Fair value gain, net fair value RRMEETIEER: AN R

adjustment of contingent FIMASINMEEE (MHE22)

consideration receivable (note 22) 3,428 -

Slugde landfill site closure subsidy TSR N 2,373 -

Sundry income ZETIIN 12,316 4,338

140,583 129,809

*k

Government grants of HK$23,857,000 and HK$11,422,000 were
granted during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively, to subsidise certain water/waste water treatment
plants of the Group in the PRC. There were no unfulfilled
conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts of
those grants. There is no assurance that the Group will continue
to receive such grants in the future.

VAT refunds of HK$98,609,000 and HK$114,049,000 were
received/receivable during the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017, respectively, in relation to certain environmental
water project operations of the Group in the PRC. There were
no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to
the receipts of such tax refund. There is no assurance that the
Group will continue to receive such tax refund in the future.

7 NET FINANCE COSTS

*%

HZE12831H1ER92018FEER2017
R, ANEASBIRIET 23,857,000
75, 11,422,00058TTHIBUF#MNEI AR
AERTFHRERETRASKEE, 11
BUZ AN TR RIA B A R EL At
FAEM, BAREAERETHEY%
LSS SN R

HZE12H31H1EN2018FE R2017
FEAERTFRENE T ARERE
1l 25 (5 U/ R W S5 {8 78 7 49 B 0
98,609,000/t 114,049,000/ 7T,
WA SR TR IA S SR AL
(ERAER, BAIEEAEDET s
BRI B,

7. WMSERASE

Year ended 31 December

#E=E+"R=1—HLEE
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2018 2017
—F-)\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&rx FET
Finance income MW
Interest income on bank deposits RITEREIFIBWIN 17,918 12,463
Finance costs JuEsE ]
Interest expense on: TSRS FF:
Bank and other loans RITREMEK (220,940) (211,109)
Corporate bonds NENRE (70,458) (22,971)
Amounts due to intermediate NS A E
holding companies EI] = (2,947)
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries NATRERWEATFIR - (4,364)
(291,398) (241.391)
Net finance costs 155 % ER (273,480) (228,928)
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. FREiRIER

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

REEFRIBRIRRIEFTHERR 2 ()
THBTEEH:

Year ended 31 December
BE+"BA=1+—HLEE

2018 2017
—T-/)\F —F—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BitiE Fi#x FiT
Depreciation* rig* 14 16,736 14,613
Amortisation b
- prepaid land lease payments - TR L HBRREEFRIR 15 357 347
- intangible assets* - TREF* 16 72,349 80,119
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEM . TERIEEZ
property, plant and equipment SH 7 () 445 (23)
Cost of construction services* ISR A 2,131,808 1,634,636
Research and development A RRA
costs 46,458 20,868
Minimum lease payments KEREZRES
under operating leases ESNIY 10,050 9,552
Impairment of trade receivables R R{E 22 16,664 -
Foreign exchange differences, INCEER, S8
net 20,221 4,239
Listing expenses FFs 31,726 -
Employee benefit expense EREFHZ( (BEES
(including directors’ e (BHE9) ) *:
remuneration (note 9))*: 207,549 170,717
Wages and salaries THENHE 49,225 44,678
Defined contribution plans FEHFITRI 26,466 20,507
Welfare and other benefits f=vlysa=tizi=il] 283,240 235,902
Fees paid to auditor of the ENAABEITHITAYZERA:
Company:
Audit fees Cag=E 460 460
Non-audit fees IEEEIT2EA - -
Fees paid to affiliates of auditor B: OALEHEIHIRRTE
of the Company: #H
Audit fees CAEd:E] 1,920 1,920
Non-audit fees IEERIHERA
- Reporting accountant fees - BRiR=IHIHZRF
(included in listing expenses) (BEEELHFH) 6,378 -
- Others - Hith 691 -
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8.

10.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (cont’d) 8. [EEF (4)

* Amortisation of intangible assets, depreciation and * HE12831HLE2018FE R 2017
employee benefit expense in total of HK$226,495,000 and FELHAME. BE&=FANKE
HK$207,029,000 for the years ended 31 December 2018 and REFFZRE5581226,495,000/ 5T
2017, respectively, are included in “Direct costs and operating $:207,029,0008cit Nare e mlEs
expenses” on the face of the consolidated statements of FRH BHEMAREEFS" .
comprehensive income.

* Included in “Direct costs and operating expenses” on the face > I ANGEELEWGEEN "BEERARE
of the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. B .

As at the end of each financial year, the Group had no FEVSIRFRER, NEFAHTHEIZI

forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions W ABLUR D E R EERNRAITRH

to the retirement schemes in future years. £

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEilE

The remuneration of the Company’s directors is set out ANEIESEIESEFINT:

below:

Year ended 31 December
BE+"BA=1+—HLEE
2018 2017
-0\ TtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r Tt
Fees e 1,880 1,163
Other emoluments: Hithie :
Salaries, allowances and e . R
benefits in kind Fas 2,816 3,764
Discretionary bonuses EEeLl 3,607 4,300
Defined contribution plans FREMEATR 327 40
6,750 8,104
8,630 9,267
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. AhBERSHMER

The five highest paid employees during the years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017 included two directors,
respectively, whose remuneration is included in note 9
above. Details of the remuneration for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 of the remaining three highest
paid employee who is neither a director nor chief executive
of the Company are as follows:

156 CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED | FEYAKSERAT

BE12B31HLERI2018FEK2017
FE, hEasHiERSISEREE
=, HESIt A\ EXHHE9. BE12H31
BIER2018FER2017TEER =2
IR NAEFTIFRBEEARZESH
B R AFREF BN T -



10.

1.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

355 1RERBTIE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (cont’d) 10. DEEEFHHMER (48)
Year ended 31 December
8E+T"RA=1+—HLEE
2018 2017
ZE-N\FE EF—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Figr THTT
Salaries, allowances and Fr. BRI
benefits in kind Gl 2,705 2,233
Discretionary bonuses [ =ZezAN 2,793 2,675
Defined contribution plans REHFRITRY 312 140
5,810 5,048
During the financial year, no emoluments were paid by FAEIRERE, AERAHTHEALNTE
the Group to the directors of the Company or any of the ERAN SIS T FEEER T
highest paid employees who are not a director of the S ERAIMARTF IS ERSHEEFIEL
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the {EFIEEERRE (2,
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
INCOME TAX 11.  FiEss

No provision for Singapore and Hong Kong income tax
was made as the Group did not earn any income subject
to Singapore and Hong Kong income tax during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Tax for the PRC operations is charged at the statutory
rate of 256% of the assessable profits under tax rules
and regulations in the PRC. During the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017, certain PRC subsidiaries
are subject to tax at 50% of the standard rates or fully
exempt from income tax under the relevant tax rules and
regulations.

HFAEFA#Z=12831HIERI2018FE
R 20175 EF A MRBUEAT RN HT I
REBFSRAMIN, SFF TR
EBATSHRIELIRE.

SRENSS AR P ER S ARG AN,
BRNIRRBF LUEERER25%1TE . &
Z12831H1ERY2018FE R 201 7EER
ERXMSIERNEN, ETHERER
BRI ERIER 2 50% RS Riak kAT
SRR,

Year ended 31 December
BE+"A=1+—HLEFE

2018 2017
—F-)\F —F—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi& FET
Current - PRC: BPHER — HE:

Charge for the year HEFE 139,967 110,840

Underprovision/(overprovison) REARE, (1IH)
in prior years 4,156 3,592
Deferred (note 28) BERE (BfE28) 170,861 149,380
Total tax expense for the year AEFERIF AT 314,984 263,812
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE
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1. INCOME TAX (cont’d)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate for the country in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled
to the tax expense at the effective tax rates is as follows:

11.

FRiSH (42)

RERTAREREREBOMBLBIE
ERZIEERFI BIRREIERRN 2 BRI

:

H SRR E 2 BT tH 2 X Kan

Year ended 31 December
BE+"BA=1+—HLEE

2018 2017
—T-)\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Figr FETT

Profit before tax PREEIERF) 1,051,739 844,605
Tax calculated at tax rate of 25% R25%MIFHRITE 2

(2017: 25%) BT 262,935 211,151
Effect of tax rates in foreign TEINEN AN X R R

jurisdictions =210| 26,550 25,759
Tax concession IR (24,966) (12,296)
Adjustments in respect of current IS 1EHAR) Z BV ERRCIN

tax of previous periods EHEEE 4,156 3,592
Profits attributable to associates BREAEN S&F (105) (26)
Income not subject to tax ToIRFRRIN (13,189) (15,952)
Expenses not deductible for tax AREHOIREFFSZ 8,439 24,536
Tax losses not recognised RIATRIIS R 5,005 7,405
Tax losses utilised from previous SIS FERIE) 2 FiIT

periods SiR (1,397) (5,897)
Effect of withholding tax on the AREFAFEMRBLT AT

distributable profits of the DIREERZ TR Z 520

Group’s PRC subsidiaries 47556 25,540
Tax expense at the Group’s ARSI ERITHRZ

effective rate FInz 314,984 263,812

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting
to HK$58,000 and HK$198,000 for the years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively, is included
in “Share of profits of associates” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %

For the fi ial ded 31D ber 2018 N
T dEre o= —acmee | WIS IRERMNE
12. DIVIDENDS 12. BE

Year ended 31 December
BE+"BA=1+—HLEE

2018 2017
-0\ TtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r Tt
Dividends attributable to the year: REERER:
Interim — SGD0.0049 and nil, FHARE — SREERS 5
respectively, per ordinary share 790.00495 T A = 74,644 -
Proposed final - SGD0.0050 and PURKEARRE — SREER
SGD0.0049, respectively, per 4538190.00508 IR TR
ordinary share 0.0049% MK TT 77,219 77,003
151,863 77,003
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. SiREAN
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount BREABSIHIEANTNGEIEEA
is based on the Group’s profit for the year attributable to N AAERARNEERFBUERE R TE
equity holders of the Company divided by the weighted BRI IEGTE,
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in FrEiREE, AERAHLEAS AT
issue during the financial year. BEEEEsine i@,

Year ended 31 December

#E=E+"R=1—HLEE

2018 2017
—ZT-/\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r FETT
Profit for the year attributable to ANERIRN S AFE
equity holders of the Company x| 676,459 513,356
‘000 ‘000
iz TR
Weighted average number of FRERITZIERIIMY
ordinary shares in issue during I
the year 2,644,322 2,618,228
HK cents HK cents
il il
Basic and diluted earnings per BREANME
share BF 25.6 19.6
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I For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

A S5 R aRbTiE

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

14. ¥k . FBERIES
FEH
Leasehold Motor
improvements, vehicles

furniture and  and office
Plant and fixtures equipment Construction
Buildings  machinery HEWL SERDZA  inprogress  Total
#F TERNE &, Eigg fHeTiE &8
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FER TR TR FiEn FTEx TéErn
31 December 2018 2018%12831H
Cost: A
At 1 January 2018 F2018F181H 100,064 51,781 10,028 66,874 - 228,747
Additions 12E - 34 635 10,507 - 11,176
Acquisition of KrapE A=
subsidiaries (note 31) (BHE31) 10,970 - 39 605 - 11614
Disposals HE - - (68) (2,328) - (2,39)
Exchange realignment  CuE R (5,067) (2,245) (361) (3,276) - (10,949)
At 31 December 2018 F2018%F12H31H 105,967 49,570 10,273 72,382 - 238,192
Accumulated depreciation:  Eit#fIR:
At 1 January 2018 F2018F181H 23,289 13,730 5119 40,545 - 82,683
Charge for the year FERZH 5,350 2,268 1,724 7,394 - 16,736
Disposals HeE - - (26) (1,836) - (1,862
Exchange realignment LR EAR (1,202) (702) (228) (2,012) - (4,144
At 31 December 2018 F2018F12831H 27,437 15,296 6,589 44,091 - 93413
Net carrying amount; IKE#E:
At 31 December 2018 F20185F12831H 78,530 34,274 3,684 28,291 - 144779
At 1 January 2018 F2018F181H 76,775 38,051 4909 26329 146,064
31 December 2017 2017¢128318
Cost: A
At 1 January 2017 F2017%181H 94,006 48,692 6,931 57,071 78 206,778
Additions e 105 24 3,062 6,550 - 9741
Disposals Hes - (18) (478) (1,258) - (1,754)
Transfers ik - - 80 - (80) -
Exchange realignment LB 5,953 3,083 433 4,511 2 13982
At 31 December 2017 F2017%E12831H 100,064 51,781 10,028 66,874 - 228,747
Accumulated depreciation:  Eit#fIR:
At 1 January 2017 F2017F181H 18,263 10,784 3,312 32,402 - 64,761
Charge for the year FRYTH 3,792 2,199 1,822 6,800 - 14613
Disposals HeE - (3) (248) (945) - (1,19)
Exchange realignment LB 1,234 750 233 2,288 - 4505
At 31 December 2017 F2017F12831H 23,289 13,730 5119 40,545 - 82,683
Net carrying amount: TKE(E:
At 31 December 2017 F2017%128 31H 76,775 38,051 4,909 26,329 - 146,064
At 1 January 2017 F2017%181H 75743 37,908 3619 24669 78 142017
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d) 14.

The property ownership certificates of certain buildings of
the Group in the PRC (the “Buildings”) with aggregate net
carrying amounts of HK$22,080,000 and HK$76,775,000
as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017,
respectively, have not yet been issued by the relevant PRC
authorities. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
pursuant to the relevant agreements signed with the local
government authorities in the PRC and based on the

HE—F—/\F+=P=+—B OMREE

advice from the Company’s PRC legal adviser, Zhong Lun =
Law Firm, the Group has the proper legal rights to occupy

and use the Buildings.

355 1RERBTIE

Pk . IF'BRIgE (£)

HEXFENXHREBEEAEATFHEE
FHEF ( "#F" ) LM BEBIE,
ZEYF2018FEKR 20178128318
MWK #E SS9 517922,080,000/8 TR
76,775,000i87C. ANTEFIAN, 1R
EBS T E LSBT RS S AR RN
KA BFEEERDPCEINESHRIE
W, XEFAEGEEF SARERZE

Company ¥ /NG
Motor vehicles and
office equipment
SNERDAEIRSE
Year ended 31 December
#EZE1+"B=1+—HLFE
2018 2017
—FT-)\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r Tt
Cost: B :
At the beginning of the year ) 41 56
Additions during the year FRIEE = -
Disposals during the year FRHE = (15)
Exchange realignment LA (2) -
At the end of the year R 39 41
Accumulated depreciation: EnEinls
At the beginning of the year T 15 25
Charges for the year FRXH 7 7
Disposals during the year FRHE = (15)
Exchange realignment CREEE (1) (2)
At the end of the year Fx 21 15
Net carrying amount: W SE
At the end of the year FX 18 26
At the beginning of the year F4) 26 31
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15.

16.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 15.  FRfTitefAESFRIR
Group FEH
Year ended 31 December
BE+__RB=1+—HLFE
2018 2017
-0\ TtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r Tt
Carrying amount at the beginning FHIKEE
of the year 5,974 5,954
Additions during the year FREE - -
Amortisation provided during the FAMERE
year (357) (347)
Exchange realignment ICeEAE (245) 367
Carrying amount at the end of FARIKEE
the year 5,372 5,974
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. FTH&E=
Group AEHE
Concession  Patentsand  Computer Backlog Customer
rights  trademarks software  contracts relationships Total
BFHEER  SAREE HENRE XRRSE BRXZE 2it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FER TR TR FiEn FTEx  FiEn
31 December 2018 2018%12A31H
Cost: A
At 1 January 2018 F2018%F181H 1,669,343 25,861 4,867 30,400 - 1,730,471
Additions g 181,095 - 39 - - 181,134
Acquisition of a K EAT
subsidiary (note 31) (BiE31) - - 65 - 13573 13638
Exchange realignment ICREAE (84,904) (1,124) (218) (1,321) (923)  (88,490)
At 31 December 2018 F2018%F12H31H 1,765,534 24,737 4,753 29,079 12,650 1,836,753
Accumulated amortisation: B
At 1 January 2018 F2018%F181H 194,577 13,246 2,530 30,400 - 240,753
Amortisation provided FRRERS
during the year 66,255 4,292 481 - 1,321 72,349
Exchange realignment LR (10,294) (759) (88) (1,321) (56)  (12,518)
At 31 December 2018 F2018F12831H 250,538 16,779 2,923 29,079 1,265 300,584
Net carrying amount: IKEHE:
At 31 December 2018 F2018%F12831H 1,514,996 7,958 1,830 - 11,385 1,536,169
At 1 January 2018 F2018F181H 1,474,766 12,615 2,337 - - 1,489,718
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16.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)

355 1RERBTIE

16. FHE= (48)

Group (cont’d) FEH (%)
Concession  Patentsand ~ Computer Backlog
rights  trademarks software contracts Total
FAEER SRR HENRE KENER it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
Fi&n Fi&n Fi&n Fi&n Fi&n
31 December 2017 20174128310
Cost: A
At 1 January 2017 F2017FE181H 1,352,062 24,321 3,203 28,590 1,408,176
Additions e 219,993 - 1,418 - 221,411
Exchange realignment LB 97,288 1,540 246 1,810 100,884
At 31 December 2017 F2017%12H31H 1,669,343 25,861 4,867 30,400 1,730,471
Accumulated amortisation: 2
At 1 January 2017 F2017F181H 118,900 8,417 1,556 19,854 148,727
Amortisation provided during FRMHERS
the year 66,095 4,166 849 9,009 80,119
Exchange realignment SRR 9,582 663 125 1,537 11,907
At 31 December 2017 F2017512831H 194,577 13,246 2,530 30,400 240,753
Net carrying amount: IKEHE:
At 31 December 2017 F2017512H31H 1,474,766 12,615 2,337 - 1,489,718
At 1 January 2017 F2017F1818H 1,233,162 15,904 1,647 8,736 1,259,449

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, certain of the Group’s
concession rights of the environmental water projects
(comprising concession rights of intangible assets, service
concession financial receivables and trade receivables)
with aggregate carrying amounts of HK$4,426,064,000 and
HK$4,362,784,000, respectively, were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group, further details of
which are included in notes 26 and 33.

F2018FERK20176FE12831H, KNEH
ETXKREBEMBZIFFEEN (B1FL
FERFHFFEEN. SRSBFFE
EGEES SEA VL E N IS Vg9
BIMKE VB D Bl /94,426,064,0005 T 5.
4,362,784,0005 0 SIRIRIE D AR ERTE
RIRTRISRCIRRG, B—SFEETW
7261233,
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16.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)

Impairment testing of concession rights not yet available
for use

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, certain projects had
not commenced operations and the carrying amounts
of the concession rights not yet available for use of
these projects were approximately HK$390 million and
HK$226million, respectively. The recoverable amount of
each of these concession rights was determined based on
value-in-use calculations using cashflow projections based
on a financial budget covering a five-year period approved
by the management. Management determined the
budgets based on the service concession arrangements
governing the relevant operations. The pre-tax discount
rates applied to the cashflow projections were 10.2% for
2018 and 10.6% for 2017, and cash flows beyond the five-
year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 3%.
The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant operations. No impairment
is considered necessary as at 31 December 2018 and
2017. Management believes that any reasonably possible
changes to the key assumptions applied is not likely to
lead to any impairment of the concession rights not yet
available for use.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to the pre-tax discount rate and five-year
period growth rate, representing the key inputs to the
determination of the recoverable amount.

The headroom of the concession rights not yet available for
use is shown as below:

16.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

TRZEF (88)

F20185 % 20175128318, &THE
HAETHEEERiAARA %S R (R
R ENIIKEED 5/9£93.90{2#7T
R2.26{zi87. SIUSFEERTHRIEE
RIMEREEEEN R F RS TAEL
HEnEMNEEHEMESER, SEE
RIENEEXEEHRS TR ERHAE
EME. ERTISRERNAIREIGEL
FTF20185F410.2%K20176:4910.6%
. URBShFHINERETRAEK
3% FLHEN., FTRMGIIERHREIEEL
E, ARRSEXEEEXZISENR.
F20185FR20175F12A31 BHELEIF
Him{E. EERINA, FRAERERN
HAIGE SERNH A RESEE AT
AR SRR EL

AR E DT T RE R RING IR R A 5
HIEREERE, HEEYWEEERT A
AIEEBMNEE.

IR RS2 EAO AT MRS B
T:

As at 31 December

F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—E-)\&F =t
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r Tt
Headroom B 63,000 32,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U RISAOERL | MSSREME

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)

Impairment testing of concession rights not yet available
for use (cont’d)

Had the estimated key assumptions been changed as
below, the headroom would be increased/(decreased) by:

16. FHE= (48)

ittt EERIRTNN T, FINBO L
ms ()

As at 31 December

F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—F-)\&F “F—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi&r FHETT
Pre-tax discount rate decreased GrENisESES e
by 0.2% 0.2% 26,000 25,000
Pre-tax discount rate increased BIEIERIES
by 0.2% 0.2% (24,000) (24,000)
Five-year period growth rate RFHHIERKERRES
increased by 5% 5% 2,000 2,000
Five-year period growth rate FFHAIBR R
decreased by 5% 5% (2,000) (2,000)

A respective increase in the discount rate from the original
rate of 10.2% and 10.6% by 0.5% and 0.3% to 10.7% and
10.9%, respectively, as at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
would remove the remaining headroom. Even if the five-
year period growth rate decreased to 0%, the recoverable
amount of the concession rights not yet available for use
would still exceed its carrying value.

1520185 &% 2017412531 HEHIZE S 5|
MEREEIZE10.2%% 10.6% = EH12E0.5%
R0.3%ZE10.7%8K10.9%, WETiEERE
REVNERD. L5h, BIERFHRE KR
E0%, EAHBIFEEREATRE
SEUG B HEEE.

GOODWILL 17. ®&
Group AEEH
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—T-I\fF “E—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi&r Tt
Cost and net carrying amount FHIRRA R IKE HE
at the beginning of the year 1,259,922 1,185,478
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 31)  UgHaKtEAR (BHE31) 39,835 -
Exchange realignment Lo EEE (57,044) 74,444
Cost and net carrying amount at FRMANKERE

the end of the year

1,242,713 1,259,922
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17.

GOODWILL (cont’d)

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable
mainly to the expected synergies from combining
operations of the acquiree and acquirer. None of the
goodwill acquired is expected to be deductible for tax
pUrposes.

Impairment testing of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the water environment management segment
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

The recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units within the water environment management segment
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-
year period using a growth rate of 6% to 10% approved
by management. The pre-tax discount rates applied to the
cash flow projections were 11.2% for 2018 and 11.5% for
2017, and cash flows beyond the five-year period were
extrapolated using a growth rate of 3%. Management
determined the budgets based on service concession
arrangements governing the relevant operations. Based on
the assessment, no impairment provision was necessary as
at 31 December 2018 and 2017. Management believes that
any reasonably possible changes to the key assumptions
applied would not lead to impairment of goodwill as at 31
December 2018 and 2017.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to the pre-tax discount rate and five-year
period growth rate, representing the key inputs to the
determination of the recoverable amount.

The headroom of the Group of cash-generating units within
the water environment management segment is shown as
below:

17.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

HmE (8)

KRR E E R R E TR 5K
7RSS EFHFERTREDEIER. Y2
MBRTSEE BRI,

FRENRNMS, F20185FK%2017412
A318, BXBECHKOEEKNES

AN
paN=]

}201 8EN20175E12831H, KKEES

BoERISr HETRIBFERNENUE
FHESEEHEN6%E 10% K RITE
NAEFHVSAEZ NS RETNERE
HolgEleF. ERTRESREmNAH
BIMEIIZETF 20185 R11.2% K201 75E R
11.5%, ARBITASFENIESRETIE
IS KR3I%FLUEN, SRERBENE
EXEEHRSHFTFEELHIEETE.
RIETAG, F20185EK%2017412831H
HEVBIHRRERES. EEEAN, T
2018FR2017512831HFFRAFEER
RSB 8o AA RE SR E
.

AT SR E ST TR IR E T U B2 2R
FEMANGE: FREIRR AFAEK
KEE.

REFKIA G RIED SRS~ HETTHY
BN FIIN T :

As at 31 December

F+=-B=+—H
2018 2017
—s-)\&F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r FE7T
Headroom EINER > 4,459,000 500,000
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For the fi ial ded 31 D ber 2018 N
e e et op—t+nrmer | WASSIRERHTE
GOODWILL (cont’d) 17. BHE (%)

Impairment testing of goodwill (cont’d)

Had the estimated key assumptions been changed as
below, the headroom would be increased/(decreased) by:

st EERIRTNNT, FINBONIE

ms ()

As at 31 December

F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—E-)\& “F—tfF
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi&r T8
Pre-tax discount rate increased RIS
by 0.2% 0.2% (424,000) (329,000)
Pre-tax discount rate decreased TN
by 0.2% 0.2% 439,000 341,000
Five-year period growth rate RFRIERKERES
increased by 5% 5% 384,000 283,000
Five-year period growth rate FFHRE R
decreased by 5% 5% (381,000) (283,000)

A respective increase in the discount rate from the original
rate of 11.2% and 11.5% by 2.5% and 0.3% to 13.7% and
11.8%, respectively; or a decrease in the five- year period
growth rate by 61% and 9% of the original five-year period
growth rate respectively, as at 31 December 2017 and
2018, would remove the remaining headroom.

i F2018FER2017F12831 IR
DRINRMEIRET1.2%R11.5%=2BRE
2.5%K0.3%=E13.7%K%11.8%; shF
HAIEIR R B R T F HAIE IR RIR6 1%
9%, MIelERRRIREINRS .

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. HEXELREINEE
Group FER
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—-)\&F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi&r T8t
Share of net assets Fra =% 3,011 1,445
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (cont’d) 18.

BHE_T—/\F+_A=T—HLAIMERFE

Particulars of the Group’s associates during the financial

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

BREQTNG (£)

year are as follows:

REFKEADTUSIRELR B ZIFIEN
T:

Percentage of

ownership
interest
Place of attributable to
Particulars registration the Group Principal

Name of capital and business FERMN GEE activities

L=t BEIFE BickEth= Wi E 2L FEWS

Qingdao Haibohe Water Paid up capital PRC/ 49 Waste water
Operating Limited of US$350,845 Mainland China treatment
(“Qingdao Haibohe”) SCESER AN FE/FERE TSIKAbIER

BEEEWKSEE 350,84557T
BRAT ( "ESiEiaT )

Hebei Xiong’'an Huashen Paid up capital PRC/ 20 R&D and
Water Engineering of RMB5,000,000 Mainland China consultation on
Technology Limited SCESER AN FE/FEPNE water treatment
(“Hebei Xiong’an”) 5,000,000t AR KB IBAIE A
(note (a)) K&8

HbgEREFKS TRERA
BRATE ("R )

(FiE(@))
Note: B :

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
made a capital contribution of RMB1,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,168,000) to Hebei Xiong’an. Hebei Xiong'an is established
with other three entities established in the PRC, in Xiong'an City,
the PRC, which enables the Group to further develop R&D and
construction services in Xiong'an City.

The Group has significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over Hebei Xiong'an, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions, pursuant to the Articles
of Association of Hebei Xiong'an. Accordingly, Hebei Xiong’an is
classified as an associate of the Group.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the above investments
were held by the Company’s subsidiaries.
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(@) HEHZE2018F12B31HLLEE, KEH
At EZRER 1,000,000 ART (18
27F1,168,00087T. iAdtifELHAER
REFENBI=RELERERIR, &
FAREREHLHH—SERBMAR
EIRIRSS.

Rt 2 AR STEMEN, NER
AR BEATIN (MIFEHINE
HEEHN) | BES5SREEUSK
EEBR. Eit, WAtEREDENE
ERZEHRE AT,

F20185 R 20174128310, LiRR#E
HALEMBEATRNE,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

355 1RERBTIE

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. (BTN EE
Company ¥ /NG|
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—B-)I\&E “EF—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi&c FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost JELTRRD, BB 11,760,204 12,294,429
Amounts due from subsidiaries Il NI END 3,274,536 3,893,998
15,034,740 16,188,427
Impairment B (4,293,153) ( 4,488,176)
10,741,587 11,700,251

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed repayment terms. The balances are
considered by the directors as quasi-equity investments in
these subsidiaries.

Movements in the provision for impairment are as follows:

R B A BIRBUA TR, REBRFHT
BEEH. ZFERMNEENNITIZE
BB TRERSUR R,
BRSNS

As at 31 December

F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—ZB-/\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r Tt
At the beginning of the year F4) 4,488,176 4,220,965
Exchange realignment LR EEFEEE (195,023) 267,211
At the end of the year FER 4,293,153 4,488,176

Particulars of the subsidiaries are disclosed in note 1 to the
financial statements.

ZEHRARRIFBETHIE1KE.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

WSHRME |

20.

SERVICE CONCESSION FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES/

20.

5RSSTEEREXMH SRR/

CONTRACT ASSETS SR&E=
Group FEHE
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—B-)\&F =t
HK$°000 HK$'000
Figc FEIT
Gross amounts due from customers RWE &R TRERI
for contract work BER 8,677,810 7,189,327
Other receivables related to SRSIRFEELHHEX
service concession arrangements HYE B RZIKER 4,474,173 4,324,936
13,151,983 11,514,263
Less: Non-current portion 8 AEBPHAERS (11,727,822) (10,313,724)
Current portion BDHAERD 1,424,161 1,200,539
Contract costs incurred plus ErFESRRAINERA
recognised profits less BEFRFHASIR
anticipated losses 12,891,494 10,340,120
Less: Progress billings R FHEFRIT (4,213,684) ( 3,150,793)
Net contract work BRIESE 8,677,810 7,189,327
Representing: &
Gross amounts due from customers  NZEFERE TR
for contract work EER 8,677,810 7,189,327

Included in “Service concession financial receivables/
contract assets” as at 31 December 2018 and 2017
are amounts of HK$582,215,000 and HK$589,969,000,
respectively, which are due from a non-controlling
shareholder of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, and
amounts of HK$603,995,000 and HK$617,792,000,
respectively, which are due from a related company.

Service concession financial receivables/contract
assets as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 totalling
HK$13,151,983,000 and HK$11,514,263,000, respectively,
bear interest at rates ranging from 4.90% to 7.83%
and 4.90% to 7.83%, respectively, per annum. As at
31 December 2018 and 2017, HK$5,443,224,000 and
HK$4,616,531,000, respectively, related to the service
concession arrangements with operation commenced.
The amounts for the service concession arrangements are
not yet due for payment and will be settled by revenue
to be generated during the operating periods of the
service concession arrangements. Amounts billed will be
transferred to trade receivables (note 22). No impairment
loss was recognised by the Group at 31 December 2018
and 2017 in respect of the service concession financial
receivables/contract assets.
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F2018FKR20175F12831H, itA

"SRBEFITFEE AR SR KK
L/ &EE~" BENKIFEENEAR
AYAFERR AR RIS 51 582,215,000/ 7T
$:589,969,000/ 7TLAR MWK EX A TR
I7351603,995,000/%50K 617,792,000
HBITe

F2018FR2017F12831H, 5KF
A SRR SRS Bl &
13,151,983,000/7cK 11,514,263,000
BT, PHRENERENTFLI90%ZE
7.83%K%4.90%%E7.83%itA, F2018
FR2017F128B31H, 5SH®BREE
HNERESHFFEETHEBE XIS 5
5,443,224,000/%7554,616,531,000/
7t. REFFEETHNARIN=REE
X, HEUTFRESFFEETHNEG
EHIENSE FEARIKEET. KBRS
EEMNITIKER (FHiE22) . F2018F K
20175F12B31H, AEEHLH SRS
FFEENEXNERMIFETY/ & RE
FHIARESR.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

SERVICE CONCESSION FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES/
CONTRACT ASSETS (cont’d)

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, certain of the Group’s
concession rights of the environmental water projects
(comprising concession rights of intangible assets, service
concession financial receivables and trade receivables)
with aggregate carrying amounts of HK$4,426,064,000 and
HK$4,362,784,000, respectively, were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group, further details
of which are included in notes 26 and 33 to the financial
statements.

20.

355 1RERBTIE

5RSSTEEREXMH SRR/
aRE™ (£)

F20185FR2017512831H, A&EH
ETKAEMBZHFFEENR (BiFL
FEEFHHBFELEN. SREHFE
EBRiEEI eIV N TYSIVT g iE 9]
RO B 5E4,426,064,0008 TR
4,362,784,000/8 T EIRIRIE AN ERTK
RIS IR, H—SFEETHE
26533,

Group FEHE
As at 31 December
F+=-B=+—H
2018 2017
-0\ TtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&rc FETT
Unsatisfied performance obligations  SERB4HAFEELHHER
related to service concession RETRBLISRE:
arrangements:
Expected to be recognised within FRERET—FRTHIA
one year 4,827,359 4,248,695
Expected to be recognised after FRERET—FEHHIA
one year 39,482,401 25,966,109
Total transaction price allocated PDEERTHENRIENR S
to the unsatisfied performance iSOy
obligations 44,309,760 30,214,804

Included in the revenue recognised in each of the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, HK$75,101,000 and
nil, respectively, were related to performance obligations
satisfied in previous periods.

Included in “Intangible assets” of the Group (note 16)
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are contract assets
of HK$390,347,000 and HK$226,832,000, respectively,
arising from performance under construction contracts in
connection with service concession arrangements.

HZE20185FK20175F12831HIEFE,
FIIEHREIA AR BA R EARIK S
Ei9387975,101,0008 TR E,

F2018FR2017F12B31HITARE
"THREE (ME16) MNERE~ S
5179390,347,000/&755 226,832,000/
7T, DEEBSRSHTEERHRRN
HEEERIRMR.

—F—)\SFEIRE | ANNUAL REPORT 2018 171

SN
aNys
aa



A NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NN AZ N For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
Jn\j 73 ?Ei@ Bﬁ/i I HEZT—/\F+B=+—HLAVEERE
21. INVENTORIES 21. =&
Group FEH
As at 31 December
F+=R=1+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\FE FtF
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi& FET
Raw materials and consumables EtrE Sy e =) 40,436 14,342
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an EAATF S HIT NIREINE S ST
expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: W
As at 31 December
F+=p=+—H
2018 2017
—B-)\& —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r FETT
Cost of inventories consumed EREFENKEE 549,349 214,766
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22.

Group

BETE-/\F+R=1t—HLHNVEFE

F2F

355 1RERBTIE

BTHSTHEER B2 EL fth RS ERIR

As at 31 December

F+=-B=+—H
2018 2017
—B-)\&F —F—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi&r FETT
Non-current 3EifEzh
Trade receivables RLTKTR 50,216 -
VAT receivable RIBB{ERT 92,341 -
Other receivables HABRIKFEIIR 10,518 10,515
Amount due from an associate 5= VNI ENI 4,029 -
157,104 10,515
Contingent consideration receivable EEZ SRR IVINE/ NI 2,155 -
159,259 10,515
Current i
Trade receivables R HEER 720,953 413,777
Less: Impairment e A (49,888) -
671,065 413,777
VAT receivable RS (ER 131,658 113,054
Other receivables and sundry HAth R IR 20
deposits & 90,918 127,304
Prepayments SUNENIY 125,017 151,724
1,018,658 805,859
Contingent consideration receivable AN RIKGGRI 6,386
1,025,044 805,859
Total Bit 1,184,303 816,374
Company ¥ /N |
Amounts due from subsidiaries IV EYN=IENT 3,660,270 1,834,010
Prepayments SURNENI 3,156
Total =it 3,663,426 1,834,010

The amount due from an associate as at 31 December

2018 is unsecured, interest-bearing
annum and repayable in 2020.

at a rate of 4.75% per

F2018F12831 BRMKERE AT
AT, REFZHRLT5%ITERATF
20205 (ZF

IR
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AZ N For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

)ﬂ\j’ 73 ?E% Bﬂ-ljz I HECT—/\Ft+-A=1+—HItNIBEE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d) 22,  RISTMERR EfhRIITERTR (4E)
The amounts due from subsidiaries of the Company as at ANEITF2018FK2017F12831HAIMN
31 December 2018 and 2017 are unsecured, interest-free KB ABFINALIER. AENRE
and repayable on demand. KEER,
The movements in provision for impairment of trade MK R BT 2RI T

receivables are as follows:

As at 31 December

F+=-BA=+—H
2018 2017
—T-/)\F Tt
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiEx Fi#T
At the beginning of the year F4] - -
Effect on adoption of IFRS 9 FKINEFR SRS ENSEOSHY

(note 2.2) 0 (PFiE2.2) 35,669 -
Impairment losses recognised EfARESIR (MHES)

(note 8) 16,664 -
Exchange realignment LR (2,445) -
At the end of the year FxR 49,888 -
Included in “Trade and other receivables” are trade TN RIIKER R BB RISERIR . Z A
receivables, that are not individually nor collectively FFHFAN B E B R EN MK M RS
considered to be impaired, with the following ageing Bk Z MK O a0 T :
analysis as at the end of the reporting period:

Group FEE
As at 31 December
F+-RA=+—H
2018 2017
—T-/\fF —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&rT Tt
Current BPHA 367,987 222,142
Past due: CiBHA:
- 1to 30 days - 1£230H 21,844 40,250
- 3110 90 days - 31£90H 73,100 32,578
- 91 to 180 days -91£180H 133,978 13,685
- 181 to 365 days - 181&365H 54,511 25,391
- more than 1 year but within - BI—FHEREFEN
2 years 38,851 74,860
- over 2 years - mELLE 31,010 4,871
Amounts past due TEHAERIR 353,294 191,635
721,281 413,777
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

The ageing analysis of debtors, based on the date of
invoice (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier) and net
of provision, as at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

22.

355 1RERBTIE

BIUHEGR R SRR (42)

REATIREHARBIRAZEE (A
Wz HE, WEERIORRER) 2K
DI

Group FEH
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—T-)\F “EF—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Figr FETT
Within 1 month — 1B 295,894 181,695
More than 1 month but within wsg— 1 B ETRINER
2 months 67,763 42,944
More than 2 months but within BEENBEFENBEN
4 months 67,071 41,440
More than 4 months but within BEINBEFENER
7 months 147,661 16,610
More than 7 months but within BTt MNBEF+H=1NER
13 months 53,203 56,023
More than 13 months +=1MNBUE 89,689 75,065
721,281 413,777

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days from the
date of billing. During the year ended 31 December 2018,
certain local government authorities agreed repayment
schedules for the Group’s trade receivables past due of
HK$50,216,000 to be settled by instalments from 2020 to
2021. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set
out in note 39.

Trade receivables mainly represent revenue from the
provision of operation services and the billed amounts
of the service concession financial receivables. There
was no recent history of default in respect of the Group’s
trade receivables. Since most of the debtors are local
government authorities in the PRC and based on past
experience, management, based on IAS 39’s incurred
loss approach, believes that no impairment allowance was
necessary as at 31 December 2017 in respect of the past
due balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

R KRR T R HHA/E30E90H &)
Hl. #ZE2018F12831HLFE, &F
10 75 BURFAIL K 590 A 5= B 9360 A I U2 KR
50,216,000 TTMUERESE, BIIET
20205F 22021 0 HI% Y. BRAEH
RS SR BERAH— R IR T M E39.,

R E BRI EEIRS LRI
R SRBEFEENEXNS R
IRAREE. NEBNEIKTKFFTITH]
BHER. BT ASHURS ANFESM
B X ERES LK. EEEETE
FRRIENE39SHFESIRE, 1B5H
TFEREEALTEAZRNBERIBIAA
AIREHUE], BT 20175F12831H
HEBHREREHRELRE. FEAHF
FEZFERTIRR.
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22,

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d) 22. MNUTRER R Bt RUSERIE (£8)
From 1 January 2018, the Group has applied the simplified B2018F181HE, AERACKAREKL
approach to providing impairment for ECLs prescribed by FiE BRI SRS ENSE IS ERI TR
IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss B ERSIRIERIRSE, EEFSRERII
provision for all trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, WKFER AR NN TSRS,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared HEHEESIR, RIELREERXEES
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The R EHAR UG RTINS 2, T SCFRER
ECLs below also incorporate forward looking information. ERSIRIMINBIEEEE., FT20184F
The impairment as of 31 December 2018 was determined 128318 EEENT:
as follows:
Past due
more than
1 year but Past due
Past due within over
within 2 years 2 years
Current 1year JEHBEET— BEATR. Total
BPER BHI—ER (BFFER AL Sit
31 December 2018: 2018%E12831H:
Expected loss rate TSR 0% 3% 12% 53% 6%
Gross carrying IKEEME (Fi7T)
amount (HK$'000) 367,987 293,083 43,907 66,192 771,169
Impairment (HK$'000)  &i{E (F7T) - 9,650 5,056" 35,182* 49,888

A The impairment included an amount of HK$1,628,000 made
for specific trade receivables which were considered in default
due to indicators which showed that the Group was unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full.

The impairment included an amount of HK$33,164,000 made
for specific trade receivables which were considered in default
due to indicators which showed that the Group was unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full.

Included in “Trade and other receivables” of the Group as
at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were trade receivables
of HK$721,281,000 and HK$413,777,000, respectively, of
which HK$148,663,000 and HK$20,456,000, respectively,
are due from a non-controlling shareholder of a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary, HK$10,612,000 and HK$10,937,000,
respectively, are due from a related company,
HK$51,960,000 and nil, respectively, are due from fellow
subsidiaries.

Included in “Trade and other receivables” of the Group
as at 31 December 2018 was contingent consideration
receivable of HK$8,541,000 in relation to the acquisition
of Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute (note 31) during
the year ended 31 December 2018. The contingent
consideration receivable constitutes a derivative within the
scope of IFRS 9, and is recognised at its fair value as asset
on initial recognition and is subsequently remeasured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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A RESERE TR NS
1,628,000387t, MTEIS AL
RTRERBIIA SRS ASR, &
SRR L,

* RESERSERE KOS
33,164,007, MTEDSERAE
ERTTAEE IR A S FSH, &
AR L,

F2018FR2017F12B31HZER "[
T T R B LAt Bz W SR IR B 4 I K i
FX721,281,000/&505% 413,777,000
7T, HPNKIF2HEMEADIIEE
R AR 5 7/9148,663,0008 7T K%
20,456,000/87T. MUWCKEXATIFRIASD
#7910,612,000#%755510,937,000&
7. AR MU ERME AT KIS 55
51,960,000/ TR E.

F20185F12831HITARER "Rk
AR EMMUFRIT" AR RLIFR
1i18,541,000/8 7t 5822018512831
HIEFERBWERMNETR (MiE31) B
K. AN RUGRTHE R E R SR S
ENEISTBEANGTETIR, HTFNE
HARHEREARNMERANEZ, BEE
BARMEENTE, EAANEZEH
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

22,  RMTKERR EARIEAER (£E)

As at 31 December

F+=RBR=+—H
2018 2017
-0\ TtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#x FiT
At the beginning of the year F4) - -
Additions (note 31) wE (fEE3T) 5,643 -

Fair value gain recognised in FHRERFAZ AN EREE

profit or loss (note 6) (FfFi£6) 3,428 -
Exchange realignment LR (530) -
At the end of the year FR 8,541 -
Portion classified as current assets  ENRANEF=ZZR5 (6,386) -
Non-current portion JERPHAERSY 2,155 -

Details of the fair value disclosure of the contingent
consideration receivable as at 31 December 2018 are set
out in note 37 to the financial statements.

Included in “Other receivables and sundry deposits”
of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were
consideration receivables of HK$23,939,000 and
HK$29,657,000, respectively, due from third parties arising
from the disposals of service concession rights held by
Sugian City Cheng Bei Water Treatment Co., Ltd. and
Sugian City Cheng Bei Wastewater Treatment Co., Ltd.,
and the ageing of which is as follows:

F2018512 331 BEPAMAT MR 2
SMERERFBETHNES.

F20185FR2017512831H, HEF
EEAtKS EEERABREEHHIL
KN EEEBRABFRSIFTEE
WHBIFET N " EARRIKERIN 28 TE
" HIRWEE=751K1123,939,000/TK
29,657,000/870, EMEEOESIIT:

Group AEEH
As at 31 December
F+=BA=+—H
2018 2017
-0\ T—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi& FEIT
Current BDHA 10,871 12,433
Past due: -
- within 1 year - —FR - -
- more than 1 year but within - —FL HEFHRER
2 years 4,923 5,147
- over 2 years - WELLE 8,145 12,077
Amounts past due EHAFRIR 13,068 17,224
23,939 29,657
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23.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, certain of the Group’s
concession rights of the environmental water projects
(comprising concession rights of intangible assets, service
concession financial receivables and trade receivables)
with aggregate carrying amounts of HK$4,426,064,000 and
HK$4,362,784,000, respectively, were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group, further details
of which are included in notes 26 and 33 to the financial
statements.

All of the current portions of the above balances are
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses
within one year.

FIXED DEPOSITS WITH MATURITY PERIOD OVER
THREE MONTHS

22.

23.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

BIUHEGR R SRR (42)

F2018FER2017F12831H, A~EH
EFKREMBZIHFTFLEN (B1FL
AT HFFREN. SRSEFTFE
EE XA L BN SRR T B2 B2 TR )
RIMKE A B B14,426,064,00058 TR
4,362,784,000/8 T EIRIRIE AN ERTE
RRITRIR IR, H—SiFEET
726533,

ERERZ P RIERER S FRERRT T A
W EISFIA ST

HEIR A=A BLA LERER

Group FER
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—B-)\&F =t
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r Tt
(Restated)
Pledged bank deposits EHRRI TR 547,050 547,278
Fixed deposits EEIEK - 83,125
547,050 630,403

Deposits with banks with original maturity of more
than three months are not included in cash and cash
equivalents.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, bank deposits were
pledged to secure certain bank and other loans of the
Group (note 26).

Pledged bank deposits earn interest at the respective time
deposit rates, and are deposited with a creditworthy bank
with no recent history of default.

As at 31 December 2018, pledged bank deposits of the
Group were considered to be of low credit risk, and thus
the Group has assessed that the ECL for pledged deposits
is immaterial under the 12-month expected losses method.

As at 31 December 2017, the fixed deposit of
HK$83,125,000 had a maturity period of 180 days from the
date of acquisition. The balance was principal-protected and
carried the expected rate of return of 3.8% per annum. The
Group redeemed such deposit in the first quarter of 2018.
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[REE BT =B ZRITERARITA
REeERRESFN.

F20185R2017512H31H, RITHFER
EIERABS A SRS THRITR AR
(BfiE26) .

ERRI TR S B X A E AR
KRBFR, AFRTEERIFRILEAF
TOELICRZIRIT.

F2018F12831H, AEFARCIKMAR
TP AEERNGE, Eit, R&EH
ERIE12 BRI S IRiZHE EHRT
TSRS IRNREK,

F2017%128318, EHEXK
83,125,000/ T EMWA BEAEIT 1808
Hl, BXERERAMR, MEFHIFE
1R=EH3.8%, AEBHE2018FEE—Z
EMEERZAF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

355 1RERBTIE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24. MERMEFND
Group FEH
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
-0\ TtF
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi&r T8
Cash on hand and bank balances FEHMENIRITES 1,706,871 2,074,414
Restricted balances in financial FERERZIRFISER
institutions - 95,000
Pledged bank deposits EERRITIER 21,702 -
1,728,573 2,169,414
Company b G
Cash and cash equivalents FRSRRITER 31,661 27,783

As at 31 December 2017, the restricted balances in
financial institutions had a maturity period of 21 days
from the date of acquisition. The balances were principal-
protected and carried the expected rate of return of 4.4%
per annum.

As at 31 December 2018, the pledged bank deposits
are pledged to banks for the issuance of guarantees
by the banks to the grantors in respect of the specific
performance duties by the Group under certain service
concession agreements.

Included in “Cash and cash equivalents” of the Group
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are deposits of
HK$6,926,000 and HK$5,597,000, respectively, placed with
a related party bank, which is a fellow subsidiary of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to HK$1,687,447,000 and HK$2,018,696,000, respectively.
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

F2017F12831H, TERIIRIZR
FIEREWABHRIT21HEIH. BX
EREBHRAMR, MEMRAFRKREA
4.4%.,

F20185F12831H, EfRRITEAXIR
BTIRT, AR TETRSHTEE
YT NS E B £I ST AR TR
NEHBR,

F20185FR2017512831H, KR&EH
"MERAEEN" BREFRT AT

BRMWBABRKITIRITZER, 2588

6,926,000/t 5,597,0007T.

F20185FR20175F12831H, K&EH
UABRIHERNRERAEZFNY 55!
791,687,447,000%7T52,018,696,000
BT, ARMHAEEE HRTIRAEMERT,
M, HRIEFERM (INCEIREG) K&
(FIC. SCRMTCEERE) . ~EH
AERENEEINCW S ZIRITRAR
M SeRplEL B ES

IRITTFIRFHNRERITR, MiFsEETs
RIESHRITFAEXREE. RITERD
T EERIFEERHATEILCRZR
7.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

A S5 R aRbTiE

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (cont’d) 24.

BHE_T—/\F+_A=T—HLAIMERFE

As at 31 December 2018, cash and cash equivalents of
the Group and the Company were considered to be of
low credit risk, and thus the Group has assessed that the
ECL for cash and cash equivalents is immaterial under the
12-month expected losses method.

HERREFNY (8)

F20185F128318, FEFARALEH
RERNESFNIBN RSN,
Itt, AERASHRIE12BRFUASIRIET
ERERNESFNIITEERTIRATR
BX

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25.  RIfIMERRRELfth BT FRIR
Group FEHE
As at 31 December
F+=-BA=+—H
2018 2017
—T-)\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&rc FETT
Trade payables RATRER 1,472,377 1,132,040
Amounts due to intermediate VKRSl ET NI
holding companies 4 -
Dividend payable to a M EERMEATN
non-controlling shareholder of FEERRARIRER R
a non-wholly-owned subsidiary 28,583 22,444
Interest payable RATFIE 64,776 43,963
Payable for acquisition R WIEFRIR 14,994 -
Tax payables NIRRT R 42,541 39,261
Other creditors and accrued HAB N (TR Tt
expenses 25 271,820 315,857
Total IS0 1,895,095 1,553,565
Company PG
Amounts due to subsidiaries IRl ENIEND 26,936 105,889
Interest payable INZREAIESY 62,912 43,805
Other creditors and accrued HAh R FRIUR Tt
expenses #=F 12,153 5,837
Total ISt 102,001 155,531
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (cont’d)
Included in “Trade and other payables” are trade payables
with the following ageing analysis based on the date of

invoice as at the end of the reporting period:

Group

355 1RERBTIE

25,  RIMERREMRI{IFAER (££)
" RIS KER R ELAB R FRTR " BB R T
;o RREAE | ETIRESRZ
MRS SHTan T -
FEH

As at 31 December

F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
-0\ TtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r Tt
Within 6 months ~TBEA 1,219,776 984,111
Over 6 months ~BLLE 252,601 147,929
1,472,377 1,132,040

Trade payables totalling HK$1,231,468,000 and
HK$982,950,000 as at 31 December 2018 and 2017
represent construction payables for the Group’s BOT and
certain BOO arrangements, of which HK$1,136,000 and
HK$1,188,000 is due to a non-controlling shareholder of a
non-wholly-owned subsidiary. The construction payables
are not yet due for payment.

Included in “Trade payables” of the Group as at 31
December 2018 and 2017 are trade payables of
HK$6,940,000 and HK$7,116,000, respectively, due to
an associate, which are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered by the
associate to its major customers.

Included in “Other creditors and accrued expenses”
of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is a
guarantee deposit of HK$14,230,000 and HK$14,144,000,
respectively, from a former director of a subsidiary.

The amounts due to intermediate holding companies of the
Group as at 31 December 2018 is unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2018 and 2017 are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

F20185F )% 2017512831 HAIRHT KK
=\E11,231,468,000/#755 982,950,000
BT AMAERBOTRETFBOORHEMN
TROZIERDI, HA1,136,0008 TR
1,188,000/ T ANTIFERMBATZ
IHERRAAIN. EIE TN SIKRER
FUHAFRIA,

F2018FR2017F12A31H, K
B NI BENMARE QTR
fIMKFX6,940,000# 75K 7,116,000
70, BRMIATIER. RERESEKE
RNEARFEEEFNERIEEIEEE
=iE,

F20185FR20175F12831H, w&EH

"EBR TR TR R SR
NENI—RRIESAYERIZE14,230,000
BTN 14,144,000557T.

F2018F12R318, NIAREHEFENE
RABRIMATER. RERBRERE

&,
F2018F K 20175128318, MIAR

B EATRIATER. BESIRERK
=ik,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
)ﬂ\j‘%ﬂﬁ%lﬂzﬁi I For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

BHE_T—/\F+_A=T—HLAIMERFE
26. BORROWINGS 26.

/N
/N
NN

Group FEH

As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2017
FE-)N\F+"HB=+—H FTEFE—tFt+"B=1—H

Maturity HK$’000 Maturity HK$'000
)] = Fi& ]S T8I
Non-current IEifsh
Bank and other loans — RITREMBEER -
secured aitE 2020-2032 1,453,818 2019-2032 2,458,680
Bank loans — unsecured  $RITEIFK — FCHEIH 2020-2038 1,951,154 2019-2038 1,088,315
Corporate bonds — NEMRS - FoHEE
unsecured (note 27) (PE;E27) 2022-2023 2,035,404 2022 1,181,035
5,440,376 4,728,030
Current inah
Bank and other loans — RITREMEIR -
secured E=Fivicd 2019 1,062,132 2018 248,881
Bank loans — unsecured  $RITHIFR — FCHEIH 2019 1,098,268 2018 1,654,841
2,160,400 1,903,722
7,600,776 6,631,752
Comany Y. /N
Non-current 3Eifzh
Bank loans — secured BRI - BN 2025 775,150 2025 896,655
Bank loans — unsecured  $RITRER — K 2021 701,032 - -
Corporate bonds — PElfRE - T
unsecured (note 27) (BF;E27) 2022-2023 2,035,404 2022 1,181,035
3,511,586 2,077,690
Current g
Bank loans — secured IRITHEFR - BiEE 2019 121,132 2018 121,183
Bank loans — unsecured  {RITEIER — FHEHR 2019 932,187 2018 1,235,219
1,053,319 1,356,402
4,564,905 3,434,092
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

355 1RERBTIE

26. BORROWINGS (cont'd) 26. 5 (&)
Group AEEH
As at 31 December
F+=-BA=+—H
2018 2017
-0\ TtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Figr FETT
Analysed into: St
Bank loans repayable: IMERRI TR
Within one year or on demand —ENEIEEK 1,663,126 1,898,402
In the second year B_FE 601,391 1,084,057
In the third to fifth years, inclusive B=FZELTF (BIFEERFE) 2,010,762 1,112,248
Beyond five years BREFE 792,819 830,826
5,068,098 4,925,533
Other loans repayable: IZREM AR
Within one year or on demand —FREIREK 497,274 5,320
In the second year E_F - 519,864
497,274 525,184
Corporate bond repayable: IMEENBNRE:
In the second year E_F 1,131,070 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE=FZFZFhHF (BEFEEREHE) 904,334 1,181,035
2,035,404 1,181,035
Total Bit 7,600,776 6,631,752
Company ¥ X/ |
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: IMERRITR:
Within one year or on demand —FEIREX 1,053,319 1,356,402
In the second year = 119,019 121,183
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=FEFHEF (BEERERE) 1,066,543 363,548
Beyond five years FAFER 290,620 411,924
2,529,501 2,253,057
Corporate bond repayable: UESGYN=T =
In the second year BFE 1,131,070 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=FEFHEF (BEERMRE) 904,334 1,181,035
2,035,404 1,181,035
Total Bt 4,564,905 3,434,092
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26.

BORROWINGS (cont’d)

Note: For the purpose of the above analysis, the corporate
bond payable in the amount of HK$2,035,404,000 and
HK$1,181,035,000 as at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively, and containing an option to sell back the
bond to the Company which is exercisable after three
years from the issuance date (note 27) is analysed as to
HK$1,131,070,000 repayable within the second year and
HK$904,334,000 repayable within the third to fifth years,
inclusive as at 31 December 2018 and HK$1,181,035,000
repayable within the third to fifth years, inclusive as at 31
December 2017.

The corporate bond payable at 31 December 2018 and 2017
will be due for repayment on the respective maturity dates
(note 27) unless being sold back to the Company prior to the
maturity pursuant to the terms of the Corporate Bond. Based
on the maturity terms of the Corporate Bond (as defined in
note 27), the amounts repayable in respect of the corporate
bond payable are: HK$2,035,404,000 repayabe within the
third to fifth years, inclusive as at 31 December 2018, and
HK$1,181,035,000 repayable within the third to fifth years,
inclusive as at 31 December 2017.

Certain banking facilities and other loans of the Group are
secured by certain revenue, receivables and intangible
assets in connection with the Group’s service concession
arrangements, and bank deposits. Such bank loan
facilities and other loans, amounting to HK$2,754,489,000
and HK$2,924,874,000 as at 31 December 2018
and 2017, respectively, were utilised to the extent of
HK$2,515,950,000 and HK$2,707,561,000, respectively.
Among the secured banking facilities, HK$309,593,000
and HK$352,157,000 are guaranteed by the Company
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively, and
were utilised to the extent of HK$309,593,000 and
HK$352,157,000 as at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

The unsecured bank loan facilities, amounting to
HK$6,793,701,000 and HK$4,589,334,000 as at 31
December 2018 and 2017, respectively, were utilised to
the extent of HK$3,049,422,000 and HK$2,743,156,000,
respectively. Among the unsecured banking facilities of
the Group, HK$1,067,055,000 and HK$949,610,000 are
guaranteed by the Company as at 31 December 2018
and 2017, respectively, and were utilised to the extent of
HK$830,409,000 and HK$866,485,000 as at 31 December
2018 and 2017, respectively.
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26.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

8B ()
MiE: HMLERSWTS, MEAFES

F2018FR2017F12831HM
&5 51792,035,404,00088 T
1,181,035,000 7, HITEHEMR
FERTFANBDEEREN, TEXR
THE (ME27) Bit=FF17
ff, NEMREFIDITABE20185F
12A31BATFE_FREENESER
731,131,070,000 BT RATFE=
ERhFH (BEEERFE) FiEN
E£H7904,334,000BTLAREE
20175 12A31AMTHE=ERF
N (BEEERT) FENESEHA
1,181,035,00057T.

F2018FR20175E128 31 ARHT
NERFIBTHERBEA (MHE27)
2R, HERIBARGRS (EXMEE
27) ZE&FTFRHRIERIFALNTN
BRI, IREATES (EXW
iE27) ZER, BT ATREMR
(BRI EZE2018F12831H
(BiEZA) MTHE=EFRFENE
#[92,035,404,000i8 TR EZE2017
F12831H (8#F%H) MTFE=
EERFREIERT,181,035,000/8
JGo

KEFZETIRTHAREMETURER
BT E5AERRSFAFEETHHERN
WIN. RIGERIR TR R = LA SRITER
{EHEIR, F20185F/%2017512831H,
ZERITEFTMEREMBETIZES D
792,754,489,000i85552,924,874,000
BT, Hh9RIENA2,515,950,000i8
TtK2,707,561,00087C, FEEIRIAE
TREEE(EH, 309,593,000 TR
352,157,000 cHALN T 51F2018
FER2017F128318EE®E, HEhF
2018F K% 201751283189 Bz B
309,593,000/t K 352,157,000/7T.

F2018ER2017E12831H, Kk
RITEARIEE(E558796,793,701,000
#7TR24,589,334,000i85T, Hrh4> 85
FH3,049,422,000i&5T/%2,743,156,000
B, EXAEHLHEBRITRERE
1, 1,067,055,0003755% 949,610,000
BITHAATSBIF20185F 82017512
B31H#EE, EdF2018F k20175
1283184 851F830,409,00058 TR
866,485,000357T.
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BORROWINGS (cont’d)

Bank loan facilities of HK$5,233,720,000 and
HK$3,377,205,000 as at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively, are subject to the fulfilment of covenants
relating to certain of the Group’s financial ratios. If the
Group were to breach the covenants, the drawn down
facilities would become payable on demand. At 31
December 2018 and 2017, such facilities were utilised to
the extent of HK$3,772,447,000 and HK$2,878,162,000
respectively. The Group regularly monitors its compliance
with these covenants. Certain banking facilities also restrict
some of the Company’s subsidiaries from declaring or
paying dividends to shareholders without obtaining prior
written approval of the banks or require the Group to
process waste water treatment operating fee via respective
financial institutions.  Further details of the Group’s
management of liquidity risk are set out in note 39.

The Group’s bank and other loans of HK$497,274,000
and HK$525,184,000 as at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively, bear interest at fixed rates ranging from
2.88% to 2.90% and 2.88% to 2.90% per annum, bank
loans of HK$5,068,098,000 and HK$4,925,533,000 as at
31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively, bear interest
at variable rates ranging from, 2.95% to 5.02% and
2.60% to 4.90% per annum, and corporate bond payable
of HK$2,035,404,000 and HK$1,181,035,000 as at 31
December 2018 and 2017, respectively, bears interest at
fixed rates ranging from 4.55% to 4.60% per annum and a
fixed rate of 4.55% per annum.

The Group’s bank and other loans of HK$1,052,583,000
and HK$1,916,057,000 and as at 31 December 2018
and 2017, respectively, are denominated in USS$,
HK$2,309,585,000 and HK$2,966,487,000 as at 31
December 2018 and 2017, respectively, are denominated
in RMB, HK$2,203,204,000 and HK$568,173,000 as at 31
December 2018 and 2017, respectively, are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars.

26.

355 1RERBTIE

&5 (8)

F20185FR2017&E128B31H, BIFH
RN RS9 81/95,233,720,000/ T K%
3,377,205,0008 /a5 AERAET
WS REXNRE. MAEREREZ
B, RN EREANEKRER.,
F20185FER2017812831H, BXq
BERETHBIEIEE3,772,447,000i87T %
2,878,162,00075. AERSEHAGEE
ZELENBTER. &TIRITREE
BRI AN DETHBATAEERRK
RITERPEIE T RRERERESZ TR
B, BERAERAETIEENSTIEL
ESKAIBEER. AEASERDNES
XA — B TR E39.

F2018FER20175F12831H, &EH
RITREMERDB1E497,274,000/8
7oA 525,184,000 TR EEEF RN
F2.88%%F2.90%5%2.88%%E2.90%it
B; F2018FKR2017F12831H,
RITEIE 9 R155,068,098,000/# TR
4,925,533,000/8 Toi&F s EFIZR2.95%
E5.02%K%2.60%FE4.90%it8, &
F2018F K 2017F12831HMN A
TEEDEIE2,035,404,0008 0K
1,181,035,000/7t, EEEFFENTF
4.55%F4.60%1 BN EEEFIZRA.55%
ItE.

F2018FR2017F12831H, AEH
RITR AT 5IE1,052,583,000/8
7t 1,916,057,000& cLAZETTIHE ;
F2018FR2017F12831H, $BB
2,309,585,000/&7Tt52,966,487,00078
TTUARMIHE; RF20185FK20175F
128318, $8152,203,204,000i8TKk
568,173,000/ LA TTIHE.
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27.

CORPORATE BONDS

Group and Company

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

=S
FEARSAT

As at 31 December

F+=-BA=+—H
2018 2017
—B—-)\&F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Figw FT
Non-current E | 370500
Corporate bonds - unsecured NERE — TR 2,035,404 1,181,035

On 21 July 2017, the Company entered into an
underwriting agreement with the relevant financial
institution in relation to the issue of RMB-denominated
corporate bonds with an aggregate principal amount of not
exceeding RMB2.5 billion (the “Corporate Bond”) to the
qualified investors in the PRC.

On 24 July 2017 (the “First Issue Date”), the Company
issued the first tranche of the Corporate Bond with
principal amount of RMB1 billion, before related expenses
of RMB5,964,000, with a maturity period of five years from
the First Issue Date. The first tranche of the Corporate
Bond bears interest at a rate of 4.55% per annum and
the interest will be repayable by the Company annually
from the First Issue Date and up to the maturity date.
According to the terms of the Corporate Bond, after three
years from the First Issue Date, the Company is entitled to
adjust the interest rate of the first tranche of the Corporate
Bond for the remaining two years before the maturity date.
The Company will announce the adjustment in interest
rate, if any, 20 working days prior to the payment of the
interest for the third year after the First Issue Date. The
bondholders have an option to sell back the first tranche of
the Corporate Bond to the Company at the nominal price,
and the exercisable period of this option is five working
days immediately after the issuance of the Company’s
announcement related to the adjustment in interest rate of
the first tranche of the Corporate Bond.
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FR01757821H, A THRAFESIER
BERITUARTIHEASSEARIZ25
ZANETHAERS ( "REEE ) 5
X ERIRT SR MY,

F2017F7H248 ( "BXREH
H" ), ARIRITE—HEESTN
10{ZTT AR™ (30BRIEXFF3Z5,964,000
TTARTAEN BWAERS, HRHERE
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355 1RERBTIE

CORPORATE BONDS (cont’d) 27. RAEESH (5)
On 16 August 2018 (the “Second Issue Date”), the F2018%F8H16H ( "S£Z/R&1TH
Company issued the second tranche of the Corporate H" ) | AABERITE_ZIALETH8.00
Bond with principal amount of RMB800 million, before {ZT AR (0RME*xFFS24,171,0005T
related expenses of RMB4,171,000, with a maturity period ABETE) NAE6ES, BHRASZE X
of five years from the Second Issue Date. The second RITHERIT EIRE., FIAEE
tranche of the Corporate Bond comprises two types of HSEEMEES: ()A254.00{ZTTAR
bonds: (i) bonds with principal amount of RMB400 million THIRERZEL.60%TENES, (VAS
which bear interest at a rate of 4.60% per annum, and (ii) 214.001Z7c AR HIRERZERS.58%1TER
bonds with principal amount of RMB400 million which bear s, AANTEBTE R ETHERES
interest at a rate of 4.58% per annum. The interest will BRLIBESGRE, BIEATEEZE
be repayable by the Company annually from the Second F, BREIRARTHEBEIT=FE, &2
Issue Date and up to the maturity date. According to the FAENARERSE M A TESETIHHEISR
terms of the Corporate Bond, after three years from the THREZER, AATBTIZNBERL
Second Issue Date, the Company is entitled to adjust the THHEE=ENFERI20NT/EAE
interest rate of the second tranche of the Corporate Bond HEXRREE (W18) . ESEEARGE
for the remaining two years before the maturity date. BRANMEBEE A TREERTAN
The Company will announce the adjustment in interest 8, RZEENTFEIR N EEANTE
rate, if any, 20 working days prior to the payment of the KEBRE_MATIEEEENASTIAE
interest for the third year after the Second Issue Date. HENT{ER.
The bondholders have an option to sell back the second
tranche of the Corporate Bond to the Company at the
nominal price, and the exercisable period of this option
is five working days immediately after the issuance of the
Company’s announcement related to the adjustment in
interest rate of the second tranche of the Corporate Bond.
Subsequent to the end of the financial year, the Company FESIREALERE, AATF2019
issued the third tranche of the Corporate Bond on 21 F1821H ( "S8=R&178" ) k17
January 2019 (the “Thrid Issue Date”) with principal AEENT7.001ZTTART (OREXRF
amount of RMB700 million, before related expenses, with Bl) NE=MAERE, BRAFE=ZRA
a maturity period of five years from the Thrid Issue Date, as THHIRIT AEAR S, H—SiEEE T
further detailed in note 40. i¥40,
DEFERRED TAX 28. RERIAGAR
Group FEHE
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—T-)\F “EF—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r FETT
Deferred tax liabilities iRFEFRIn AR 1,379,738 1,270,846
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I For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

BHE_T—/\F+_A=T—HLAIMERFE

DEFERRED TAX (cont’d)

The movements in deferred tax liabilities/(assets) during the

28. EIETRIRGAE (4%)

BIERIAR (FF) TUSRERE

financial year are as follows: ZEENUNTR:
Group AEHE
Temporary
differences
Fair value on assets
adjustments recognised
arising from  under IFRIC 12 Undistributed
acquisition of  1RIEEIFFVSIR profits of
subsidiaries ~ Hi#BEHEREE  subsidiaries
KWEMBARRE  125HAZEF MEAE  Others Total
£2 RRMMERE ZERtER RREEF Hfts it
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000
Fién Fién FiEn FiEn FiEn
At 1 January 2017 F2017E1818 213,813 724,628 126,235 (12,984) 1,051,692
Deferred tax charged/ & 7 (GtA) HRes
(credited) to profit or AOIBRERIR
loss (13.972) 137,812 25,540 ~ 149,380
Exchange realignment L EREE 13,852 47,960 8,784 (822) 69,774
At 31 December 2017 F2017%12A31H
and 1 January 2018 R2018%F181H 213,693 910,400 160,559 (13,806) 1,270,846
Deferred tax charged/ 0B 7 (ItA\) 1Ras
(credited) to profit or AOERERIIN
loss (11,845) 135,150 47,556 - 170,861
Acquisition of KB A
subsidiaries (note 31) (BHE31) 2,269 - - - 2,269
Exchange realignment LR B (10,865) (44,968) (9,005) 600 (64,238)
At 31 December 2018 F2018F12H31H 193,252 1,000,582 199,110 (13,206) 1,379,738
The Group has estimated tax losses arising in F2018FR%20174E12831H, AZ£H

Mainland China of approximately HK$117,783,000 and
HK$98,154,000 as at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively, that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets in respect of
such tax losses arising in Mainland China have not been
recognised as they have arisen in certain subsidiaries
that have been loss-making for some time and it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

THREREFEZ AT RIS RS 5149
117,783,000/87T5 98,154,000 Ti5F
—EhFRERRTIREFESIRZ AT
BENRHREF. ATEXSHRHKEEH
NsHm—EREBEZETHEAR, BHRIA
FRLRFREF G A A SR F AT o) FRRY
BINSIR, SUEEHRE AR EZ1%F
RIS R AR IS
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DEFERRED TAX (cont’d) 28. BIEFRIRGAfR (4E)
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a RIESREWAAERE, THERMIZ
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to NSRRI EBIMEEEERRIBRE
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises TN 0%30%E. 1ZMEB2008F181
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective Hie4dx, FEHATF2007FE12831HE
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 ZBH, HPERtSEIMEEEITGE
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be FENXITERSEL, NaRARER
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and iR, NERIERREN5%E10%,
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the Ett, ANEFRHFHERMRIZAME
applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable NEDIRE2008F1B1H-4 2 &BFAY
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those R BT IR SR,
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the A EERERIRAIREHAMN TR
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders. EfifER,
SHARE CAPITAL 29. PBERX
Group and Company FERRAELT]
As at 31 December
F+-BA=+—H
2018 2017
-0\ TtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&rc FETT
Authorised: EE:
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares 10,000,000,0008% A% HEE
of HK$1 each 1B ThEER 10,000,000 10,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRERE:
2,676,062,186 and 2,625,641,871 2,676,062,186f%5:2,625,641,871h%
ordinary shares of HK$1 each EBIREEETHIEER 2,676,062 2,625,642
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d) 29. BEFE (£)
Group and Company (cont’d) FERARFAT (48)
A summary of movements in share capital is as follows: AT TEE T
Number of
shares in
issue Share Share
e&1Tian capital premium Total
#E8 ;23 BRiRizafn 23t
‘000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
iz Fi& Figr Fi&x
At 1 January 2017 F2017F1 B1H 2,609,908 2,609,908 1,240,300 3,850,208
Issue of ordinary shares  RIBURKEITLIA
pursuant to a scrip ITEER
dividend scheme 15,734 15,734 26,116 41,850
Share issue expenses BRI RITFFSZ - - (168) (168)
At 31 December 2017 F2017%F12831H
and 1 January 2018 N2018FE181H 2,625,642 2,625,642 1,266,248 3,891,890
Issue of ordinary shares  tRIBLABRACEITK
pursuant to a scrip RITEEBR
dividend scheme 50,420 50,420 67,281 117,701
Share issue expenses i RITH - (348) (348)
At 31 December 2018 F2018F12H31H 2,676,062 2,676,062 1,333,181 4,009,243

During the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the
Company allotted and issued 15,733,870 new ordinary
shares to ordinary shareholders who had elected to
participate in the scrip dividend scheme. Accordingly, the
Company recognised share premium of HK$26,116,299
arising from the issuance of such shares and the
additional listing fee of SGD30,000 (HK$167,993) would be
recognised as a reduction to share premium.

The Company declared a dividend of SGD0.0049 per
ordinary share for the financial year ended 31 December
2017. According to the result of an election between a
cash dividend and a scrip dividend by shareholders of the
Company, dividends of SGD2,612,855 were settled by the
Company in cash and 24,411,431 ordinary shares were
issued on 21 June 2018 to settle the remaining dividend
payable of SGD10,252,789 (equivalent to approximately
HK$60,068,000).
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#HZE2017F12A31HIENMEFE, &
RNEAEESSURAET AR ERE
KRR&RIT15,733,870REBR RN . 1B
AR THINT KITROFERRD &
11126,116,299387T, MINTERNKRITE
F330,0005 07T (BP167,99377T)
INSIBRAD AN EO R,

AATEREZE2017FE12831H 1M
BEERNRE SR ER0.00495 N
TC. RBEALTRENUESKRE R LR
REFNERER, A IS E RS
2,612,8553 MK TT, ’24,411,431 (8%
BZTF2018F6H 21 H AITLAE BTSN
{FTRRE10,252, 789K TT (AAXTFA
60,068,000/7T).
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SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d)

The Company declared an interim dividend of SGD0.0049
per ordinary share for the financial year ended 31
December 2018. According to the result of an election
between a cash dividend and a scrip dividend by
shareholders of the Company, dividends of SGD2,919,823
were settled by the Company in cash and 26,008,884
ordinary shares were issued on 11 October 2018 to
settle the remaining dividend payable of SGD10,065,437
(equivalent to approximately HK$57,633,000).

355 1RERBTIE

29. BRAF (88)

ANEETREZE2018FE12831HIEE
FENTHAREEREEZ0.004957 N
BT, RIEANTRENINERER IR
REMERER, ANBLINESEERE
2,919,823# 3K c, RF20185108
11H%1726,008,8848% & B LA ST
SR{TERE10,065,4375FIMET (FEXSTF
#357,633,000{87T) .

RESERVES 30. fEE
Group Company
AEH ¥ VNG|
2018 2017 2018 2017
—g-N\E —F—tF ITB-IN\&E —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FigT Tt Figr FHT
Share premium RN 1,333,181 1,266,248 123,131 56,198
Foreign currency S EiESE
translation reserve (502,623) (22,051) (934,538) (492,810)
Statutory reserve RS 300,386 200,799 = -
Contributed surplus BNBRES
reserve 1,229,302 1,229,302 7,639,082 7,639,082
Other reserves Hithigss (2,181) (2,181) 64,953 64,953
Retained earnings {REBEF 2,949,063 2,559,424 201,096 79,382
5,307,128 5,231,541 7,093,724 7,346,805
(i) Foreign currency translation reserve (i) ShRIREES

(ii)

The foreign currency translation reserve represents
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations whose
functional currencies are different from the Group’s
presentation currency.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the subsidiaries in the
PRC are required to allocate 10% of the statutory
after tax profits to the statutory reserve until the
cumulative total of the reserve reaches 50% of the
subsidiaries’ registered capital. Subject to approval
from the relevant PRC authorities, the statutory
reserve may be used to offset any accumulated
losses or increase the registered capital of the
subsidiaries. The statutory reserve is not available
for dividend distribution to shareholders of the PRC
subsidiaries.

(i)

SrhieEEEIEREIIREEHSE
SRR MARRTEINL SIS
RERATTERIC R ER.

EEMEE

RIEERTHEMBELSN (FME
%) |, EBMEATISEE
fESFtithE. RIEERNTES
HENRMRE, ED10%R9EE
IRiERAMOBEEEMESE, B
ERHEREIAEMEARIEM
BARIS0%AIE. FHEXPEN
RS, IEEMETRTIREE
AR SIREIENIME A BB
ABAAE, EEMENMERTRTEMN
BABBIRIMIIRE.
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30.

31.

RESERVES (cont’d)
(i) Contributed surplus reserve

Contributed surplus reserve arose from the reduction
of share premium. Pursuant to the special resolution
at the Special General Meeting of the Company held
on 15 December 2015, the entire amount standing
to the credit of the Company’s share premium was
reduced to nil and transferred to the contributed
surplus reserve.

(iv)  Other reserves

Other reserves comprise capital reserve and other
reserve.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Acquisition of Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute

On 13 June 2018, BEWI entered into an equity purchase
agreement (the “Xuzhou Agreement”) with certain
individual third parties (the “Xuzhou Sellers”), pursuant
to which BEWI agreed to acquire the entire equity interest
in Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute from the Xuzhou
Sellers at a consideration of RMB82,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$99,946,000) in cash (the “Xuzhou
Acquisition”). Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute and
its subsidiary (collectively, “Xuzhou Engineering Design
Institute Group”) are engaged in the survey, mapping,
design and consultancy services for projects relating to
roads, bridges, tunnels, water supply, drainage, heat, gas,
electricity, construction, landscape, sanitation, highways
and water conservancy, as well as the consultancy
services for project costs and project management.

Pursuant to the Xuzhou Agreement, the Xuzhou Sellers
and Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute guarantee
and undertake to BEWI that the amount of new business
contracts entered into by Xuzhou Engineering Design
Institute Group shall be no less than RMB55,000,000 (the
“Target Amount”) for each calendar year from 2018 to
2020, and the aggregate amount of the new business
contracts entered into by Xuzhou Engineering Design
Institute Group shall be no less than RMB165,000,000 (the
“Target Sum”) during 2018 to 2020 (the “Performance
Guarantee”). In the event that the Performance Guarantee
is unfulfilled, the Xuzhou Sellers undertakes to pay to
BEWI a compensation which is determined depending on
the amount of shortfall between the actual new business
contract amount and the Target Amount and/or the Target
Sum.
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30.

31.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

fEs (£5)
(i) HMNBEES

LRI RIT SIREERIR
foigf. WIE_F—AF+—A+
b= DR NG S 53l e
BIAHFRIRINE, SATRMIE
MNEEPHKSMHAETIILIRE
BNBERIES.

(iv) Efthts

HittfEEREEREERE b
&.

WSEH
AR MR B

F2018F6813H, ItFEHIKBITEEE
FE=ADA ( "HINER" ) T3S
STHN ( “ERINERY ) 1R, JEEDER
KSR ERERMNSEARI R
SERIAN, N AIE£82,000,00057c AET
(1B24F£4999,946,000587T)  ( “#4iusa
R ) . BMNEHRREREAT SR
R (FR EhEHRER ) WEBEK.
R, B, Ak Hk. #. MBS, B
7. ER. EME. IEDE. QBERIK
A IFEROENER. M. TSRS AR
TSN EIIRS N TIEINE SRS,

TRIBRINIMNY, RN RARNIZ TR
EFEHAKSIRERERRIAE, BT
PREEF 2018 2020 F BT ST AUFT
W EERFRIVEAETF 55,000,000 A
R "BiIFREWm ) , RESNgiHRER
F2018FEF2020FT NS ERR
EA/DF 165,000,000t ART ( "BF
BE ) ( "BYRE ) . HENEIE
RiKRL, BMNEHEBRILTEIEAKSIR
BfIMZE, ZAMERFELIR S ER
IS Bire /= B i ERE
Eo
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (cont’d)
Acquisition of Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute (cont'd)

The consideration for the Xuzhou Acquisition was satisfied
by the Group as follows:

- HK$99,946,000 in cash;

- contingent consideration receivable of
HK$5,643,000, arising from the Performance
Guarantee.

At the date of acquisition, Xuzhou Engineering Design
Institute had claims against certain customers for
approximately RMB200 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$244 million). Pursuant to the Xuzhou Agreement, any
claim amounts recovered from the relevant customers
within three years from completion of the Xuzhou
Acquisition, after deducting the related recovery costs, tax
expenses and commission expenses, will be payable to the
Xuzhou Sellers. Having considered all currently available
information, the directors of the Company are of the view
that the recovery of the claims is not probable.

The Xuzhou Acquisition was completed on 30 June 2018,
and thereafter Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute and
its subsidiary became indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company. The cash consideration for the Xuzhou
Acquisition of HK$39,979,000 and HK$44,973,000
were paid by the Group in June 2018 and September
2018, respectively, and the remaining consideration
of HK$14,994,000 was recorded in “Trade and other
payables” in the consolidated statements of financial
position as at 31 December 2018.

31.

355 1RERBTIE

WSEH (88)
RN (4R)
REFAS A HRMN B BRI AN T -

- £99,946,0007T;
- BEORIETERISARN BRI
5,643,000/7T,

TFWWHES, RMNRIBREETEFEER
£92.00ZTARM (HBETFTH2.44128
7T) . RIERMNDY, BSeRdRMNKIEE
it =FRBEEXEPREAETRER
SE (FINPRERIEIRA. ISR
BEFT) |, BXAFHRMNESG. 2FE
BRIFMEZBERERNRE, AREESIAN
RAFTREUL Bl R ZRFRTA.

BN WEIRF 20185683005,

HERMNZITRRENBE AR R AEANE]
MRS ZANEA T, HINKBEEIRAII
£411139,979,000/87T 5 44,973,000/
TTEHAERSBIFT2018FE6852018
FIRXAT, MRTRMN14,994,000/8
TTT2018FE 12831 HHNEAMSIRNE

" AR R EAERATERIR SFURK.,
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (cont'd) 31, WESH (&)
Acquisition of Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute (cont'd) AR (48)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of FWWEER, HRNRITBRERZ ATIRBIE
Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute Group as at the date FERARZ ARMNENT:

of acquisition were as follows:

Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
Notes URaRSERIAZ
BiFiE 2FE
HK$’000
FiEx
Property, plant and equipment il . TRERIRE 14 11,614
Intangible assets TR &= 16 13,638
Trade and other receivables RLRTMEER R EL R GRIT 38,721
Cash and cash equivalents MERINEEN 33,458
Deferred tax liabilities BRI A 3R 28 (2,269)
Trade and other payables NI TR ELAB R T FRI (39,266)
Tax payable VARG (1,428)
Total identifiable net assets at BAMMESIMKAI IR BIEE ™=
fair value FERER 54,468
Goodwill on acquisition W SRE 17 39,835
94,303
Satisfied by: LARHIBHEE:
Cash e 99,946
Contingent consideration AR LRI
receivable 22 (5,643)
94,303
The fair values of the trade and other receivables as at the FUW I EER, Rz Mt R EL b 7 I 2%
date of acquisition amounted to HK$38,721,000. The gross TR A & 7938,721,0008 T,
contractual amount of trade and other receivables was WM ER B B R SR TR R S B LA
HK$50,569,000, of which HK$11,848,000 is expected to be 50,569,0003%5C, Er11,848,000/87C
uncollectible. FREAA WA,
The fair value of contingent consideration receivable as F2018F6830H, AN RKER
at 30 June 2018 is based on the valuation report issued TR R ERIERST Sl & B GE)T
by Grant Sherman Appraisal Limited, an independent BTG ERA S S LI EIR S SRALL
professional qualified valuer, by using a discounted cash MNE mEEtite,

flow method with scenario simulation.
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (cont’d) 31.

Acquisition of Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute (cont'd)

Significant unobservable valuation inputs for the fair value
measurement of contingent consideration receivable as at
30 June 2018 are as follows:

Significant unobservable inputs
BRI GEDAN LR

355 1RERBTIE

WSEEH (85)

WIS (£2)
F2018F6830H, AN RIKEIAA
AMETENEXRR T NRGERAEIE
(I

Range
EE

Estimated amounts of the new business contracts entered
into by Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute Group during
2018 to 2020

BN BREERT2018F = 20201 T 7 KT S & RRHITT S5

Discount rate

NEEEZR

A significant increase (decrease) in the amounts of the new
business contracts entered into by Xuzhou Engineering
Design Institute Group would result in a significant
decrease (increase) in the fair value of the contingent
consideration receivable. A significant increase (decrease)
in the discount rate would result in a significant decrease
(increase) in the fair value of the contingent consideration
receivable.

The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$878,000 for
this acquisition. These transaction costs were expensed
and included in “Administrative and other operating
expenses” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2018.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition
of Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute is as follows:

RMB85.6 million to RMB261.4 million

8.560 5 TTARME2.614ZTTART

17.5%

MR BRSBTS A S B RS A
BB (EY) S EEACHT MR
T ASMERIERLD (EI0) « MG
AIBIEIN (E) BSEEARN RIKER
R ASAMERIERLD (BI0) .

REFAMZAKR BT EZRBHREN
878,000/T. AXRZMAETHE
2018F12A31 HILFERIGE 2HRETR
S, FRTN TBOREMEEZRR" .

BXREBEHEMZIT RN EER DT
T:

2018
—B-)N\&
HK$°000
Fi&x
Cash consideration mERMm (84,952)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired WEFrSMERINESE N 33,458
Net outflow of cash and cash ITARERENIRNEREZUE
equivalents included in cash FINEEMDRmEIFER
flows from investing activities (51,494)
Transaction costs of the acquisition TAEEEIEREZ NN
included in cash flows from RBHA
operating activities (878)
(52,372)
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31.

32.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (cont’d)
Acquisition of Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute (cont'd)

Since the acquisition, Xuzhou Engineering Design Institute
Group contributed HK$53,320,000 to the Group’s revenue
and a profit of HK$5,523,000 to the consolidated profit for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

Had the acquisition taken place on 1 January 2018, the
consolidated revenue and profit after tax for the year
ended 31 December 2018 of the Group would have been
HK$4,843,986,000 and HK$752,686,000, respectively. In
determining these amounts, management assumed that the
fair value adjustments to the acquired assets and liabilities
that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the
same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2018.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

(i) During the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017, the Company allotted and issued
24,411,431 and 15,733,870 ordinary shares
to settle the final dividends of HK$60,068,000
and HK$41,850,000 for the financial years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively, which were paid to ordinary
shareholders who had elected to participate
in the scrip dividend scheme, and have no
cash flow impact to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Company allotted and issued 26,008,884
ordinary shares to settle the interim dividends
of HK$57,633,000 for the financial year
ended 31 December 2018, which were paid
to ordinary shareholders who had elected to
participate in the scrip dividend scheme, and
have no cash flow impact to the Group.
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31.

32.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

WSEH (88)
RN (4R)

Bl Wi, &E=2018F12831H1E
FE, #MNEitiERAmAERARER
KIN53,320,000 BT R EMESR
#1/5,523,00087T.

B F2018FE1B1HESL, AEH
HZE2018F12831HLEFENEZEE I
ANREFIE5SE794,843,986,00058 T
752,686,000/87T. FEEIZESEAT,
EEERIZ, HKBWEF2018F181H
Y&SL, T A AT EF K
Rz AN EREES HEE.

SamERERME

(@ EXIFNERZ

() #EHZE12831HIEH920185F
EM2017EE, AT
BB AR A&1T24,411,431
BaR15,733,87088 5@ A8
Sz FEZE128318 L
2018FEM2017EEZR
HAR%E.60,068,00058 T
41,850,0007C, Z%HR
BEXIFEESSUR
REFHZEERIREK,
SWAREAFTRERES
M.

#HZE2018512831HL
FE, AABAERRET
26,008,884k E 1@ A% LA
ZITEE2018512831
BHLIEVEFEZ FHKRE
57,633,00087T, %%
BEXMIFEES SR
R Z EERRER,
WEREAHLTAERES
.



32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS (cont’d)

(a)

Major non-cash transactions (cont’d)

(ii)

(iif)

During the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017, the interest expenses on corporate
bonds of HK$40,137,000 and HK$22,971,000,
respectively, were not yet settled by the
Group, and recorded in “Trade and other
payables” in the consolidated statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2018
and 2017, and have no cash flow impact to
the Group.

During the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017, the dividends declared to the
non-controlling shareholder of a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of HK$29,856,000 and
HK$21,450,000, respectively, were not yet
settled by the Group as at 31 December 2018
and 2017, and recorded in “Trade and other
payables” in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018
and 2017, and have no cash flow impact to
the Group.

32.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2~

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

HE_F—/\F+A=1T—HINVERFE

355 1RERBTIE

FEMERERME ()

(a)

B HIERS (47)

(i)

(i)

HZE12H31HLARI2018
FEEM2017EE, K&
B8 R 2 F A ERENF
BI374550840,137,000
BITR22,971,000 BT,
F2018FER20175E128
318, FHEEUWSKR
= B RATIRER Eftb R
FRIN" iR, WAE
BFH TR EREFN.

HZE12H31HLER920184F
EF2017FE, AEHM
ELERWELTDHIIERE
BREREIRNER SR
SEN57929,856,000i
T*%21,450,000 7T,
F2018FK2017F128
31H, BELE8UWS KR
=09 R KR A EL At Rz
TR PIER, WAL
HAF LIS REFM.
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 32. ZaWM&REaxRME (£
CASH FLOWS (cont’d)

(b)  Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) EBFFNTENRRED

Dividend

payable to

non-controlling

Amounts shareholders of

due to non-wholly-
Amounts  intermediate owned
Bank and due to fellow holding subsidiaries

other loans Corporate  Interest  subsidiaries  companies  RfJIELEHE

BTRE bonds  payable EfIEFEME EfTHIEEE AGIE[ 31

N S V(L YNSEATT YASEA] BFERE
HK$000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
Fi#n Fi#n Fi#n Fi&n Fi&n Fi&n
At 1 January 2017 2017&1B1H 4,887,498 - 6,467 150,182 78,336 -
Changes from HENERE
financing cash FEAE RS
flows 366,893 1,144,831 (198,753) (154,928) (79,034) -
Finance costs M5%m - - 241391 - - -
Dividends declared  FEMEATINAF
to a non-controlling  ERRIRER
shareholder of a OB
subsidiary - - - - - 21,450
Foreign exchange L&
movement 196,326 36,204 ( 5142) 4,746 698 994
At 31 December F2017E128
2017 and 31EKR2018%
1 January 2018 1B1H 5,450,717 1,181,035 43,963 - - 22,444
Changes from BENERE
financing cash PR
flows 188029 944251  (268,257) - 4 (28,609)
Finance costs W5%m - - 291398 - - -
Dividends declared  EIMBATIN
to anon-controling  IHERKEE
shareholder of a KA.
subsidiary - - - - - 36,040
Foreign exchange 5%
movement (74274)  (89882)  (2.328) - - (1.29)
At 31 December F2018E128
2018 31H 5,565,372 2,035,404 64,776 - 4 28,583

198 CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED | FEYAKSERAT



33.

34.

35.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

355 1RERBTIE

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 33. EFHEA
Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s MAERRITRIE R EM BT LUK
banking facilities and other loans are included in note BZ AERRFZIFEHMIE26, F
26. The aggregate net book values of assets and 2018FR20175128B31H, SHLHM
equity interests in subsidiaries pledged amounted to BRABRFREBNZ SKERAEDBA
HK$5,872,547,000 and HK$5,816,472,000 as at 31 5,872,547,000#%75/5,816,472,000/&
December 2018 and 2017, respectively. TTo
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 34. HZEHSEZHE
The Group leases a number of properties under operating REFRIBLSHEHEESZTWI, BE
leases, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from one N F—Z=1+F1%., B HTEE
to thirty years. None of the leases includes contingent BIREANES,
rentals.
At the reporting date, the Group had total future minimum FEVSIRERBER, RIBEATHGEE
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases AR, AEHHENREEENRSERE
falling due as follows: s8R :
As at 31 December
F+-BA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-\&F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r Tt
Within 1 year —&FR 7,098 11,079
After 1 year but within 5 years —FEBERER 3,073 4,575
After 5 years Fak===1 507 2312
10,678 17,966
COMMITMENTS 35. &E

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in
note 34 above, the Group had the following commitments
as at the reporting date:

PR _ESZHEE34RMFIARIZ EFRE AR,
REFT RS HRERLERARBNT

As at 31 December

F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—B—-)\&F Bt
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi&r FEIT
Purchase commitments outstanding BXRAEREEEAIN
in connection with the Group’s KWFEBIT:
construction contracts were as
follows:
Contracted, but not provided for: EMENEES = 1,936,318 681,615
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in this report, the Group entered into the
following material related party transactions during the
reporting date:

(@)  The Group entered into the following related party
transactions with a related party bank:

36.

ES R
BRANREEMERD FRE L SR N EERIL |

FUBiRFRE, AEARET TIE
KKEKFAR 5

@ AERS—FHRXEISRTILTT
FIKEXTT R 5 :

As at 31 December

F+=R=1+—H
2018 2017
—E-\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiExT FBT
Interest expense MEFZ = 1,238

Details of the Group’s deposits placed with a related
party bank and loans from a related party bank are
included in notes 24 and 26.

(b)  The Group entered into the following related party
transactions with non-controlling shareholders of
non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group:

REBFRT REA S IRITZ R
REKTSHRATIRM IR B T
E24% 26,

(b) FEBRASTEFIFEHMELTN
IEIERRARIRIT S T HIREA 25 -

As at 31 December

F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—F-)\&F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Figc FEIT

Revenue from project operation  IIBIZE RSN

service 114,139 45,775
Finance income ESTYON 20,931 21,462
Cost of construction service EEIRS LA 120,644 -

(c)  The Group entered into the following related party
transactions with a related company of the Group:

(© FEHASTERN—RXELTA
ETFIRERG RS

As at 31 December

F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—E-)\&F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi& T

Revenue from project operation  IIHIZEIRSUIN

service 53,594 47,720
Finance income UE=TWON 46,651 45,616

200 CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED | FEYAKSEZHBRAT




36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)

(d)

The Group entered into the following related party
transactions with an associate of the Group:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

355 1RERBTIE

36. XERBRS ()

d) AFEASFEERA—RKEATXR
ETIIRETTRS

As at 31 December

F+=B=+-H
2018 2017
—FT-)\&F Sy =S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiEx Fi#T
Service expenses for operation SR IS EIRS
of waste water treatment plants Fz 41,884 41,717

The Group entered into the following related
party transactions with fellow subsidiaries and
intermediate holding companies of the Group:

Sales of equipment HERS
Rental expenses RS
Interest expenses FEFFZ
Underwriting service fee FERS %
Costs of operation EERA
Listing related fee EXZER
Insurance expenses {RIGZEF

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The sales of equipment to fellow subsidiaries of the
Group were conducted based on mutually agreed
terms.

The rental expenses were charged by fellow subsidiaries
of the Group on mutually agreed terms.

The interest expenses in respect of the advances from
fellow subsidiaries and intermediate holding companies,
which were repayable by 2017, were charged at rates
ranging from HIBOR+2.5% per annum to the rates
announced by the People’s Bank of China during year
2017.

The underwriting service fees of the issue of the first and
second tranches of the Corporate Bond paid to a fellow
subsidiary were calculated pursuant to the relevant
underwriting agreement.

The costs of operation were paid for the sludge disposal
services provided by fellow subsidiaries of the Group.

(e) FEBHASTEHRRMEATINRT
EHERRATIRETFIREKTTAEH

As at 31 December

F+=B=+-H

2018 2017

—S-)\&F —E—tF

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
FiiE Fi&r Tt
(i) 49,279 -
(ii) 6,177 5,245
(iii) = 7,311
(iv) 4,746 5,759
(v) 2,490 -
(vi) 1,763 -
(vii) 1,463 978

BiE:

() PFEFRRMEATHEERE
THE TN AISFFRIT.

(i) FTEFRREMEAEHERIIHK
RIFEE S TFSZ.

(i) MF201 7 ERNERKEL
BN EER AT RRAIF S
FSHRERIENFEBIRITEL
RELEF2.5%ZFEARRIT
2017 IR AT UGB,

(iv) BEAKFRRAREASXGHA
TE—MREH L TRFIIR
EHE%EB*E?E’EE?EE@%TJHX&'I‘

V) EBERARSERERRREM
BRERSRAERS .
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36.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)

Notes: (cont'd)

(vi) The listing related fee was charged by a fellow
subsidiary of the Group on mutually agreed terms.

(vii)  The insurance expenses were charged by a fellow
subsidiary of the Group on mutually agreed terms.

Transactions with other stated-owned entities in
Mainland China:

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned and/or controlled by the PRC government
through its numerous authorities, affiliates or other
organisations (collectively “Other SOEs”). During
the financial year, the Group had transactions with
the Other SOEs including, but not limited to the
waste water treatment service, bank deposits and
borrowings, and utilities consumption. The directors
consider that the transactions with the Other SOEs
are activities in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business, and that the dealings of the Group have
not been significantly or unduly affected by the fact
that the Group and the Other SOEs are ultimately
controlled or owned by the PRC government. The
Group has also established pricing policies for
products and services and such pricing policies
are not carried out on non-market terms and do not
depend on whether or not the customers are the
Other SOEs. Having due regard to the substance of
the relationships, the directors are of the opinion that
none of these transactions is a material related party
transaction that would require separate disclosure.

The Group paid compensation of directors and key
management personnel as follows:

36.

9

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

KBRS (8)

BiFiE:  (
(vi)

B

)

Dt
i

(vii)

B3 NIT
|

D
S

T
b=
at
S
<<
e
.
i
f
Io—l |

()  SHEREESSFIRS:

AEATERTERMABIESHILX,
BRB AT EMAREESRERE R
EizdlEll (R EttEREL )
A ESHMAEFIMEPEIE, TUSR
FHAE), AEFASEMES R ZERT
R ZEE (BRBRT) 5K IEIRSS.
RITERR AR ARSI, EFIA
NEZEFAMEE W ZENRZTIEA
EHEBEWSIERZEN, MERER
SEAREMEES W HEEIIRPERAE
HEdEE, EXARSNAERNIFSIE
PREARBASN. AEETF MR
SWSIENBER, BizFBERAIHZAFT
BEAHRT, TARFELEREHEME
BilE. EZAEEEEARREZAR
&, EBAARERZMABITIREZ
BEAXESRS.

AEREX T FEENFREEARZIR
Bfan T :

As at 31 December

F+=B=+—H

2018 2017
—B-)\§F “EF—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi&r Tt
Salaries, bonuses and related benefit  ¥&. LI RAEFEFR 19,213 19,285
Directors’ fees EEES 1,880 1,163
Defined contribution plans FEHFITRI 1,345 283
22,438 20,731

Comprising amounts paid/payable to:  SIFEI/MfT TS L5
Directors of the Company ¥ N/N=TEE 8,630 9,267
Other key management personnel HinX@EEEAR 13,808 11,464
22,438 20,731
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37

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

355 1RERBTIE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d) 36. XEXHIE5 (4%)

(h)  As disclosed in note 36(e), the Group has rental (h)  iaNFEE36(e)TiRE, RIEAE
commitments with fellow subsidiaries of the Group ASHERERMBEAENT AT
under non-cancellable operating leases falling due LEREMNY, ANEFRZESEE
as follows: FHASZ (0T

As at 31 December

F+=-BA=+—H
2018 2017
—T-)\F “EF—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Figr FETT
Within 1 year —FER 4,025 5,919
After 1 year but within 5 years —FFERERN 2,583 5,776
6,608 11,695
FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37. £EITEMAANMERARNMEESR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, bank deposits, trade payables, current
portion of trade receivables, other receivables, other
payables, and borrowings approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s financial management department is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. At
each reporting date, the financial management department
analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
chief financial officer. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim
and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of trade
receivables, other receivables, other payables, and
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk for
borrowings as at the end of each of the financial year was
assessed to be insignificant.

BEEEIFERERREEMNY. RITEF
K. RIfIMER. ROEIKSRABRDERERD. B
b MRS EL AR TR I R BB S
HWEERS, TERTZEFIETES
REIEA,

FERAZVSERBIESEETSHMT
BRMETEZBRNER. TEMR
S0, USEERIeoEMIAEZ
e, AEEMEMNAZEERA
iE. (HERMSENEYREL, Bt
ZREBFRRITIEHERFRER, L
EIFHP IR FEM SRS,

EHEFRARZARMEUZTIETE
BxZ7 (MIBREsEEEE) SRR
ZTIZARZEMAK. THTERRIR
TSRFHETARANME:

RIYTRKERAIERPERERD . ELARRERIUR
B MASRIUN R AINMETSRER
KSR, ERNERRIRFHZTREZ
PTERFER, MRS REZ
BRITE. THMSIRERE,
5, FEFAFRSZABEOREHITESE
.
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37  FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

The fair value of contingent consideration receivable as
at 31 December 2018 is based on the valuation by the
management using a discounted cash flow method with

scenario simulation.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs
to the valuation of financial instruments together with a

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

37. ERMTIEN2ANMER2AAMEBEER

(8)

F2018F12831H, AR RULER
I AR ERREEEELEIIEER
A RE S U THIS(E.

AT AF2018F 12831 A€M T EM
EZEAFINRGNSIEREEREE

quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2018: BURREDHT:
Significant Sensitivity of fair
Valuation unobservable input value to the input
technique BARTWEEEN Range KRAMMETIENEIEAY
H{ERI5 g EE BURE
Contingent Discounted cash Estimated amounts RMB 73.8 million 5% increase
consideration flow method with of the new business to (decrease) in
receivable scenario simulation contracts RMB 237.8 million estimated amounts
AR IEEHA TG S ERAET 7,380 TTARTE of the new business
BRI EMEE B 2.378{ZTTAR™ contracts would
result in decrease
in fair value by
HK$593,000 or
increase in fair
value by HK$623,000
S ERRETR
TUEM (@) 5%
BEHLRMERD
593,000/ Ta A TSN
{E181N0623,000/87T
Discount rate 17.5% 1% increase

MR
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(decrease) in
discount rate would
result in decrease
(increase) in fair
value by HK$45,000
M EF (TFFF) 1%
BEHLRMERD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I JH\Z'%TE%BH';E

HE—F—)\F+-A=+—RALNUBEE
FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37. 2BTEMAARANMEBERAANMEER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) (£8)

AL
R
R

Fair value hierarchy LRIMMEER

TRINTAEASHRTENANEITE
B

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value: BAmMErENErT:
As at 31 December 2018 F_E—-/)\&+"B=1+—H

Fair value measurement using

KAMETHERAIA TR

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
FEREHIAR  EATUREBA  EXFUNERE Total
it (B—R) i (B2R) AR (B=R) 2it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FiEx FiEx FiEx FEx

Contingent consideration  BRFANRLIKT

receivable ENI] - - 8,541 8,541

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3
during the year ended 31 December 2018 are as follows:

BE2018F12H31HLEFE, E=RA
FAMETT BRI T :

HK$°000
Figr
Contingent consideration receivable: %A VL ENTE
At 1 January 2018 F2018F181H —
Additions during the period —FEWiRE 5,643
Fair value gain/(loss) NRMERE/ (5IR) 3,428
Exchange realignment ICRERARE (530)
At 31 December 2018 F2018%FE12831H 8,541

The Group did not have any financial assets measured at

fair value as at 31 December 2017.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of
Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities.

RERAT2018FER2017FE128318HE
HIRARMET BIISRIET,

RERAT2018FER2017FE128318HE
HIRARMET BISRIRIE.

HZE2H31HIERY20185FEFN2017
FE, F—RMNB_RARMETTEZ
EHETETERE, WTERE~RE/R
R, B=RINTEAEENEEEH.,
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38.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of each financial year are as

follows:

Financial assets

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

38. IEIHIRISHIERITR

TEUSIREPER, SRISHTEN

IKEE T

BREE

As at 31 December 2018
FE-/\F+=-HB=+—H

Financial Financial
assets at assets at
amortised FVPL
cost IRARMBITA
Rk AT IREERIERE Total
ENERE~ - 2it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
Group AEH Fi& Fi&r FigT
Financial assets included TR IR R ELfth R
in trade and other I EREEF
receivables 826,746 8,541 835,287
Fixed deposits with maturity ~ RIHIRA=/NBUAEEHR
period over three months =R 547,050 - 547,050
Cash and cash equivalents MERMESLENTD 1,728,573 - 1,728,573
3,102,369 8,541 3,110,910
As at 31 December 2017
FE—tFt+-HA=1+—H
HK$’000
Group AFEHR FiBT
Loans and receivables T EN ]
Financial assets included TN RN S ELA B R
in trade and other HINHEREar=
receivables 544 121
Fixed deposits with maturity — ZJHFBA=NBLALEEH
period over three months EZ 630,403
Cash and cash equivalents ~ E&RNEZN) 2,169,414
3,343,938
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 N
HE—F—/\E+-B=1+—RINIEE I )ﬂ\j %TE%EM?IE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (cont'd) 38,  |REIBISHESHTE (&)
Financial liabilities - financial liabilities at amortised SRIRAE - IREERSITENSRRAE
cost
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—S-)\&F “E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Group XEHF Fi& Tt
Financial liabilities included in APANA RS A=Y IVE N ENI
trade and other payables BERiR 1,784,866 1,493,486
Borrowings EEIN 7,600,776 6,631,752
9,385,642 8,125,238
Financial assets — loans and receivables/financial SRR - SBERNUERIR /e ER A
assets at amortised cost HENERERs
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—B-)\&F Sy =S
HK$°000 HK$'000
Company AT Fi&T FBT
Financial assets included in TENEAERIKERITAEY
other receivables SRR 3,660,270 1,834,010
Cash and cash equivalents MERMEENY 31,661 27,783
3,691,931 1,861,793
Financial liabilities — financial liabilities at amortised SRlfalE - IGgERAITEN SR RE
cost
As at 31 December
F+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—E-)\&F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Company AT Fi& Tt
Financial liabilities included in TR KR S B A R AT FRIT
trade and other payables MRtk 102,001 155,531
Borrowings eI 4,564,905 3,434,092

4,666,906 3,689,623
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
borrowings, cash and short term deposits. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables,
service concession financial receivables and trade and
other payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below. The Group’s accounting
policies in relation to derivatives are set out in note 2.4.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents, fixed deposits
with maturity period over three months, borrowings and
balances with group companies. Borrowings issued at
variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk
respectively. The Group does not use financial derivatives
to hedge against the interest rate risk. The Group’s interest
rate profile as monitored by management is set out in (i)
below.
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39.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

TS MBS EIE BIR R BER

FERZTESHMTREOERR. AER
SHIFR. WEESRMTEZFERNET
NEEFZ NS EEREEE., FEFE
BHtSRERAR, SENEIKER
Lt Rz IR T 52 A TR R B At A5 5%
I, DEZRERWSEFE,

FEFASMTEF-EZ TEXGEEFE
M. SBXG. (ERKEREEEX
b, ERRERNHAEERINEXXGE
ZBER, BXREGRIAT T, AEFAH
KiTETREZTHBERETHIE2.4.

T2

FERAZHEREEEREFERAZNE
RMeFM. BEAA="BLLEE
TR WRANRERARTEER, ZFNF
KR EIEFER H 2 SRS AR ER 73 Bl
ZUWEREFRKIE RN FRMEFIRX
b, ANEFFTABERTET BRI
FENE, RERZFRTHEERR
2, FET ().
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 39. WMSKISSHEBRRBEE (£5)
POLICIES (cont’d)

Interest rate risk (cont'd) FZENfZ (4E)
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FU=EDR
The following table details the interest rate profile of TREY AERATEMSIREEIE
the Group’s net borrowings (being interest-bearing FZEFEE (BN EER R R
financial liabilities less bank deposits and cash and RITEFRMERMEENY) 2
cash equivalents) at the end of each of the financial TR .
year.
As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2017
FE-N\ETZR=+-B TE—tHF+ZB=1—H
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
SR SERRFIEE
HK$°000 HK$'000
% Figr % Fi&r
Net fixed rate borrowings/  EB&® 7 (FX)
(deposits): e
Borrowings B/ 2.88-460 2,532,678 2.88 - 455 1,706,219
Less: Fixed deposits with i EEIRA=ANBEL
maturity period over EHER
three months 0.15 (547,050) 0.15-3.80 (630,403)
Cash and cash NEkMESEND
equivalents 1.75 (9,769) 4.40 (95,000)
Amount due from an B —BEXE R E]
associate BN 4.75 (4,029) - -
1,971,830 980,816
Net variable rate FERIZEER
borrowings/(deposits): (BR) #5:
Borrowings K 2.95-5.02 5,068,098 260-490 4925533
Less: Cash and cash e NERMEEN
equivalents 0.01-176  (1,718,804) 0.01-175  (2,074,414)
3,349,294 2,851,119
Total net borrowings B 5,321,124 3,831,935
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Interest rate risk (cont'd)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis

It is estimated that a general increase/decrease of
one percent in interest rates at 31 December 2018
and 2017, with all other variables held constant,
would decrease/increase the Group’s profit
before tax by approximately HK$53,211,000 and
HK$38,319,000 at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit before tax
that would arise assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to remeasure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk at the end of the
reporting period. In respect of the exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-
derivative instruments held by the Group at the end
of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s
profit before tax is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest expense or income of such a
change in interest rates. The analysis was performed
on the same basis throughout the financial year.

Foreign currency risk

(i)

Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
from borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, fixed
deposits with maturity period over three months,
receivables and payables that are denominated
in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which they
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily HK$, RMB, US$, SGD and Euro (“EUR”).
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39.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

TSRS EIREIRREBIR (42)

FIERS (4)

(i)

BREDHT

F20185FR2017512831H,
EREHEMBTEHEFRTNER
T, FIRRIKEF/ T %M1
BEMAERTF20185F k%2017
F12B31HHBRHRBIRT 55
R /18102953,211,0008 TR
38,319,000 7T,

EARE DTS H A ERRIPRT
AUERFFTREF-4ERUSCRT R S). B
EDHRZFIRENTREHRE
gZRE, FERTEMERER
FEAHTIREPRESERAE
IR seMEFENERNESR T A,
X T AR TR EHRATER
FREITETRR4E0EE
REFERNG, EIAERRIRRR
AR FIRIR I EE T F SR
ERRFHHEZABSTHEUNE
fit. BROTERMYSRESF
BLARREEHTT.

SRR

(i)

=BG

AERELSMND (BPSHEEIZEX
AUThRELR LNz B8 h) HHEZ R
A RERRMESFNY. FHIAA
=ANBUALEHRERR, MWERIR
R mEIREThXEE. SEEX,
PRI EZNEIT. AR, =
TT. FIMKTTRERT.



39.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (cont’d)

Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

(i) Exposure to currency risk (cont'd)

The following table details the Group’s exposure
at the end of the reporting period to currency
risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate. For
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure
are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using
the spot rate at the end of the reporting period.
Differences resulting from the translation in the
financial statement of foreign operations into the

Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

355 1RERBTIE

TSRS EIREIRREBIR (42)

SR (£8)

(i)

BRHXEE (£8)

TRFYIAER T RIREHARER
RELARRITHBESRLASMYER HiHE
RIERAR SR RmARIE
M. AEFIER, KgEELiE
TOOUR, FHER SRR
BE. EBINELSAIMSIREGR
BARERNEFIEHmENE
BNE TR,

Exposure to foreign currencies

(expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
G H RS
(PAiETTHIR)

As at 31 December 2018
F=8—\#+=B=1-H

RMB SGD HK$ USs$
ARD Fhnigc Bt E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FiEr FiEr FiEr FiEr
Cash and cash MeErMEE
equivalents mn 1,712 1,205 36,998 35,454
Fixed deposits with BEARA=NBUUL - - = 547,050
maturity period over ERRER
three months
Borrowings eI - - (1,476,918)  (1,052,583)
Amounts due from/(to) R/ (F) &R
group companies, net  AEIFRIA, &R 602,360 (54) 531,732 -
Trade and other R MER S E LAt
payables RZFFRIR (4,578) (1,437) (6,162) (22,624)
599,494 (286) (914,350)  (492,703)
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

(i)

Exposure to currency risk (cont'd)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

39. WMSRIEESEBEIRRBER (£)

SR (£8)

(i)

BRHXEE (£8)

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
EIRAIFMDIXIBE
(LABTTHIR)

As at 31 December 2017
FF—tF+-A=1+—H

RMB SGD HK$ Us$ EUR
AR #iilgc BT E BRTT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FBIT FHT FHT FHT
Cash and cash NEeErMeE
equivalents i 9,294 1,916 140,917 329 5,036
Fixed deposits with EIEFRA=ABLEA
maturity period over  _EEHATER
three months - - - 547,278 -
Borrowings 5K - - (337,000) (1,916,057) -
Amounts due from/ Rz~ (1)
(to) group SFiYNSIEN
companies, net T#ER 394,324 (55) 267,142 - -
Trade and other IViRpNE=ticivin)
payables 2R (7,685) (918) (6,034) (22,667) -
395,933 943 65,025  (1,391,117) 5,036
Sensitivity analysis (i)  BURESHT

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit before tax that would
arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all other
risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it
is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong
Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement
in value of the United States dollar against other
currencies. Except for those subsidiaries with their
functional currencies other than Hong Kong dollars,
the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations with
respect to the assets and liabilities denominated in
United States dollars is insignificant as the Hong
Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar.
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39.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis (cont’d)

355 1RERBTIE

39. WMSRIEESEBEIRRBER (£)

SR (£8)

(i)

As at 31 December 2018
FE-/\F+=-B=+—H

BREDHT (8

As at 31 December 2017
Fo2—t5+-A=+—H

Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) (decrease) (decrease) (decrease)

in foreign in profit in foreign in profit

exchange rate before tax  exchange rate before tax

iCEEFH FREiRIET CEEF PRARIZRR

(FBE)  EF~ (FBE) (FB#) EFs (FB%)

HK$°000 HK$'000

% Fi&r % FET

RMB ARM 10 59,949 10 39,593
RMB AR (10) (59,949) (10) (39,593)
SGD RIS 10 (29) 10 94
SGD FnETT (10) 29 (10) (94)
HK$ 7T 10 (91,435) 10 6,503
HK$ BT (10) 91,435 (10) (6,503)
uss$ e 10 101,257 10 27,551
uss$ ESyIw (10) (101,257) (10) (27,551)
EUR EIT = - 10 504
EUR ERTT - - (10) (504)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregation of the instantaneous
effects on each of the Group entities’ profit before
tax measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to
remeasure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including
inter-company payables and receivables within the
Group which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis excludes differences that
would result from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency. The analysis was performed
on the same basis throughout the financial year.

EREFIDITER NS RERL
MEEBIREE Mt EFH AES
BREIREARRIERICRIRE
B TTHIBRRRIEARISERT IRV
it.

BREDHTRIRINCCERRZEHNE
BTEHERREEREFEL R
FAREARSERFRZINCNERIS
RITE, 8EUERASERAR
TR LA M MIHERI SRR
NE)BIRL SRS MR, %5
MRS INE L SIS HRRIRE
AR EFI DA ERIER.
ZOTTEN U FERE—E#E
AT,
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Credit risk

Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Debts are usually due within 30 to 90 days from the date of
billing.

Trade receivables of the Group represent receivables
in respect of revenue from environmental water project
operation services which are settled on a monthly basis.
In addition, the Group has service concession financial
receivables in respect of the BT, BOT, TOT and certain
BOO arrangements.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, “Trade and other
receivables” and “Service concession financial
receivables” amounted to HK$14,336,286,000
and HK$12,330,637,000 respectively, of which
HK$2,869,455,000 and HK$697,823,000 were due from the
largest customer HK$5,368,951,000 and HK$3,716,929,000
were due from the five largest customers in aggregate of
the Group, respectively. The maximum exposure to credit
risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial
asset in the consolidated statements of financial position.
Since the parties to BT, BOT, TOT and BOO arrangements
are local government authorities in the PRC, the Group
considers the credit risk is low as at 31 December 2018
and 2017. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

From 1 January 2018, upon the adoption of IFRS 9,
management groups financial instruments on basis of
shared credit risk characteristics, such as instrument type
and credit risk ratings for the purpose of determining
significant increase in credit risk and calculation of
impairment. The carrying amounts of each financial asset
in the consolidated statement of financial position represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
its financial assets as at 31 December 2018.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract such as a default or past due
event;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.
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39.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

TSRS EIREIRREBIR (42)

S,

EEERERENSEEER, FFLhg
EHMEMZEENE, fRIUBEBEFT
ZEHEAERIT30HZE90HMEIEA.

AERZ MIKKFRIERB/KAERE
ZEERSKEZ MWK, BXEK
Iz BWEL, oy, RERATESR
BT. BOT. TOTKEHBOOLHEZ SR
SRAFEENERAIS RN KERIR,

F20185R2017512831H, "R
KRR BRI & " SRS
FEEREXN RN 557
14,336,286,000/&7T % 12,330,637,000
BT, HPNKRKXEFRRID 55
2,869,455,000/87T/% 697,823,000
7T, RMWAER R AR FSRBUSERD 5!
735,368,951,000/5T53,716,929,000
BT, ERNENEASMAZEMS
RARPEMESMETOKEE. BT
BT. BOT. TOTRBOOZRHMZ S
APENSMBFIX, AEEIAAT
20185 2017512831 HRYSRING/E
K. AEFHEFEZFERETIER

[=]=p3

BH2018F181HE, TRMUEMRUSKR
LENFEIER, EEREREBEHZEEN
SHHIE (FlUN TR XEBIREEREITER)
BEr TR IBIEEE XIS
ERNEEITERE. ZaUSnE+
EMEMENIKEENSERF2018
F12B31 HESRER&ZE RN
HERASE.

LREMESMIHITARRERERF
FFIMAI— P EES IR, EREFTA
EERRE. ERME-ERRENLES
FRLAT RIS

- RS AHIF=EN 55 EE;
- ERER, WMAEXEGEESEG

- RS ARBE IS st TR
M35EA.



39.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont'd)

To manage credit risk arising from trade receivables
and service concession financial receivables, the credit
quality of the debtors is assessed, taking into account
their financial position, historical settlement records, past
experience and other factors. The Group applies the
simplified approach to provide for ECL prescribed by IFRS
9, which permits the use of lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables. The ECLs also incorporated
forward looking information.

The Group has established a policy to perform an
assessment as at 31 December 2018, of whether a
financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, by considering the change in
the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of
the financial instrument. The Group groups its other
receivables into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, as
described below:

Stage 1 When other receivables are first recognised, the
Group recognised an allowance based on 12
months’ ECL.

Stage 2 When other receivables have shown a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the
Group records an allowance for the lifetime
ECLs.

Stage 3  Other receivables considered credit-impaired.
The Group records an allowance for the lifetime
ECLs.

Management also makes periodic collective assessments
for other receivables as well as individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience and other factors.
The Group classified other receivables in stage 1 and
continuously monitored their credit risk. Management
believes that there is no material credit risk inherent in the
Group’s outstanding balance of other receivables as at 31
December 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, all fixed deposits with maturity
period over three months and cash and cash equivalents
were deposited with creditworthy financial institutions
without significant credit risk.

39.

355 1RERBTIE
MRS EEAIRREER (4)

RN (%)

HEENEIKTI R SIRSFEATFEENEX
RO RANIKERI LRV RIXBE, RE TS
REARNMSINR., SEEHICR. TiF
ZKBRAEMARLNTERERRE. £5%
1 PR E PR 55 1R S M 52 9O S FriT BERY
BEHDEHTEE R SR HikE, EiR
M55 % S IHENSE 95 FeiF XS AT A R KSR
KA PSS IRKRE. THEIE
RSB SRR ER.

AERFF2018F12831HHIE—INK
R, EEEBTERTHEABPNERXEN
TR E R TR ERXE TR
INGREC ARSI, AEFGEIBRI
D AN TEARE—MER. SBMER
FME=MNER:

FEMER  HEREAEBRIKGRIRT,
AEFIRE121 BTG
RSIAEALES.

BUMER  HEMNWEIIB LK
ERERNRAELT, &
SR E ARG
RSIRAYAE.

B=MER BRI A SRR
B, AEARINEDRERHN
THME R S IRAYIAE.

EEEETIFERCR. IEEERH
fib E R XS B AN R IR & = e R E
HERITAERAN BTG, AEATHE—M
ERISEL Mt NS T 10 KRN S
Xk, EEEEET20185F12831H
REFARERNE AN WK IER A T E
AATERISEX.

F2018512R318, FABZIHEA=D
BUELEBHERRMERREFNIETEAN
TEXEENEEEERFHISRTIL,
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont'd)

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk. Further quantitative
disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from “Service concession financial receivables/
contract assets” as well as “Trade and other receivables”
are set out in notes 20 and 22, respectively.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short term investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of loans to cover expected cash demands. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

39.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

TSRS EIREIRREBIR (42)

RN (%)

REFAFRREG S A EATIRE RN
AUEHABRR. BXAEER "SRSHT
SEREXNSRINEGRIT K " RIKK
MR EMER I MEIGRE XA
H—TEEWED BIETHIE20522,

RABZNE

AEFRRPIRLEELARBTRAEIE
BETE, SENSBREIHRENE
BRSNS TEA SR K. FHAIRBER
EEHRE RN B EFRRIA NI TTREL
ERNEITIEN, R4S RIS
EERNEESRITEIERBIRERS
WEME, DNSYEHR KRN EEHE

TR AEATIREIARITETLR
CHRRNRIREREERER, DETE
RAWHNRERE (BREREGERFXY
(WEZFR) HRIEREHRETAOFIZRT
BHRR) RAERREEE XA
B

As at 31 December 2018
FE-)\E+ZB=1+-H

Total More than ~ More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years
undiscounted 1yearor butwithin  but within
Carrying cash flow on demand 2 years 5years  More than
amount SRAME —FMEE  —FUEE  RENEE 5 years
KEHE HERESH Bk  THEER FhERN RELE
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FiéErx FiErn FiErn T FiErx FErn
Financial liabilties TR R EfE
included in trade RIfTFRIA &R
and other payables iR 1,784,866 1,784,866 1,784,866 - - -
Borrowings (RE 7,600,776 8,097,201 2433845 1978535 3,226,295 458,526
9,385,642 9,882,067 4218711 1978535 3,226,295 458,526
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39.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 I
BEZE—/\F+ZA=1T—HLNUEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont'd)

Included in borrowings is a corporate bond payable with a
carrying amount of HK$2,035,404,000 containing an option
to sell back the bond to the Company and therefore, for the
purpose of the above maturity profile, the total contractual
discounted cash flow amount of HK$2,230,461,000 related
to the Corproate Bond is presented as: HK$93,649,000
is classified as repayable “within 1 year or on demand”,
HK$1,203,637,000 classified as repayable “more than 1
year but within 2 years” and HK$933,175,000 classified as
repayable “more than 2 years but within 5 years”.

The Corporate Bond will be due for repayment on the
respective maturity dates unless being sold back to the
Company prior to the maturity pursuant to the terms of
the Corproate Bond. In accordance with the terms of the
Corproate Bond, the maturity terms as at 31 December
2018 are HK$93,649,000 in 2019, HK$93,649,000 in 2020
and HK$2,230,462,000 in 2021 to 2023.

39.

355 1RERBTIE
MRS EEAIRREER (4)

RARENE (£L)

LR E MK E{E/92,035,404,0005 THY
N ABGERSE, ZATRSITHERS
ERIFANTRNEEN, FHit, # LA
HIERMS, BXAEHRSNELAMIIIM
SREREI2,230,461,0008 TR TS
RXEF: 93,649,000BTHHKA "—F
WEGHRER" 2%, 1,203,637,0005&7T
DEH "—EULBTFRER" EER
933,175,000/8tH %N "WEULBETF
RER" &,

RERHFBTAXIBEEE, H#R
BABKREZERTHHANERTA
RAWBRES. REABHREZF
K, FT2018F 12831 HZIMRAMRR A
20194F#993,649,000/7T, 2022449
93,649,000/ TR 2021FE20234FH
2,230,462,000/7T,

As at 31 December 2017
FoE—tE+-A=+-H

Total More than ~ More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years
undiscounted 1yearor  but within but within
Carrying cash flow  on demand 2 years 5years  More than
amount ARAMH —FNEE  —FUEE RBEUERE 5 years
WHE HERELH gk TRER FRER RELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET FiET FhET T FiET
Financial liabilities TENRZAIIKGRR Bt
included in trade I NEANTNE
and other payables  faf& 1,493,486 1493486 1,493,486 - - -
Borrowings N 6,631,752 7,354,040 2,143,557 1,777,688 2,498,799 933,996
8,125,238 8847526 3,637,043 1777688 2498799 933,996

Included in borrowings is a corporate bond payable with a
carrying amount of HK$1,181,035,000 containing an option
to sell back the bond to the Company and therefore, for the
purpose of the above maturity profile, the total contractual
discounted cash flow amount of HK$1,322,356,000 related
to the Corporate Bond is presented as: HK$54,031,000
is classified as repayable “within 1 year or on demand”,
HK$54,031,000 classified as repayable “more than 1 year
but within 2 years” and HK$1,214,294,000 classified as
repayable “more than 2 years but within 5 years”.

WA EENKEE1,181,035,000/876H
NTABRSE, ZATREITHEES
ERFALNTANEENR, FHit, #iLd
FEBERMES . XA ERENAHN
MMEHREEENT,322,356,000i8 Tk
LATAXES: 54,031,000BT9%H
"—EREIEER" £, 54,031,000/
TTRER "—FUHBFRER" EEK
1,214,294,00087c0%A "WEULLE
FREAR" EF.
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont'd)

The Corporate Bond will be due for repayment on the
respective maturity dates unless being sold back to the
Company prior to the maturity pursuant to the terms of
the Corproate Bond. In accordance with the terms of the
Corproate Bond, the maturity terms as at 31 December
2017 are HK$54,031,000 in 2018, HK$54,031,000 in 2019
and HK$1,322,356,000 in 2020 to 2022.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as
to maximise shareholders’ value.

In order to maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment,
issue new shares or obtain new borrowings. The Group’s
strategies are to maintain a prudent balance between
the advantage and flexibility afforded by a sound capital
position and the higher return on equity that is possible
with greater leverage. There was no change in capital
management policies during the reporting date.

Consistently, the Group monitors capital based on a net
debt against equity ratio. The net debt against equity
ratio is calculated by dividing net debt by total equity.
Net debt is calculated as total liabilities (as shown in the
consolidated statements of financial position of the Group,
excluding tax payables and deferred tax liabilities) less
cash and cash equivalents. Total equity comprises share
capital, reserves and non-controlling interests.

39.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BETF—/\F+ A =1+—B LI RFE

TSRS EIREIRREBIR (42)

RARENE (£L)

REFEFHTAXIBEER, HR
BABREZERTHHNERTAE
RAWBRES. REQABHREZF
;. F2017F12831BNEIHAHAR A
20184 954,031,000/7c. 20194
54,031,000870 K% 2020F E20226FH)
1,322,356,000/7T,

HAETE

RERAEEEE AN EEZBRARESR
SRR B R RIER SN
86, LIRERFRENE.

PIRFEIANERIERALEN, AEFAHS
BEREIKMIEM. RITHROEEREH
Wk, AEFZRIRNATERINEESINR
PRt B R RIEE SR AT AT 88
RIERBRABIRERE Z B4 RIET
. TMBIREE, BFAEEBRAT

EEERE SRS ISR F LTS
A, BRB IR IR RS SFEPRLAR
DRI, REFTRARDE (WF
ERAGEUSINARATR, AEIERGH
IRIBIERINAR) HINERIESND

E. NEDEEERS. EENIFER
.

As at 31 December

F+=-BA=+—H
2018 2017
—T-/)\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&r Tt
Trade and other payables RAT RN ELAB R (T FRIT 1,895,092 1,553,565
Borrowings EEIN 7,600,776 6,631,752
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W MERIMEENY (1,728,573) (2,169,414)
Net debt REBFR 7,767,295 6,015,903
Total equity N D& 8,663,699 8,541,805
Net debt against equity ratio BRE IR R 90% 70%
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40.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U RISAOERL | MSSREME

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Capital management (cont'd)

Except for the banking facilities which require the fulfilment
of covenants relating to certain of the Group’s financial
ratios as disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements,
the Group does not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

(@)  On 21 January 2019, the Company issued the third
tranche of the Corporate Bond with principal amount
of RMB700 million, before related expenses, with
a maturity period of five years from the Third Issue
Date. The third tranche of the Corporate Bond bears
interest at a rate of 3.89% per annum. The interest
will be repayable by the Company annually from
the Third Issue Date and up to the maturity date.
According to the terms of the Corporate Bond, after
three years from the Third Issue Date, the Company
is entitled to adjust the interest rate of the third
tranche of the Corporate Bond for the remaining
two years before the maturity date. The Company
will announce the adjustment in interest rate, if any,
20 working days prior to the payment of the interest
for the third year after the Third Issue Date. The
bondholders have an option to sell back the third
tranche of the Corporate Bond to the Company at
the nominal price, and the exercisable period of this
option is five working days immediately after the
issuance of the Company’s announcement related to
the adjustment in interest rate of the third tranche of
the Corporate Bond.

(b)  After the reporting date, a final one-tier tax exempt
dividend of SGDO0.0050 per ordinary share was
proposed by the directors. As the proposed
final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2018 is subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, it has not been recognised as a liability at
the end of the reporting period. Further details on
the proposed final dividend are set out in Note 12.

39. WMSRIEESEBEIRRBER (£)

HEAEHE ()

PRIA S5 IRRBSE 26T R Z SRATRABIANFT
BEXFEAETUSWERZ RS, K
SR TR INFRIEINZ BAREF RS,

40. HIRZEIR

(@) F2019F1821H, ARTEKRIT
AEFMA7.001ZTART (308
XISz = ATRS,
HIPRE S =R AT HERRR T o P
RE, FERATERBFRERR
3.89%itE. ANBBTE=ZRE
THEEZEHE ESFZ TR
B. RBABREZER, BF
SRKITREBRIT=ER, AAF
BRAREE=HATRETEER
BIRTHEZER, ANTETFZ
FEZREITHBEES =558
BI20NTIEHERERFEE (W0
B) . RESEATEERENY
MBBE=MNDREERFAL
B, RZEFENTEEN EEA
NEEXEBRE=INATFEEER
HASHIEENREANIIER.

(b) FIREHERZE, AAFTEES
EINRE—RFEA R R ER
B EERR0.00505 K TT, &Y
PIRZ#E#HZE2018F12831HLESF
EREABR SF AN BRRRIELNE
FERFEAS EERHIIEL,
R RAERSHREEBIANGR
fR. BRENREKREREAH—
HIFEBETMEE2,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AZ N For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

Jﬂ\j’ 73 ?E% Bﬂ.ljz I HECE—/)\F+-A=1+—B LNV REE

41. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 41.  LbEER
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year's T EEUSIRRE I TIESLEEE, LA
financial statements to enhance comparability with the Be I —FEVSIRERSAEEUSIRE
current year’s financial statements. RYRTEL I,
As a result, certain line items have been amended in the SRR RFELLEE, DRIBXSEIR
statement of financial position and the related notes to EHEFELITER, LWEREIEBR R
the financial statements. Comparative figures have been ] PUBENANHAROIEE,
adjusted to conform to the current year’s presentation.
The items were reclassified as follows: MTFIERITE D EFEE:

Previously After
reported reclassification
el ZE|

2017 2017
—EF—tF “F—tfF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FEIT FET
Cash and cash equivalents MERMESNY 2,716,692 2,169,414
Fixed deposits with maturity FIEREA=BE
period over three months EHIFRK 83,125 630,403
42, AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 42. WsSRRZHbE

ISSUE
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December

2018 were authorised for issue in accordance with a
resolution of the directors on 14 March 2019.

220 CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED | FEYAKSEZHBRAT

FEETF—/)\F+B=1+—HILHY
BRRUEARNTEFST _F—NF=
BRI,



STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 12 March 2019 1 Sy
#z—= nE=pi-a | Hx&éﬁrl-’mﬂ
Authorised share capital : HK$10,000,000,000
EERA 10,000,000,0007T
Issued and fully paid-up capital : HK$2,676,062,186
BEATHE ST ERRA 2,676,062,186/875T
Class of shares : Ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each
BREEFRSE L@k, BIREmMNET.00ETT
Number of shares : 2,676,062,186
fRinEE
Voting rights : One vote per ordinary share
KN ZR—1Y
DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
i Sb ]
NO. OF NO. OF
SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS SHAREHOLDERS % SHARES %
BEANHIE IREHE Btk BRREE Bt
1~99 439 8.04 11,745 0.00
100 ~ 1,000 1,174 21.48 586,851 0.02
1,001 ~ 10,000 2,208 40.40 10,287,550 0.38
10,001 ~ 1,000,000 1,615 29.55 97,812,882 3.66
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 29 0.53 2,567,363,158 95.94
TOTAL =it 5,465 100.00 2,676,062,186 100.00

As at 12 March 2019, no shares issued in the share capital of the Company (“Shares”) were held as treasury
shares or by any of the Company’s subsidiary.

HE"T-NF=RB+-H, AALRIRFFRTHRGD ( "FR8RK" ) KEUFAEFRIFE, BREALTREMM
BREFEA.

Based on the information available to the Company, approximately 24.68% of the equity securities of the Company
are held in the hands of the public. This is in compliance with Rule 723 of the Listing Rules of the SGX, which
requires at least 10% of a listed issuer’s equity securities to be held by the public.

ETFARNBFRBNESR, ARFZI24.68%IRMEAARES. ZLHIRFSHRM EHANISE723%0EK, BIAREDR
B AT MIESRI10%0A £,
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
BARSETRE | R

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

A=K
NAME NO. OF SHARES %
B FiRgE Batk
1. CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER HOLDINGS LIMITED 2,013,448,456 75.24
PENERKSIERBIRAT
2. CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 191,070,551 7.14
3. RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED 124,516,909 4.65
4. DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 94,981,321 3.55
5. PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 31,738,485 1.19
6. HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 22,370,740 0.84
7. MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 21,881,660 0.82
8. OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 17,671,773 0.66
9. UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 8,400,785 0.31
10.  DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 6,134,036 0.23
11, UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 3,807,952 0.14
12, PU WEIDONG 3,532,800 0.13
13, CHIEW CARLTON 2,832,667 0.11
4. DBSN SERVICES PTE. LTD. 2,779,073 0.10
15, CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 2,724,648 0.10
16.  ABN AMRO CLEARING BANK N.V, 2,264,891 0.08
7. MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 2,063,140 0.08
18. DB NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 1,896,731 0.07
19.  CHEONG SAE PENG 1,529,320 0.06
20.  RHB SECURITIES SINGAPORE PTE. LTD. 1,468,887 0.05
TOTAL &t 2,557,123,825 95.55
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

IS | R

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

FEIRFR
DIRECT INTEREST DEEMED INTEREST
=133 [EEI R
NO. OF NO. OF
NAME OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER SHARES HELD % SHARES HELD %
FERFRM BiRME Bt ISiRHE Bt
China Everbright Water Holdings Limited 2,013,448,456 75.24 - -
FEYERKSERBIRAE
China Everbright Environmental Protection - - 2,013,448,456 75.24
Holdings Limited™
EYCARIMAEIR AR AT
China Everbright International Limited® - - 2,013,448,456 75.24
FEYCKERERAT
Guildford Limited® - - 2,013,448,456 75.24
Datten Investments Limited® - - 2,013,448,456 75.24
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited® - - 2,013,448,456 75.24
FENSKERAGRLAE
China Everbright Group Ltd.® - - 2,013,448,456 75.24
FENERERARD AR
Central Huijin Investment Ltd." - - 2,013,448,456 75.24
P RICERABRIELT
Notes:
iR

M

@

(©)

4

®)

(6)

)

China Everbright Environmental Protection Holdings Limited, which is the holding company of China Everbright Water Holdings
Limited, is deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by China Everbright Water Holdings Limited.

FEFEARIMAERBIRARATEN RS IERERABZIZRAT, FFENAKSERERAEHFENANBRRHZEEEN
.

China Everbright International Limited is the holding company of China Everbright Environmental Protection Holdings Limited and
is deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which China Everbright Environmental Protection Holdings Limited has an interest.

PENCKERERADATENAMMERERATDZIZRAT, FANPENAMRMERERATHFEINAATRNZE AN,

Guildford Limited holds more than 20 per cent. but not more than 50 per cent. of the total issued shares in China Everbright
International Limited and is deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which China Everbright International Limited has an
interest.

9_%@1%%; Rl_lr:_nited FEFENKERERABRSIDEII20%E (BERBIZ50%) , HNPEHXAEFGRASFENAATIRG
=88 T,

Datten Investments Limited is the holding company of Guildford Limited and is deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which
Guildford Limited has an interest.

Datten Investments Limited Guildford Limited Z3=R& 2 E), FHXIGuildford LimitediFEHIA A TIRRD =6 aENE.

China Everbright Holdings Company Limited is the holding company of Datten Investments Limited and is deemed to have an
interest in the Shares in which Datten Investments Limited has an interest.

FENEAEFABRATADatten Investments Limited Z3ZEEAT], FHXdDatten Investments LimitediFB AN TN ZEB BN .

China Everbright Group Ltd. (“Everbright Group”) is the holding company of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited and is
deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which China Everbright Holdings Company Limited has an interest.

gi&k%&lﬂ’x‘{ﬁﬁﬁ ( "FKRER" ) APENRKEABRATZERAT, HNFENAERAEGRATFENAATRDZERE
.

Central Huijin Investment Ltd. holds 55.67 per cent. of the shares in Everbright Group and is deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which Everbright Group has an interest.

PR SR R BRI AT E AR SR MNENS5.67%, HITHAERIFENANTRNDZEHEERENE.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

BARSETHER

(i) Relationship between the Company and each of China (i)
Investment Corporation and Central Huijin Investment Ltd.

Each of China Investment Corporation and Central Huijin
Investment Ltd., which is ultimately owned by the State Council
of the People’s Republic of China (“State Council”), is deemed
to have a controlling interest (via Everbright International) in the

I As at 12 March 2019

HE=E"F-NF=B+_H

issued share capital of the Company.

Based on the information furnished to the Company, below is

HNERTRAZREEERN S,

FARSHERRERRSEATPRIC
ERERRSIEARNXR

PERBBRISELATNPRCERZIERET

RNAYRZAPEARKNEESR ( "ES
') #8, PROCEEDCAERGALT

ETRMEFNTNER, TRRRT AT

shareholding structure of the Company: RN ZEN
State Council
Bk
| 100%
National Council for Ministry of Finance China Investment Corporation
Social Security Fund TAEER FEIREBREIEAT
E3 P A
2EHSREESEES 39.9% | 100%
4.43% Central Huijin Investment Ltd.
hRCE£IGERIRFELHE
| 55.67%
China Everbright Group Ltd.
RENSKEEIRRIB2E
100%
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited
HENKEEBRAT
100%
Datten | t ts Limited
atten Investments Limite 459% 100%
55%

Guildford Limited

Everbright Investment & Management Limited

KKIREEERRAT)

39.57%

2.38%

China Everbright International Limited

FEXAEFRRAE

100%

China Everbright Environmental Protection
Holdings Limited

PERAIMRERBRAE

100%

China Everbright Water Holdings Limited
FEYEKIKSSIZIRBIR A E

75.24%

China Everbright Water Limited
RENRAKSHERAE
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 12 March 2019 I
BE_E—NF=B+"H

Central Huijin Investment Ltd. (“Huijin”)

Huijin, established in December 2003, is a state-owned
investment company incorporated in accordance with the
Company Law of the PRC, with a mandate to exercise the rights
and the obligations as an investor in major state-owned financial
enterprises, on behalf of the PRC. Huijin, in accordance with
authorization by State Council makes equity investments in
major state-owned financial enterprises, and shall, to the extent
of its capital contribution, exercise the rights and perform the
obligations as an investor on behalf of the PRC in accordance
with applicable laws, to achieve the goal of preserving and
enhancing the value of state-owned financial assets.

China Investment Corporation (“CIC")

CIC was founded in September 2007 as a wholly state-owned
company incorporated in accordance with the Company Law of
the PRC. CIC was established as a vehicle to diversify China’s
foreign exchange holdings and seek maximum returns for its
shareholder within acceptable risk tolerance. Huijin is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CIC. However, Huijin’s principal shareholder
rights are exercised by the State Council. Strict operational
firewalls exist among CIC’s overseas business and the domestic
business run by Huijin.

Extract of the articles of association of Huijin and CIC

The articles of association of each of Huijin and CIC provide
that each of Huijin and CIC “shall not interfere in the day-to-
day business operations of the state-owned major financial
enterprises it controls”. The articles of association of CIC further
provide that “as a matter of principle, [CIC] shall not actively
seek investment in domestic non-financial enterprises, except for
purchasing overseas listed stocks, passive shareholdings and
other circumstances as approved by the relevant governmental
authorities”.

Board of Directors of Everbright International and the Company

In addition, neither CIC nor Huijin has any nominees sitting on the
board of directors of Everbright International. Similarly, neither CIC
nor Huijin has any nominees sitting on the board of directors of
the Company.

BN EH

o HEAE e

CET"FF=F+"RBA, ZKiE (hEA
RHAEATZX) AERHEZRIANEGHREAN
8. RIEESREREN, WEEERESRMEHT
BRURE, LAHBRFARRERKENERE
REMEAATEHIANFIMBEITHEANS,
SHEREMARMEEE.

PIRAMNT _EFLFNA, BER (PEAR
HNERNESER) RIIMNERRIZAT, BERS
BELMEFINCRESZTHRE, EIERIXE
SEERINSEIRAN G R A, CERPRIIER
FAF. (CENEERRIATHAESRITE. &
RERINL S ST ST RAIE RS 2 BT T™
TBEY "BOXEE" fEhE.

iCEMPRNATDEEINECSHTIR "G
FHHERNESEREMEWVNAERER
" . PRNEEH—DSNE " [FK] FL
FENSIRIBAIFEFEL, (ERTEZI) LA
B REFHRESEB AR THUERIRIN

s, PIRAIC SRR BEFS 5N AREIRAY
BER. B, PRITCEHRREBREESSSH
NEWEER.
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BARSETRE | R

(ii) Not regarded as “controlling shareholders”

On the basis that each of Huijin and CIC does not in fact exercise
control over the Company, the SGX has confirmed that each of
Huijin and CIC will not be regarded as “controlling shareholders”
of the Company for the purposes of the Listing Rules of the SGX
(the “Listing Rules”).

Accordingly, each of the State Council, Huijin and CIC and
their respective associates (other than Everbright Group and its
associates) will not be regarded as “interested persons” of the
Company and consequently, will not be subject to the rules and
requirements under Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules governing
interested person transactions. For the avoidance of doubt,
Everbright Group is regarded as a “controlling shareholder” of the
Company for the purposes of the Listing Rules and accordingly,
Everbright Group and its associates are subject to the rules and
requirements under Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules governing
interested person transactions.
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(i) ICEMPRFET “=RIRE"

ICEMPIREL ERYAATLIEES, ELtH
RATEMIER EHRNEA, (C2MPRAET
RAER EIRERER" .

Hit, EFSk. CEMPREEZEXEKTT
(FEENAEAREXES) ITETAAR
A9 "KERATL" |, BIUISARZHHAT LA
NEXTFTREEATRZACHERAIRS. AR
REX, BUHEHRAT EMANME, SCAEEISHEM
ARAFN "ERIRE" | B, XAERARE
KEKTT I ZH AT LB N ER T REXA
TR BHEANEREINE.



NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting
of China Everbright Water Limited (the “Company”) will be held
at The Ritz-Carlton, Millenia Singapore, Chihuly Room, Level 3,
7 Raffles Avenue, Singapore 039799 on Friday, 12 April 2019 at
9.30 a.m. (Singapore time) to transact the following businesses:

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

For the fi ial ded 31D ber 2018
T dEre o= —acmee | TFERRIRAKSEA]

=EIN:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS BiEEIR

1.

To receive and consider the Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements of
the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 and the Auditor's Report
thereon.
BRHFENESSFPUNREZ—E—/\F1+ B =1—H LtHUBFELFITHNA D MSIRE
REEITHRE.

ZERM, FENAKSERRE ( "F28" )
FERFASKET _F—NFHNA+-HEHH
EFNB=15 GIKAIE) fEHnEeRE Lt
KECSHIMKIE-R/RISEFBE=Chihuly
BERIT (BB4w: 039799) BF, LUTICEILAT

(Resolution 1)

(SB1LTRIY)

2. To declare a final tax exempt 1-Tier dividend of SGD0.0050 per ordinary share for the (Resolution 2)
financial year ended 31 December 2018 as recommended by the Directors. (EB2IRRiIN)
FEEESEN, EARREBE_E—/\F+ B =1+—HLNUBFENSEER0.0050%
DNIETTRIBR— R R AR S,

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of SGD323,556 for the financial year ended (Resolution 3)
31 December 2018. (2017: SGD200,000/-) (SB3LTRIN)
ESIBE—F—/\FT+ B =1+—HLNVBFENEFEE323 5565 IKTE. (CF—t
F: 200,0005IMKTTEE)

4, To re-elect Mr. Luo Junling, a Director retiring pursuant to the Bye-law 85(6) of the Bye- (Resolution 4)
laws of the Company, and who, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election, as a (BBALRIN)
Director of the Company:

BUERIE AT EIEE85 () FMERB S BINESRTRIRSTE (HEERIGEE) AFAFES:
(See Explanatory Note i) (VT E5dB5)

5. To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as Auditor of the Company, to hold office until the (Resolution 5)
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting and to authorise the Directors to fix its (SB5LTRIN)
remuneration.

H#fiE(EErnst & Young LLPARATIEIHD, FHEE MMEERFASERAL, FHENES
E A= ETIN

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS 15N

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following ordinary %FE#EJI (RD%%T@%) LTEBRY (&2

resolutions with or without modifications: HEHAEER)

6. Authority to allot and issue shares 6. PERIEATRIDNZANS
(a)  That, pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, and the (@)  IREANESEEMIEIZFTE

Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), approval be and is
hereby given to the Directors of the Company at any

FRABBIRAE ( "#RFF" ) £
AN, FNAATEESHERE
HeMBBANEEGHNALIGE

\ o 1 ‘\\ \ﬂéh.
time to such persons and upon such terms and for BEEEIANIESHIRK

such purposes as the Directors may in their absolute
discretion deem fit, to:
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(i) issue shares in the capital of the Company
(“Shares”) whether by way of right, bonus or
otherwise;

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options
that might or would require Shares to
be issued or other transferable rights to
subscribe for or purchase Shares (collectively,
“Instruments”) including but not limited to the
creation and issue of warrants, debentures or
other instruments convertible into Shares;

(i) issue additional instruments arising from
adjustments made to the number of
Instruments previously issued in the event of
rights, bonus or capitalisation issues; and

(b)  (notwithstanding THAT the authority conferred by
the shareholders may have ceased to be in force)
issue Shares in pursuance of any Instrument made
or granted by the Directors while the authority was in
force.

provided always that:

(i) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued
pursuant to this resolution (including Shares
to be issued in pursuance of Instruments
made or granted pursuant to this resolution)
does not exceed fifty per cent. (50%) of the
total number of issued Shares excluding
treasury shares of the Company, of which
the aggregate number of Shares (including
Shares to be issued in pursuance of
Instruments made or granted pursuant to
this resolution) to be issued other than on a
pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the
Company does not exceed twenty per cent.
(20%) of the total number of issued Shares
excluding treasury shares of the Company,
and for the purpose of this resolution, the
issued share capital shall be the Company’s
total number of issued Shares excluding
treasury shares at the time this resolution is
passed, after adjusting for;
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(b)

() BEAR. AFEHEMS
XERITRERG ("2
BB )

(i) (FHERFIRHEEE
REITBRIDNEL. HhiY
BRI, BeEM AT LR
N SE A B B R
(B "XE ) B8
FBERRTEIRARITN
IE. REHEATTELRR
NERIDAISSE;

(i) KFMHER. IRHEERK
K17, AAEZEIRTH
XIEE B M AT
&,

(RERFENAEERBEN)
SIRINENE, RIFESESMEH
R FRISIERITATIRG.

SR FHIER:

()  REXRVETERITHA
SARMH S (BERER
R EH S33% F RISEE
BFRITHRY) ABiT
ERITABRGDEE (R
SRAIEFR) B950%,
He R AlmA AT
BEREERTHATIRM R
#H (BIEREARRNAE
HEEFHXIEEF AT
Nn) FEZERTA
BERHO B (FERaEE
ZRR) B920%, B#AR
WmsE, BRITAERAE
MNMAEBEARINER, &
UTEMAEENERT
NERHEE (FAEERF
i) -



NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018
BEZE—/\F+"A=1—HLIHNUKEE

a) new Shares arising from the conversion
or exercise of any convertible
securities, or

b) new Shares arising from exercising
share options or vesting of share
awards outstanding or subsisting at the
time this resolution is passed provided
the options or awards were granted in
compliance with Part VIII of Chapter
8 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST
(the “Listing Manual”); and

c) any subsequent bonus issue,
consolidation or subdivision of Shares,
and

(ii) such authority shall, unless revoked or varied
by the Company at a General Meeting,
continue in force until the conclusion of the
next Annual General Meeting or the date by
which the next Annual General Meeting of
the Company is required by law to be held,
whichever is the earlier. (Resolution 6)

(See Explanatory Note ii)

Authority to allot and issue Shares under the China
Everbright Water Limited Scrip Dividend Scheme (the
“Scrip Dividend Scheme”)

That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to
allot and issue from time to time such number of Shares as
may be required to be allotted and issued pursuant to the
Scrip Dividend Scheme. (Resolution 7)

(See Explanatory Note iii)
Renewal of the share buy-back mandate
That:

(a) the Directors be and are hereby authorised to
exercise all the powers of the Company to purchase
or otherwise acquire issued Shares not exceeding
in aggregate the Maximum Limit (as hereinafter
defined), at such price or prices as may be
determined by the Directors from time to time up to
the Maximum Price (as hereinafter defined), whether
by way of:
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(i) market purchase(s) on the SGX-ST, and/or

(ii) off-market purchase(s) (if effected otherwise
than on the SGX-ST) in accordance with
any equal access scheme(s) as may be
determined or formulated by the Directors as
they consider fit, which scheme(s) shall, as
required under the Listing Manual, satisfy all
the conditions prescribed by section 76C of
the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore
(“Singapore Companies Act’),

in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended) and all other laws and regulations and rules
of the SGX-ST as may for the time being be applicable (the
“Share Buy-back Mandate”);

(b)  unless varied or revoked by the Company in
General Meeting, the authority conferred on the
Directors pursuant to the Share Buy-back Mandate
may be exercised by the Directors at any time and
from time to time during the period commencing
from the date of the passing of this Resolution and
expiring on the earliest of:

(i) the date on which the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company is held;

(ii) the date on which the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company is required by law to
be held; and

(i) the date on which purchases and acquisitions
of Shares pursuant to the Share Buy-back
Mandate are carried out to the full extent
mandated:

(c) in this Resolution:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the
closing market prices of the Shares over the last five
market days on which the Shares were transacted
on the SGX-ST, before the date of the market
purchase by the Company, or as the case may be,
the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the
off-market purchase, and deemed to be adjusted in
accordance with the listing rules of the SGX-ST for
any corporate action which occurs after the relevant
five-day period;
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“date of the making of the offer” means the date
on which the Company makes an offer for the
purchase or acquisition of Shares from shareholders,
stating therein the purchase price (which shall not
be more than the Maximum Price) for each Share
and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme
for effecting the off-market purchase;

“Maximum Limit” means that number of Shares
representing 10 per cent. of the total number of
issued Shares as at the date of the passing of this
Resolution (excluding any treasury shares and any
Shares held by subsidiaries of the Company in the
circumstances referred to in Sections 21(4), 21(4B),
21(6A) and 21(6C) of the Singapore Companies
Act); and

“Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be
purchased or acquired, means the purchase price
(excluding brokerage, commission, applicable
goods and services tax and other related expenses),
which shall not exceed:

(i) in the case of a market purchase of a Share,
five per cent. above the Average Closing
Price; and

(ii) in the case of an off-market purchase of
a Share, five per cent. above the Average
Closing Price; and

the Directors and each of them be hereby authorised
to complete and do all such acts and things
(including, but not limited to, executing all such
agreements and documents as may be required
in connection with this Resolution and the Share
Buy-back Mandate) as they or he/she may consider
necessary, desirable or expedient or in the interests
of the Company to give effect to this Resolution and
the Share Buy-back Mandate. (Resolution 8)

(See Explanatory Note iv)

(d)
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9. Renewal of the interested person transaction mandate 9. FHAKEA A TR ZHIEI

That:

(a) approval be and is hereby given, for the
purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual
(“Chapter 9”) of the SGX-ST, for the Company,
its subsidiaries and associated companies that
are entities at risk (as defined in Chapter 9), or
any of them, to enter into any of the transactions
falling within the categories of interested person
transactions described in the Appendix to
the Company’s Letter to Shareholders dated
27 March 2019 (the “Letter”) with any party who
is of the class of interested persons described
in the Appendix to the Letter, provided that such
transactions are made on normal commercial terms
and in accordance with the review procedures
for such interested person transactions (the “IPT
Mandate”);

(b)  the renewal of the IPT Mandate above shall unless
revoked or varied by the Company in General
Meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company; and

(c)  the Directors and each of them be hereby authorised
to complete and do all such acts and things
(including, but not limited to, executing all such
agreements and documents as may be required
in connection with this Resolution and the IPT
Mandate) as they or he/she may consider necessary,
desirable or expedient or in the interests of the
Company to give effect to this Resolution and the
IPT Mandate.

(Resolution 9)

(See Explanatory Note v)

10.  To transact any other ordinary business which may be
properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

AN XUESONG

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

27 March 2019
Singapore
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Notes:

A member of the Company (other than The Central Depository (Pte)
Limited) entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting and
who holds two or more Shares shall be entitled to appoint not more than
two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy needs not be a
member of the Company.

Where a member appoints two proxies, he/she shall specify the
proportion of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the
whole) to be represented by each proxy respectively.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand
of the appointer or his/her attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation,
it must be executed under its common seal or under the hand of its
attorney or duly authorised officer.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies, together with the power of
attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or notarially
certified copy thereof, must be deposited at the Share Registrar’s office
at 50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623
not later than 48 hours before the time set for the Annual General
Meeting.

Explanatory Notes:

Detailed information relating to Mr. Luo Junling is set out on page 22
and pages 47 to 48 of the Company’s annual report for the financial
year ended 31 December 2018.

The ordinary resolution 6 proposed in item 6 is to authorise the Directors
of the Company from the date of the above Meeting until the next
Annual General Meeting to issue Shares and convertible securities in
the Company up to an amount not exceeding in aggregate 50 percent
of the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares of
the Company, of which the total number of Shares and convertible
securities issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders
shall not exceed 20 percent of the total number of issued Shares
excluding treasury shares of the Company at the time the resolution is
passed, for such purposes as they consider would be in the interests of
the Company. This authority will, unless revoked or varied at a General
Meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Pursuant to the Special General Meeting of the Company held on 28
October 2005, the shareholders of the Company approved the passing
of the ordinary resolution relating to the Scrip Dividend Scheme. In the
circular dated 11 October 2005, the Scrip Dividend Scheme provides
members with the option to elect to receive Shares in lieu of the cash
amount of any dividend declared on their holding of Shares. The
Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 7, if passed, will empower the
Directors of the Company to allot and issue Shares in the Company
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Scrip Dividend Scheme.

The Company intends to use internal sources of funds, external
borrowings or a combination of internal resources and external
borrowings, to finance the purchases or acquisitions of its Shares. The
amount of financing required for the Company to purchase or acquire
its Shares, and the impact on the Company’s financial position, cannot
be ascertained as at the date of this Notice as these will depend on,
inter alia, the manner in which the purchase or acquisition is funded,
the aggregate number of Shares purchased or acquired, and the
consideration paid at the relevant time. For illustrative purposes only,
the financial effects of an assumed purchase or acquisition by the
Company of 10 per cent. of its issued Shares as at 14 March 2019, at
a purchase price equivalent to the Maximum Price per Share, based on
the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the financial year ended 31 December 2018 and certain assumptions,
are set out in paragraph 3.8 of the Letter.
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V. The ordinary resolution 9 proposed in item 9 is to approve the renewal
of the IPT Mandate to enable the Company, its subsidiaries and
associated companies that are entities at risk (as defined in Chapter 9
of the Listing Manual), or any of them, to enter into certain interested
person transactions with specified classes of interested persons, as
described in the Letter. Please refer to the Letter for more details.

Personal data privacy:

By submitting a proxy form appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s)
to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting and/or any
adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection,
use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its
agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company
(or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual
General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and
compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to
the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order
for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing
rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants
that where the shareholder discloses the personal data of the shareholder’s
proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the
shareholder has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or
representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or
its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for
the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in
respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as
a result of the shareholder’s breach of warranty.
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In the event of any conflict between the English and the Chinese versions in this Annual Report, the English version shall prevail
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